
 

 
This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

 
AGENDA 
 
Committee 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Date and Time  
of Meeting 
 

THURSDAY, 11 APRIL 2024, 10.30 AM 
 

Venue  
 
 

COMMITTEE ROOM 4 - COUNTY HALL 
 

Membership 
 
 

Councillor Stubbs (Chair) 
Councillors Humphreys, Ahmed, Hunt, Joyce, Michael, Reid-Jones, 
Robson, Shimmin and Wong 
 
 
  

1   Apologies for Absence 
 
To receive apologies for absence 
  

2   Declarations of Interest 
 
To be made at the commencement of the agenda item in question, in accordance 
with the Members Code of Conduct. 
   

3   Minutes 
 
To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 14 March 2024 
   

4   Petitions 
 
No petition has been received in respect of 23/01174/FUL 
   

5   Development Management Applications 
  

a   23/01174/FUL - Friary House, Greyfriars Road, Cathays, Cardiff, CF10 3AE 
  

6   Applications decided by Delegated Powers 
 
04.03.24 – 29.03.24 
   

7   Urgent Items (if any) 
 
 
  



This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 
 

8   Date of next meeting 
 
The date of the next meeting is on Thursday 9 May 2024 at 10.30 am. 
  
 

 
 
Debbie Marles 
Interim Monitoring Officer 
Date:  Friday, 5 April 2024 
Contact:  Mandy Farnham, 029 2087 2618, Mandy.Farnham@cardiff.gov.uk 
 

 
 



This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 
 

 
WEBCASTING  

 

This meeting will be filmed for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the 
Council’s website.  The whole of the meeting will be filmed, except 

where there are confidential or exempt items, and the footage will be on 
the website for 6 months.  A copy of it will also be retained in 

accordance with the Council’s data retention policy. 
 

If you make a representation to the meeting you will be deemed to have 
consented to being filmed.  By entering the body of the Chamber you 
are also consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those 

images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes.  
If you do not wish to have your image captured you should sit in the 

public gallery area. 
 

If you have any queries regarding webcasting of meetings, please 
contact Committee Services on 02920 872020 or  

email Democratic Services 

mailto:democraticservices@cardiff.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
14 MARCH 2024 
 
Present: Councillor Stubbs(Chairperson) 
 Councillors Humphreys, Ahmed, Hunt, Michael, Reid-Jones, 

Robson and Wong 
 

The Chair expressed the deep sadness and loss felt by all at the sudden death of 
Councillor Abdul Sattar.  A minutes silence was held in his honour. 
 
72 :   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Joyce and Shimmin. 
  
73 :   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
The following declarations of interest were received in accordance with the Members’ 
Code of Conduct: 
  
Councillor Item Number Nature/Reason of Interest 
Cllr Humphreys 24/00050/NMA Personal & Prejudicial – sits on the 

Community Health Council 
Cllr Michael 24/00060/FUL Personal & Prejudicial - Applicant 
   
74 :   MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the last meeting on 11 January 2024 were approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair. 
  
75 :   PETITIONS  
 
There was a petition attached to application 24/00050/NMA; Mr Ian Vincent spoke to 
the petition and Mr Richard Coe responded on behalf of the applicant. 
  
76 :   DEVELOPMENT CONTROL APPLICATIONS  
 
The Committee considered the schedule of development management applications in 
accordance with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990: 
  
RESOLVED: 
Pursuant to this Committee’s delegated powers the following development 
management applications be determined in accordance with the recommendation set 
out in the reports of the Director of Planning, Transport and Environment, subject to 
any further amendments as detailed below and notification be given of the decisions 
in accordance with Section 70 of the Town and County Planning Act 1990 or Section 
74 of the Planning (Listed Building & Conservation) Act 1990. 
  
 
 
  

Agenda Item 3



 

 
This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

APPLICATIONS GRANTED: 
  
24/00050/NMA – WHITCHURCH/TONGWYNLAIS 
Land to the North West of Whitchurch Hospital Playing Fields, Cardiff 
  
Councillor Irene Humphreys left the meeting consideration of this item in accordance 
with her Personal and Prejudicial Interest. 
  
Proposed non-material amendment to Planning Permission 22/02231/RES – addition 
of TCAR2 emergency access route (to the SE of the site), removal of the Hollybush 
bridge, updates to the position of the intake room and lowering of the basement level 
by 300mm 
  
24/00060/FUL – FAIRWATER 
56b Plasmawr Road, Fairwater, Cardiff, CF5 3JX 
  
Councillor Michael Michael left the meeting during consideration of this item in 
accordance with his Personal and Prejudicial Interest. 
  
APPLICATIONS GRANTED SUBJECT TO ENTERING INTO A 
BINDING SECTION 106 AGREEMENT: 
  
22/00820/MJR – PLASNEWYDD 
Land at the Former Youth Hostel, 2 Wedal Road, Roath, Cardiff, CF14 3QX 
  
Development of up to 5 storey building to accommodate 23 no. affordable 
apartments plus associated works. 
  
The application was granted subject to the signing of the Section 106 agreement and 
amendment to condition 6 as set out in the Amendment Sheet and Late 
Representations dated 14.03.24. 
  
23/02475/FUL – PENTWYN 
The New Penn, 204A Brynfedw, Llanedeyrn, Cardiff, CF23 9PW 
  
Demolition of the former New Penn Public House and the redevelopment of the site 
to accommodate affordable dwellings, including highway infrastructure, landscaping 
works and green infrastructure. 
  
The application was granted subject to the signing of the Section 106 agreement and 
amendment to conditions 2 and 6 as set out in the Amendment Sheet and Late 
Representations dated 14.03.24 
  
77 :   APPLICATIONS DECIDED BY DELEGATED POWERS  
 
RESOLVED: 
  
To note the applications decided by Delegated Powers between 1 January 2024 and 
1 March 2024. 
  
 



 

 
This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

78 :   URGENT ITEMS (IF ANY)  
 
No urgent items were received. 
  
79 :   DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 
The date of the next meeting of the Committee is on Thursday 11 April 2024 at 10.30 
am 
  
 
 
The meeting terminated at 12.30 pm 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMITTEE DATE: 11/04/2024 
 
APPLICATION No. 23/01174/FUL APPLICATION DATE:   24/05/2023 
 
ED:   Cathays 
 
APP TYPE:  Full Planning Permission  
 
APPLICANT: Topland Mercury Ltd and Colico Living (Cardiff) Ltd 
 
LOCATION: Friary House, Greyfriars Road, Cathays, Cardiff, CF10 3AE 
 
PROPOSAL:  Erection of building (up to 28 storeys, including ground) for mixed 

use purposes, including commercial space (Use Classes A1, A2, 
A3, B1 and/or D1) (part ground floor) and residential 
accommodation for students comprised in a combination of 
cluster flats and studios (Sui Generis) with associated 
accommodation and works following demolition of existing 
buildings  

__________________________________________________________ 
 
RECOMMENDATION 1: That, subject to relevant parties entering into a binding legal 
agreement with the Council under the provisions of a SECTION 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, within 6 months of the date of this Resolution unless 
otherwise agreed by the Council in writing, in respect of matters detailed in Section 10 
of this report, planning permission be GRANTED subject to the conditions listed in 
Section 14. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 2: That delegated authority is given to the Head of Planning 
&/or Operational Manager: Strategic Development & Placemaking, to make changes 
to the conditions and/or Heads of Terms of the required legal agreement, subject to 
consultation with the Chair of Planning, up to the point where the legal agreement is 
signed and planning permission issued.  
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
1.  DESCRIPTION OF SITE 
 
1.1 The application site comprises a rectangular shaped piece of land which lies on 

the junction of Greyfriars Road and Greyfriars Place, with Crockherbtown Lane 
adjoining the site to the south. The site is occupied by Friary House, which is a 
mixed-use building comprising the recently vacated ‘Tiger Tiger’ nightclub 
located at basement, ground and first floor level (Use Class D1) with vacant 
office floorspace above (B1) from the second to the eighth floor.  
 

1.2 Friary House is an elongated block with a taller element placed centrally within 
the plan. The central, red brick tower is ten storeys in height, with the block 
fronting the junction of Greyfriars Road and Greyfriars Place at six storeys and 
then at 5 storeys fronting Greyfriars Road with an enclosed courtyard area 
between the blocks. The block to the rear (south) is also 6 storeys with a two-

Agenda Item 5a



storey storey element to the south-east. Four car parking spaces are located to 
the south. The site measures 0.26 hectares and is a relatively flat site. There is 
no vegetation on site. 
 

1.3 To the north directly across the road from Greyfriars Road is a nightclub at 
ground floor level with offices as part of Greyfriars House which is 8 storeys 
high. To the west of this building are Park House and One Kingsway which are 
also both in office use. To the east of Greyfriars House is the Park Plaza hotel 
which comprises 5-storeys of hotel use and 3-storeys of residential apartments 
above, which also extend over Greyfriars House. These apartments feature 
private balconies facing the site and to the north. Directly adjacent to the site to 
the west is the 25-storey Capital Tower occupied by offices, which was 
constructed in the 1970 and stands at 92m high and is highly visible across 
Cardiff. Also to the west is a 9 storey office building occupied by the Principality 
Building Society with windows facing the site. Adjoining the site to the east is 
an NCP multi-storey car park which stands at 5 storeys high with roof car 
parking and public houses at ground floor level. To the south across the road 
from Crockherbtown Lane is a 5 storey high building used as ancillary storage 
space for the commercial units fronting Queen Street. The rear entrance to the 
Dominions Arcade is located to the south-west with the Indigo Hotel further to 
the west.  
 

 
Figure 1: Site location plan. 

 
1.4 Greyfriars Road, Greyfriars Place and Crockherbtown Lane bound the site to 

the north, west and south respectively. Greyfriars Place is currently used as for 
servicing of the adjacent office uses and also comprises disabled parking either 
side of the highway. Crockherbtown Lane is also used for servicing. Bus stops 
are located along Greyfriars Road which includes a bus lane with two lanes of 
traffic and the closest railway station is Cardiff Queen Street which lies 
approximately 440m to the south-east.  
 

1.5 Although the site is not located within a conservation area, the site is 



surrounded on all sides by Conservation Areas. These comprise the Cathays 
Park Conservation Area (CA) to the north and west, the Queen Street CA from 
the south-west to south-east and the Windsor Place CA to the west (see Fig 2 
below). 
 

1.6 The building is not listed, but there are a number of listed buildings in close 
proximity. Among others, these comprise the Grade I listed Cardiff City Hall to 
the north, the Law Courts to the north-west and the National Museum of Wales 
to the north-east. The surrounding Grade II listed buildings comprise; statues 
within the Cardiff Castle and Bute Park Registered Park and Gardens to the 
north, the Statue of Third Marquess of Bute and the Bridge over Dock feeder 
including Cast Iron Drinking Fountain to the west, the New Theatre and 
Brannigan's including forecourt walls and railings to the east at the end of 
Greyfriars Road on the junction with Park Place, the Lloyds Bank and Andrews 
Buildings to the south.  
 

1.7 The Cardiff Castle and Roman Fort Scheduled Monument is located to the west 
which is located within the Cardiff Castle and Bute Park Registered Park and 
Gardens. Cathays Park Registered Park and Gardens are also located to the 
north and west (which include Alexandra Gardens, Gorsedd Gardens, and 
Friary Gardens).  
 

 
Figure 2: The proximity of the site to the adjacent Conservation Areas, Listed 

Buildings, and the Registered Historic Park and Gardens.  

 
1.8 The Welsh Government Development Advice Maps show the site to be within 

Flood Zone C1, which demarks areas served by significant infrastructure, 
including flood defences.  
 

1.9 The area is within the Cardiff City Centre Archaeologically Sensitive Area, 
defined for the concentration of evidence of activity from the Roman period 
onwards. The site is situated approximately 200m to the east of the Scheduled 



Monument of Cardiff Castle and Roman Fort and is in an area where 
archaeological remains of Roman and Medieval origin have been identified.  
 

2.  DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
2.1 The application seeks full planning permission for the redevelopment of the site 

involving the demolition of the existing building and the construction of a 
purpose built student accommodation (PBSA) block (Use Class Sui Generis). 
This will have a total of 585 bedspaces comprising 384 studios and 48 
apartments. The application also proposes three double height commercial 
units at ground floor level (Use Classes A1, A2, A3, B1 and/or D1). The two 
commercial units to the front (north) measure 96sqm and 97sqm with the 
commercial unit to the rear (south-west) measuring 86sqm.  
 

 
Figure 3: Proposed ground floor layout.  

 
2.2 The proposed building comprises a number of different blocks featuring a tall 

tower (28 storeys/84.2m) with a lower ‘shoulder’ element (19 storeys/56.2m), a 
middle block (12 storeys/35.1m) and the front lowest block (8 storeys/25.1m). 
 



  
Figures 4 and 5: Illustrative CGIs of the proposed development. 

 

2.3 In terms of the elevations, the proposed materials comprise flat metal panels, 
buff brickwork, vertical ribbed metal feature panels, perforated purge vent metal 
panels, flat GRC panels, aluminium window colour matched metal cladding 
panels and opaque glazed spandrels. A light-coloured brick blend incorporating 
a variety of tones is proposed for the lower elements.  
 

2.4 The tower element proposes a ‘basketweave’ façade which creates a 
checkerboard aesthetic, which then becomes more regularised at the top of the 
tower. The fenestration pattern of the top of the tower also differentiates from 
the lower levels but the materiality and internal function remains consistent. A 
bright, reflective metal in flat, ribbed and perforated panels will be a consistent 
linking component between the two elements of the scheme. Large, floor to 
ceiling, aluminium-framed windows will be throughout the scheme, with glazed 
purge ventilation panels concealed behind the perforated mesh.  
 

2.5 The north and southern elevation of the ‘shoulder’ element will be composed of 
brickwork and GRC cladding with the western elevation proposing the same 
checkerboard design as the tower. A colonnade is proposed along the front and 
to the student entrance of the scheme. Finally, up/down lighting is also 
proposed with LED lighting at the base.  
 

 
Figure 6 shows the detailed design of the elevations.  

 



2.6 The proposed schedule of accommodation is as follows: 
 

Name Count Bedspaces 

Studio 383 383 

Accessible Studio 1 1 

TOTAL 384 384 

   

1 Bed Apt 18 18 

5 Bed Cluster 9 45 

6 Bed Cluster 12 72 

7 Bed Cluster 6 42 

8 Bed Cluster 3 24 

TOTAL 48 201 
   

GRAND TOTAL 432 585 

 
2.7 The size of each bedroom within 5 bed clusters range between 13- 16m2 with 

the associated lounge/kitchen/diners being 33m2. The size of each bedroom 
within 6 bed clusters range between 13-14m2 with the associated 
lounge/kitchen/diners being between 30-38m2.The size of each bedroom within 
7 bed clusters range between 13-17m2 with the associated 
lounge/kitchen/diners being 35m2. The size of each bedroom within 8 bed 
clusters range between 13-20m2 with most of these being 13m2 with the 
associated lounge/kitchen/diners being 47m2.  
 

2.8 Studio units range between 17-26m2 with most of these being 19-20m2.  There 
are 15 studios per floor up to four storeys and 17 - 19 per floor thereafter up 
until floor 18.  The mix changes between floors 19 and 27 where 8 studios and 
2 no. 1 bed flats are provided per floor. 1 bed flats measure 29m2.  
 

2.9 The application also proposes 654sqm of communal internal amenity space. 
This comprises 155sqm at ground floor level (the reception and management 
rooms have been excluded as these are basic requirements for the running of 
the building) in the form of lounge areas and 359sqm at level 1 in the form of 
coworking, lounges and a cinema, karaoke rooms, games rooms and an 
entertainment room. 40sqm amenity spaces are then proposed at levels 2, 3 
and 4 and a 20sqm space is proposed at level 11. There is also a 111sqm roof 
terrace proposed to the north on level 11.  
 

2.10 The development is car free and as such does not include any on-site resident 
or employee car parking spaces. 212 cycle parking spaces are proposed 
internally at ground floor level and will be accessed from the front through a 
separate access which is combined with the commercial refuse waste access. 
There are also external Sheffield cycle stands proposed, in the form of two 
groups of four stands (providing a total 16 cycle spaces). The student refuse 
store has a separate access to the rear of the site.  

 
2.11 The application has been supported by the following documents: 
 

• Design and Access Statement Addendum 

• Planning Statement 



• Cardiff City Market Report 

• Management Plan 

• Transport Statement 

• Framework Travel Plan 

• Heritage, Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

• Noise Impact Assessment 

• Ecological Assessment 

• Drainage Strategy and Flood Statement 

• Fire Safety Strategy 

• Daylight and Sunlight Assessment 

• Energy Statement 

• Microclimate Assessment 

• Archaeological Assessment 

• Friary House Measured Survey 

• Pre-Application Consultation Report 

• Landscape Concept 
 

2.12 All documentation relating to the application, including plans, can be viewed on 
the Council’s website using the following link; 23/01174/FUL. 
 

3. NEGOTIATIONS  
 
3.1 The application has been the subject of negotiations between the developer 

and Council officers, with input from Placemaking and Transportation Officers 
throughout.  
 

3.2 During the course of the application, the application has been amended by the 
applicant, with a new set of plans being submitted on 28/12/2023. The key 
amendments made are summarised as follows:  
 
- Increase in the overall height from 25 to 28 storeys and increase in width of 

tower;  
- Reduction in the overall number of units from 600 to 585; 
- Alterations to the overall form and elevational treatment; 
- Increase in commercial floorspace at ground level; 
- External roof terrace communal amenity space included at level 11. 
 
Screening: 

 
3.3 Consideration has been given as to whether the proposed development 

constitutes Environmental Impact Assessment (‘EIA’) development. Having 
regard to the size of the site and number of dwellings proposed, it was 
concluded that an Environmental Statement was not required to enable the 
Local Planning Authority to understand and consider the likely environmental 
effects of the proposal, due to the development not exceeding the thresholds 
within Schedule 2 (Part 10(b)ii) of the EIA (Wales) Regulations 2017.  
 

https://www.cardiffidoxcloud.wales/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=RV5SCQEC00700


4 RELEVANT SITE HISTORY 

 
4.1 The site has the following relevant planning history: - 
 

• 03/02120/C: Change of use from B1 to A3, including new shopfronts, exits 
and disabled ramp (ground and first floor only) (Approved: 13/07/2004)  

 

• 07/01525/C: Variation of Condition 5 of planning permission 03/2120/C 
relating to opening hours (Approved: 30/08/2007)  

 

• 15/02310/MJR: Variation of Condition 5 (Opening Hours) of planning 
application 07/01525/C to allow opening between 0700 and 0330 and 
occasional extended hours in accordance with temporary event notices 
(Approved: 06/11/2015)  

 

• 15/02498/MJR: Change of use of floors 6, 7 and 8 to non-residential 
educational establishment (Class D1) or B1 Offices (Approved: 03/12/2015)  

 

• 16/01127/MJR: Change of use from offices (B1) to a mixed use of offices 
(B1) and educational (D1) for second, third and fourth floors (Approved: 
06/07/2016) 
 

5 POLICY FRAMEWORK 

 
National Policy 
 

5.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (WFG) imposes a 
duty on public bodies to carry out ‘sustainable development’ in accordance with 
the ‘sustainable development principle’. 
 

5.2 ‘Sustainable development’ means the process of improving the economic, 
social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by taking action, in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at achieving the 
well-being goals. 
 

5.3 ‘Sustainable development principle’ means that Local Authorities must act in a 
manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 
 

5.4 Well-being goals identified in the Act are: 
 

• A Prosperous Wales 

• A Resilient Wales 

• A Healthier Wales 

• A More Equal Wales 

• A Wales of Cohesive Communities 

• A Wales of Vibrant Culture and thriving Welsh Language 

• A Globally Responsible Wales 
 



5.5 The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 has been designed to complement the 
WFG Act. It imposes a duty to require all public authorities, when carrying out 
their functions in Wales, to seek to “maintain and enhance biodiversity” where 
it is within the proper exercise of their functions. In doing so, public authorities 
must also seek to “promote the resilience of ecosystems”. 
 
National Planning Policy 
 

5.6 Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12) was revised and restructured in February 
2024. Its primary objective is to ensure that the planning system contributes 
towards the delivery of sustainable development and improves the social, 
economic, environmental and cultural well‑being of Wales, as required by the 
Planning (Wales) Act 2015 and the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015. 
 

5.7 It aligns with the themes and approaches set out in Future Wales - the National 
Plan 2040 (see below) to deliver the vision for Wales that is set out therein.  
 

5.8 PPW12 takes the seven Well-being Goals and the five Ways of Working as 
overarching themes and embodies a placemaking approach throughout, with 
the aim of delivering Active and Social Places, Productive and Enterprising 
Places and Distinctive and Natural Places. It also identifies the planning system 
as one of the main tools to create sustainable places, and that placemaking 
principles are a tool to achieving this through both plan making and the decision-
making process. 
 

5.9 The document should be read as a whole, and where ‘must’ is used, it reflects 
a legislative requirement or indicates where action is needed now to achieve 
strategic outcomes in the longer term. 
 
Technical Advice Notes 
 

5.10 PPW is supported by a series of more detailed Technical Advice Notes (TANs), 
of which the following are of relevance: - 

 

• TAN 2: Planning and Affordable Housing (2006)  

• TAN 4: Retail and Commercial Development (2016) 

• TAN 5:  Nature Conservation and Planning (2009); 
Noting also the Chief Planning Officer letter dated 23/10/19: 
securing bio-diversity enhancement; 

• TAN 11:  Noise (1997) 

• TAN 12:  Design (2016) 

• TAN 16: Sport, Recreation and Open Space (2009) 

• TAN 18:  Transport (March 2007) 

• TAN 21:  Waste (February 2017) 

• TAN 24: Historic Environment (2017) 
 

5.11 On 16th July 2020 the Welsh Government published Building Better Places: The 
Planning System Delivering Resilient and Brighter Futures which provides 
planning policy guidance for local planning authorities and the development 

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2024-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-12.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/future-wales-the-national-plan-2040.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/future-wales-the-national-plan-2040.pdf
https://gov.wales/technical-advice-notes
https://gov.wales/planning-policy-covid-19-recovery
https://gov.wales/planning-policy-covid-19-recovery


industry on priorities for the planning system to deliver post Covid-19. The 
guidance is to be read in conjunction with PPW, which contains the principles 
and policies needed for Wales to recover from Covid-19 in a positive manner, 
putting placemaking at the heart of future development. 
 

5.12 It also emphasises that development management decisions should focus on 
creating healthy, thriving active places with a focus on a positive, sustainable 
future for our communities. The planning system has an important role in 
supporting healthier lifestyles and reducing inequalities. This includes both 
direct and indirect opportunities such as the allocation of land for health 
facilities, ensuring good design and barrier free development, jobs and skills, 
improving air quality, soundscapes and protecting and improving access to 
recreation and natural green spaces. These can provide both physical and 
mental health benefits, improve well-being and help to reduce inequality. 
 
The Development Plan: 
 

5.13 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, requires 
that, if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.  
 

5.14 Future Wales - the National Plan 2040 now forms part of the Development Plan 
for all parts of Wales, comprising a strategy for addressing key national priorities 
through the planning system, including sustaining and developing a vibrant 
economy, achieving decarbonisation and climate-resilience, developing strong 
ecosystems and improving the health and well-being of our communities. All 
Development Management decisions, strategic and local development plans, 
planning appeals and all other work directed by the development plan need to 
accord with Future Wales.  
 

5.15 The Local Development Plan is the Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 
which was adopted in January 2016, and within which the following policies are 
of relevance: 
 

• KP1 Level of Growth  
• KP3(B) Settlement Boundaries 
• KP5 Good Quality and Sustainable Design 
• KP6 New Infrastructure 
• KP7 Planning Obligations 
• KP8 Sustainable Transport 
• KP12 Waste 
• KP13 Responding to Evidenced Social Needs 
• KP14 Healthy Living 
• KP15 Climate Change  
• KP16 Green Infrastructure 
• H6 Change of Use or Redevelopment to Residential Use  
• EN6 Ecological Networks and Features of Importance for Biodiversity 
• EN8 Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows 

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-02/future-wales-the-national-plan-2040.pdf
https://www.cardiffldp.co.uk/adopted-local-development-plan/


• EN10 Water Sensitive Design 
• EN11 Protection of Water Resources 
• EN13 Air, Noise, Light Pollution & Land Contamination 
• EN14 Flood Risk 
• T1 Walking & Cycling 
• T5 Managing Transport Impacts 
• R1 Retail Hierarchy  
• R8 Food and Drink Use 
• C1 Community Facilities 
• C3 Community Safety/ Creating Safe Environments 
• C5 Provision for Open Space, Outdoor Recreation, Children’s Play 

and Sport 
• W2 Provision for Waste Management Facilities in Development 

 
5.16 The following Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) is of relevance to this 

application:  
 

• Green Infrastructure Consultation Draft (2017) 
• Managing Transportation Impacts (Incorporating Parking Standards) 

(July 2018) 
• Planning Obligations (2017) 
• Waste Collection and Storage Facilities (2016) 
• Infill Sites (November 2017) 
• Cardiff Residential Design Guide (January 2017) 
• Shop Fronts and Signage (October 2011) 
• Archaeology and Archaeologically Sensitive Areas (July 2018) 
• Student Accommodation (March 2019) 

 
6. INTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 
6.1 Transportation: The development is car free and as such does not include any 

on-site resident or employee car parking spaces. Servicing will generally also 
be provided from street, in a similar way to the site was previously managed 
and as is currently the case for the majority of the city centre. The principle of 
servicing from street is well established in the city and it is noted that 
Crockherbtown Lane is utilised for servicing by businesses adjacent to the site, 
helping to keep service vehicles away from established pedestrian areas. The 
car fee/zero parking nature of the proposed development is considered to be 
both policy compliant and acceptable in this location. In this respect car parking 
standards are expressed as a maximum, with no minimum requirement, 
supporting a move away from reliance on the ownership and use of private cars. 
 

6.2 In terms of transport and movement, it is noted that the site is located in the city 
centre within an easy level walk of Queen Street railway station (circa 440m 
south-east), and on the doorstep of extensive bus services on Greyfriars Road 
and Churchill Way. Car share is also available on Churchill Way and there is 
extensive taxi rank provision alongside and nearby the site. There is also 
walkable access to all the service, amenities, employment, university, and 
leisure facilities that such a central location affords. The site is therefore 
considered to be extremely sustainably located in transport terms and 

https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Planning/Planning-Policy/Supplementary-Planning-Guidance/Pages/Supplementary-Planning-Guidance.aspx


somewhere where walking, cycling, and public transport offer viable 
alternatives to the ownership and use of private cars. 
 

6.3 Pedestrian access to the development will be provided from Greyfriars Road 
and Greyfriars Place, with separate entrances for the commercial/retail and 
PBSA elements of the proposals. Separate secure bin and cycle store provision 
and entrances are also provided on the ground floor level, to the south and 
north of the building respectively. The ground and first floor building line/façade 
will be setback on Greyfriars Place and corner of Greyfriars Road to provide a 
widened footway and colonnade space that could accommodate external 
seating space associated with the commercial units. 
 

6.4 Cycle parking is proposed on the ground floor in a segregated secure cycle 
store with a separate access directly to/from Greyfriars Road. The store 
proposes 212 cycle parking spaces in what are assumed to be two-tier bike 
racks. Officers require the inclusion of a proportion of Sheffield/ground based 
stands for inclusivity reasons to ensure people with a physical impairment or an 
electric cycle can push their cycle in and out of a horizontal cycle parking space 
rather than lifting a cycle on and off a cycle rack. As such, further details will be 
required by condition to ensure that there is a minimum of 20% accessible 
stands with appropriate manoeuvring distances. The submitted plans also show 
external Sheffield cycle stands, in the form of two groups of four stands 
(providing a total 16 cycle spaces), located on the Greyfriars Road and 
Greyfriars Place frontage of the building. While the number of proposed internal 
cycle parking spaces for the PBSA is slightly below the usual standard applied 
to this form of development, the proposal is nonetheless considered acceptable 
given the sustainable, walkable location of the development.  
 

6.5 The proposals are considered to be appropriate development for the location 
and acceptable in transport terms. The submission has demonstrated that the 
proposed development can be accommodated without causing detriment to the 
surrounding highway network and well placed to take advantage of sustainable 
travel choices. Conditions are therefore sought to ensure appropriate 
management of construction, in the form of a Demolition and Construction 
Management Plan, design/agreement of a highway public realm improvement 
scheme to be delivered by the developer via a Section 278 agreement, cycle 
parking and a Resident Management and Travel Plan. 
 

6.6 Given the sustainable location of the site and otherwise acceptable, policy 
compliant form of development, the Transportation Officer concludes that any 
objection on Transportation grounds would be unsustainable and any reason 
for refusal on this basis would not withstand challenge. As such, no objection 
is raised subject to conditions. 

 
6.7 Waste requested that amended plans were submitted to ensure that residents 

can sufficiently access the bins correctly and safely and provide spaces 
between the refuse containers. They also requested that the servicing access 
path is over 1.5m wide, which is now 1.8m wide. The applicant has confirmed 
that refuse collections will be through a private licensed contractor with bi-
weekly collections for food containers and weekly collections for the larger 



waste. Given that the waste will be managed by a private contractor, no 
objection is therefore raised. Notwithstanding this, a Servicing and Waste 
Management Plan has been imposed as a condition to ensure that the servicing 
and waste protocols, procedures and facilities will allow for the minimal potential 
for pedestrian and vehicular conflict. Conditions have also been requested for  
waste management to be considered during the demolition and construction 
phases.  

 
6.8 Ecology: The application is supported by an Ecological Assessment (prepared 

by Wessex Ecological Consultancy, dated January 2024) which the Ecology 
Officers has some concerns about given the absence of methodologies, 
limitations, or reference to policies/legislation. There are also contradictions on 
the possibility of bats being present. As such, concerns are raised regarding 
bats and so a Preliminary Roost Assessment condition has been applied to 
ensure that the favourable conservation status of bats is maintained. An 
additional condition has been requested for ecological enhancements. Subject 
to these conditions, no objection is raised.  

 
6.9 Trees: The application is supported by a landscape concept document 

(prepared by tir collective, dated January 2024) and landscape plan for the 
ground floor level and the roof terrace at level 11. At ground floor level, this 
demonstrates that trees will be planted to the front and side along Greyfriars 
Road and Greyfriars Place with areas for rain gardens, shrubs and plants. Soft 
landscaping including trees are also proposed within the roof terrace. 
 

6.10 Whilst the proposed soft landscaping is welcomed, the Tree Officer remains to 
be convinced that the soft planting at street level is achievable, as they have 
not been backed up by servicing constraints data. Notwithstanding this, the 
Tree Officer has agreed to allow the full landscaping proposals to be delivered 
through a condition to have confidence that the proposals can deliver a net gain 
in biodiversity. A landscaping maintenance condition has also been imposed. 
Subject to these conditions, no objection is raised.     

 
6.11 Parks: The Council’s LDP requires provision of a satisfactory level and 

standard of open space on all new housing/student developments over 8 units 
or an off-site contribution towards existing open space for smaller scale 
developments where new on-site provision is not applicable. 
 

6.12 Based on the information provided on the number and type of units proposed, 
I have calculated the additional population generated by the development to be 
585. This generates an open space requirement of 0.749 ha of on-site open 
space based on the criteria set for student accommodation or an off-site 
contribution of £319.719. 
 

6.13 As no public open space is proposed the developers will be required to make a 
financial contribution towards the provision of new open space, or the design, 
improvement and/or maintenance of existing open space in the locality, given 
that demand for usage of the existing open spaces would increase as a result 
of the development.  In fact, given the city centre location and availability of 



public open spaces nearby, investment into those spaces would be preferred 
over on-site provision. 
 

6.14 The calculation for student accommodation applies a lower rate compared to 
the full amount required for general purpose housing. This takes into account 
omission of the play provision element which is not applicable and the resident’s 
accessibility to student sports facilities. 
 

6.15 In the event that the Council is minded to approve the application, it will be 
necessary for the applicant and the Council to enter into a Section 106 
Agreement to secure payment of the contribution. The use of S106 contribution 
from this development will need to satisfy CIL and the current distance 
requirements set out in the 2017 Planning Obligations SPG – informal 
recreation 1000m, and formal recreation 1500m, measured from the edge of 
the site.  Eligible parks/open spaces will be listed in the S106 and then 
consultation will take place with Ward members about its specific use. 

 

6.16 Regeneration: Officers note that the Cardiff Planning Obligations SPG 2017 
(Section 8 – Community Facilities) states that ‘Growth in population arising from 
new development generates demand for and increases pressure on community 
facilities. To meet the needs of future residents, it may be necessary to meet 
this additional demand through: 

 

• The provision of new facilities 

• The extension to or upgrading of existing facilities’ 
  
6.17 If no onsite provision is proposed, a financial contribution is sought on 

residential developments containing 25 or more new dwellings where it has 
been identified that investment in community facilities will be required to meet 
the needs of the new population. 
 

6.18 The formula in the SPG is based on the number of bedrooms and associated 
occupancy figures per dwelling. In summary, following engagement with the 
developer, a contribution of £274,230.40 is sought from the developer.  
 

6.19 Several community facilities are located within proximity to the site and are 
likely to experience an added pressure as a result of the new population. It is 
envisaged that a forthcoming community facilities contribution would be 
directed towards one of these facilities. 
 

6.20 Pollution Control (Contamination): The site has been identified as former 
offices. Contamination is not known at this site, however the potential for this 
cannot be ruled out and the ‘unforeseen contamination’ condition is requested. 
 

6.21 In addition, a former landfill site has been identified within 250m of the proposed 
development. Such sites are associated with the generation of landfill gases, 
within subsurface materials, which have the potential to migrate to other sites.   
This may give rise to potential risks to human health and the environment for 
the proposed end use.  The inclusion of the condition requiring ground gas risk 
assessment and any necessary ground gas protection measures is requested. 



 
6.22 Should there be any site won recycled material, or materials imported as part 

of the construction of the development, then it must be demonstrated that they 
are suitable for the end use. This is to prevent the introduction or recycling of 
materials containing chemical or other potential contaminants which may give 
rise to potential risks to human health and the environment for the proposed 
end use.  
 

6.23 Conditions have therefore been recommended to ensure that the safety of 
future occupiers is not prejudiced in accordance with Policy EN13 of the Cardiff 
Local Development Plan. Subject to these conditions, no objection has been 
raised. A contamination and unstable land informative has also been included.  
 

6.24 Pollution Control (Air Quality): As the proposed development is ‘car free’ and 
not within an area that would be considered at risk of exposing future occupants 
of unacceptable levels of air pollution, an air quality assessment was not 
requested as part of this application. The Air Quality Officer has requested that 
dust nuisance impacts are considered as part of the Demolition and 
Construction Environmental Management Plan. Subject to this condition being 
applied, no objection is raised.  
 

6.25 Pollution Control (Noise) have reviewed the supporting Noise Impact 
Assessment (NIA) (prepared by Parker Jones Acoustics, dated 11th May 2023). 
The Noise Officer considers this to be a noise-sensitive location as it is within 
the city centre with contributors to background noise. This is particularly from 
the various night clubs that are located on Greyfriars Road, with the associated 
noise from people queuing and revellers leaving at night from taxis (with their 
door banging) and also the numerous outdoor concerts that are held in the 
grounds of Cardiff Castle. It is however noted that there no nearby heavy 
industrial uses or railway noise in the vicinity.  The Noise Officer notes that the 
Assessment has not covered all noise sources, such as from early morning 
deliveries, street noise, live music break-out from the nearby entertainment 
venues. 
 

6.26 Paragraph 4.3.44 of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12) states that where 
residential development is proposed next to or near existing evening and night-
time uses, it will be necessary to consider the compatibility of uses and to 
incorporate mitigation measures to minimise any impact on the amenity of any 
future residents. The agent of change principle says that a business or person 
responsible for introducing a change is responsible for managing that change. 
Officers therefore seek to promote good acoustic design at the early stages of 
the planning process and do not wish the default position to be ‘double-glazed 
and fitted with mechanical ventilation’ in all schemes. A condition has been 
imposed for event monitoring to take place to deliver a detailed scheme of noise 
mitigation to assess the noise levels from events at Cardiff Castle and District 
nightclub to ensure maximum internal noise levels can be achieved when 
exposed to the music noise levels at the façade of the development. Two 
additional conditions have also been imposed to ensure that post-construction 
assessments are delivered to demonstrate compliance with the maximum 
internal noise levels agreed from the aforementioned condition and also to 



demonstrate compliance with the noise mitigation measures and results 
outlined in the upfront Noise Impact Assessment.  

 
6.27 Vortex shedding (wind noise) has also been considered, whereby the issue of 

‘whistling’ is generally caused by facades which contain gaps or porous 
elements, especially at high levels where they are more exposed to the wind. 
The natural frequency of these less rigid elements can sometimes fall within the 
range of expected vortex shedding frequencies, and when it does this will cause 
whistling or humming. The applicant has stated that the proposed façade is 
designed to not to include any such items, however, if the design changes this 
needs to be taken into account and a qualitative review should be undertaken 
on the final detailed façade design prior to construction of the relevant part. This 
will ensure that the design does not deviate from the current low risk situation. 
As such, a condition has been imposed.  

 
6.28 An additional condition is recommended to ensure that appropriate noise 

insulation measures are delivered if a gym, health and fitness studio or anything 
similar is proposed in one of the leisure/games/exercise spaces for the student 
residential units. Full details of the noise control scheme and a Noise 
Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the first beneficial use. 
 

6.29 Additional conditions imposed relate to plant noise, sound insulation for the 
commercial units, construction noise (as part of Demolition and Construction 
Environmental Management Plans), kitchen extraction details and operation 
hours/servicing hours for the commercial units. An informative has been 
included reminding the applicant of Section 60 of the Control of Pollution Act 
1974 in relation to construction activity hours. As such, subject to the 
aforementioned conditions, no objection is raised.  
 

6.30 Economic Development (ED) have considered and accepted the marketing 
letter (prepared by Fletcher Morgan Chartered Surveyors, dated 22nd March 
2023) which provides details of whether and for how long the premises have 
been vacant and actively marketed for office use. ED are prepared to 
compromise on the loss of the commercial leisure space on the ground and 
basement levels (24,090sqft) being replaced with a smaller footprint of 
3,003sqft of retail space. However due to the loss of 44,718sqft of office space, 
a financial contribution of £85,945 is sought in accordance with the Council's 
adopted Supplementary Guidance on Planning Obligations (adopted January 
2017). This contribution will form a package of assistance that will help support 
and develop companies within the Cathays ward and provide further 
employment opportunities. ED note that given that the proposal results in the 
loss prime employment in the city centre, the contribution is justified in this case 
for the loss of the employment land to support other businesses in the area and 
protect and support job creation in line with the aforementioned SPG.  

 
7. EXTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 
7.1 Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water (DCWW) have raised no objection subject to a 

condition for the details of a potable water scheme to serve the site. This shall 



demonstrate that the existing water supply network can suitably accommodate 
the proposed development site. If necessary, a scheme to reinforce the existing 
public water supply network in order to accommodate the site shall be delivered 
prior to the occupation of any building. An informative has also been included 
regarding the public sewer and noting that SAB permission is required. Finally, 
DCWW note that the developer will need to fund the undertaking of a hydraulic 
modelling assessment on the water supply network. 
 

7.2 South Wales Police have raised no objection but have provided a number of 
security-related recommendations. An informative has been included.    
 

7.3 Gwent-Glamorgan Archaeological Trust (GGAT) note that the site forms part 
of the area occupied by the Franciscan Greyfriars during the Medieval period. 
The religious precinct included a church building, living accommodation for 
religious and visitors, and gardens. The main part of the buildings were outside 
the current redline boundary, and changes to the layout and buildings post-
reformation (mid-16th century). 
 

7.4 The area is within the Cardiff City Centre Archaeologically Sensitive Area, 
defined for the concentration of evidence of activity from the Roman period 
onwards. GGAT note that the development area is situated approximately 
200m to the east of the Scheduled Monument of Cardiff Castle and Roman Fort 
(Cadw reference GM171), and is in an area where archaeological remains of 
Roman and Medieval origin have been identified.  
 

7.5 The supporting information includes an Archaeological Desk-Based 
Assessment (prepared by Cotswold Archaeology, dated May 2023, 
refCR1377_1). This was undertaken to an agreed methodology and GGAT 
confirm that it meets current professional standards. The assessment 
concludes that there may be a potential for ‘islands’ of archaeological deposits 
to have survived, which may be impacted by a proposed development. 
However, there was no detail available to the authors concerning the location 
of the possible ‘islands’ in relation to any known basement plan, existing or 
proposed.  
 

7.6 Basement details have been provided on request which indicates that the works 
will be located in the south of the building footprint. This area is furthest from 
the known areas of Medieval remains, and which historic mapping sequences 
show was formerly open ground, and part of the later 19th and early 20th 
century landscaped Castle Gardens, and changed in the later 20th century. 
GGAT confirm that it is likely that the landscaping and later 20th century 
development has altered the nature of any archaeological deposits, and confirm 
that it is unlikely that significant archaeological deposits that would require 
mitigation remain.  
 

7.7 As such, GGAT have no archaeological objection to the determination of the 
application. An informative has been included advising the application that 
should archaeological remains be encountered, they should contact GGAT as 
mitigation may be required. 
 



7.8 Cadw have considered the Scheduled Monuments and Registered Park and 
Gardens which are located within 2km of the proposed development site. They 
note that the impact of the proposed development on the setting of designated 
historic assets has been considered in the Heritage, Townscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment (prepared by Montague Evans, dated December 2023). 
Cadw have concluded that the proposed development will have no impact on 
the settings of the adjacent designated historic assets.   

 
7.9 Fire Service:  No objection has been raised. An informative has been included.    
 
8. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
8.1 The application was subject to a 21-day consultation period on 12/06/2023, 

being advertised by press and site notices and neighbours and local members 
were notified. Following amended plans being received, a re-consultation was 
undertaken on 03/01/2024. Another re-consultation was undertaken on 
08/03/2024 to the residents to the north (Park View) and the Park Plaza hotel 
due to an amended Daylight and Sunlight Report being received. A final re-
consultation was undertaken on 26/03/2024 to neighbours and members due 
to an amended Sun Path Analysis being received reflecting the amended 
proposal.  
 

8.2 To date, seven letters of objection have been received, which are summarised 
below.   

 
 Representations relating to the first consultation on 12/06/2023: 
 
8.3 An objection letter was received on behalf of the Principality Building Society 

dated 17th July 2023. The full representation is available to view online at 
23/01174/FUL. For the benefit of members, this has been broadly summarised 
as follows: 
 

- No consultation letter received;  
- Representations made at PAC have not been addressed; 
- Concerns over density which will alter the demographic within the area;  
- Student use will result in adverse impacts such as noise, increased anti-

social behaviour and will discourage other non-student related interests 
and investment in the locality; 

- Concerns over the demand for student accommodation, noting a number 
of other purpose built student accommodation (PBSA) schemes which 
have been subject to a change of use application;  

- Scale will be out of keeping. Capital Tower has set a poor precedent and 
the proposed scale will create a clutter adjacent to this building;  

- The development will detract from the setting of the Civic Centre and 
Castle, which are the heart of the cultural centre of the City and key 
tourism attracting areas. The building is contrary to the Tall Building SPG 
and not a suitable location for a tall building.  

- Contradictions with the Daylight and Sunlight Amenity Study; 
- The design of the building does not exhibit outstanding design quality from 

an aesthetic perspective;  

https://www.cardiffidoxcloud.wales/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=RV5SCQEC00700


 
8.4 An additional objection letter was received on behalf of the Principality Building 

Society dated 8th August 2023. The full representation is available to view 
online at 23/01174/FUL. For the benefit of members, this has been broadly 
summarised as follows: 
 

- The development will have an oppressive and overbearing impact on the 
way the occupiers of the building enjoy the property; 

- The Daylight and Sunlight Report has only considered the impact on the 
residential buildings in the locality and should also consider the subject 
office building;  

- The property benefits from legal right of light restrictions.   
 

8.5 A letter expressing concerns (but no objection) was received by the New 
Theatre, Park Place dated 15th June 2023. The full representation is available 
to view online at 23/01174/FUL. For the benefit of members, this has been 
broadly summarised as follows: 
 

- Concerns over road closures during construction, especially as large 
commercial vehicles need to access the theatre to unload/load their sets. 
A request has been sought for a clearer understanding of how this will be 
managed.  

- Concerns over recreational drug taking from the Vita PBSA block and 
anti-social behaviour such as urinating against the rear of the building. 
Reassurance of how this will be managed is requested.  

 
Representations relating to the second consultation on 03/01/2024: 
 

8.6 An objection letter was received on behalf of the Principality Building Society 
dated 18th January 2024. The full representation is available to view online at 
23/01174/FUL. For the benefit of members, this has been broadly summarised 
as follows: 
 

- The Principality Building Society has occupied Principality House for 
more than thirty years and has invested heavily within the building and in 
Cardiff City Centre. 

- Concerns over density which will alter the demographic within the area;  
- Concerns over anti-social behaviour which has increased from the Vita 

purpose PBSA block 
- Concerns over the demand for student accommodation, noting a number 

of other approved PBSA schemes which have been subject to a change 
of use application;  

- Scale will be out of keeping. Capital Tower has set a poor precedent and 
the proposed scale will create a clutter adjacent to this building;  

- The amended proposals increase the massing of the main tower and its 
dominance above the neighbouring listed buildings, as follows:  
o The development will detract from the setting of the City Hall clock 

tower which maintains some visual separation Capital Tower  

https://www.cardiffidoxcloud.wales/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=RV5SCQEC00700
https://www.cardiffidoxcloud.wales/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=RV5SCQEC00700
https://www.cardiffidoxcloud.wales/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=RV5SCQEC00700


o The tower will extend above the height of the gate house of Cardiff 
Castle, which are the heart of the cultural centre of the City and key 
tourism attracting areas.  

o The building is contrary to the Tall Building SPG and the site is not a 
suitable location for a tall building. 

- The amended scheme has increased the scale which will further prejudice 
the amenities of occupiers of neighbouring buildings and pay little regard 
to the scale of development surrounding; 

- The scale will impact the skyline of the City and increase visual clutter 
within important vistas across the city;  

- The design of the building does not exhibit outstanding design quality from 
an aesthetic perspective.  

 
8.7 An additional objection letter was received on behalf of the Principality Building 

Society dated 18th January 2024. The full representation is available to view 
online at 23/01174/FUL. For the benefit of members, this has been broadly 
summarised as follows: 
 
- The BRE Guidance states at paragraph 1.1 that 1.1 states that “people 

expect good natural lighting in their homes and in a wide range of non-
domestic buildings. Daylight makes an interior look more attractive and 
interesting as well as providing light to work or read by. Access to skylight 
and sunlight helps make a building energy efficient; effective daylighting 
will reduce the need for electric light, while winter solar gain can meet 
some of the heating requirements.” 

- Concerns over the loss of daylight on the eastern elevation of the office 
building. The rooms with windows to the rear of the Principality building will 
become more enclosed, darker, and hence, and so concerns are raised 
that the building will become a less desirable place to live and work for the 
future occupants. 

- Request for the case officer to undertake a site visit at the Principality 
Building. 

- Request that the applicant submits a complete and accurate daylight and 
sunlight assessment prepared in accordance with the BRE Guide.  

- The Principality Building benefits from a legal right of light. Request for the 
applicant to resolve all potential right of light matters. 

 
8.8 An objection letter was received on behalf of the Principality Building Society 

dated 18th March 2024. For the benefit of members, this has been broadly 
summarised as follows: 

 
- The latest Daylight and Sunlight Assessment has not included an 

assessment on the Principality Building. 
- Whilst it is appreciated that the property is non-domestic but as they have 

a vast amount of vacant space which cannot be let, they are looking at 
alternative uses which will include a residential use. 

 
8.9 A letter expressing concerns (but no objection) was received by the Indigo 

Hotel dated 22nd March 2024, as follows:  
 

https://www.cardiffidoxcloud.wales/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=RV5SCQEC00700


- Concerns with the delivery requirements we needed for the business 
which is at the back entrance of Dominions Arcade. 

- Noise disruption 
- Timeframe concerns 

 
8.10 A final objection letter was received on behalf of the Principality Building 

Society dated 3rd April 2024. For the benefit of members, this has been broadly 
summarised as follows: 
 

- The Principality Building Society is currently considering the longer term future 
of the building given change in work patterns and resulting amount of space 
that is underutilised in the building and also the poor response in marketing 
the rear of the building (which faces the proposed development). All possible 
uses are being considered but the very obvious alternative is residential. 
Reports are in the process of being prepared.  

- Request that the impact on the building is considered properly in the applicants 
Daylight and Sunlight Report – i.e. Vertical Sky Component, Annual Probable 
Sunlight Hours and Daylight Distribution analysis. 

 
Officer Comments: 
 

8.11 The majority of the objections raised will be addressed in the analysis section 
of the report (Section 9). It should be noted that officers are satisfied that the 
Pre-Application Consultation (PAC) and the consultation for the subject 
application was undertaken in accordance with statutory requirements, noting 
that the scheme has been subject to further iterations and consultation as part 
of the determination of the application. 
 

8.12 The case officer undertook a site visit at the Principality Building on 2nd 
February 2024. The site visit has been considered in the analysis section of 
the report. It is noted that an objection states that the Principality Building 
Society are looking at alternative uses which will include a residential use. 
However, no application has been put before the Council for a change of use 
of the building and so the impact on a future residential use has not been 
considered as part of this application.  
 

9. ANALYSIS 
 
9.1 The main issues to be assessed are: 
 

a. Principle of Development  
b. Impact on Historic Environment  
c. Design  
d. Impact on Neighbouring Amenity  
e. Transportation and Waste  
f. Microclimate 
g. Biodiversity  
h. Sustainability / Energy 

 



a. Principle of Development  
 

9.2 The policy framework for these comments is as follows: 
 

• Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12, February 2024) 

• Future Wales - the National Plan 2040 

• Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 (January 2016) 

• Food, Drink and Leisure Uses SPG (November 2017)  
 
9.3 The application proposal is for the demolition of Friary House which is currently 

occupied by offices (Use Class B1) and a nightclub (Sui Generis) and the 
redevelopment of the site for a mixed-use scheme comprising purpose built 
student accommodation (Sui Generis) providing 585 bedspaces of 384 studios 
and 48 apartments. This includes studios, accessible studios, 1 bed apartments 
and clusters ranging from 5 to 8 bedrooms. The application also proposes three 
double height commercial units at ground floor level (Use Classes A1, A2, A3, 

B1 and/or D1). The site is located within the Central Business Area (CBA) of 

the adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan (LDP) (2006-2026). The main land 
use policy issues relate to: 
 
Student Accommodation Use: 
 

9.4 With regard to Policy KP10 (Central and Bay Business Areas) of the adopted 
Cardiff LDP, the principle of residential development and student 
accommodation use is well established within the surrounding area and the 
central location of this site is suited to a student use as it is well served by 
transport links and is close to local amenities. 
 

9.5 In addition, while noting objections regarding concerns over the demand for 
student housing in Cardiff and reference to subsequent applications for 
changes of use, officers have considered the UK Student Accommodation 
Report 2023 (Cushman Wakefield) which notes (p12) that “Markets that have 
historically experienced occupancy issues such as Newcastle, Cardiff and 
Lancaster have seen a change in fortunes and are now amongst the strongest 
for occupancy”.  
 

9.6 Officers have also consulted the Student Liaison Officer, and there is a 
recognition that demand has significantly grown post-covid, and that existing 
student accommodation units are significantly more full than previously. 
Officers are also aware that student numbers in Cardiff University and Cardiff 
Metropolitan University have increased in recent years which would increase 
demand for accommodation. It is also notable that the report states that Cardiff 
is “currently the most affordable student location in the UK”. 
 
Loss of B1 (Office) Accommodation: 
 

9.7 The upper floors above the nightclub of Friary House are currently in Class B1 
(office) use. LDP Policy EC4 (Protecting Offices in the Central and Bay 
Business Areas) states that “The alternative use of offices within the Central 
and Bay Business Areas will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated 



that there is no need to retain the site or premises for office use having regard 
to the demand for offices and the requirement to provide a range and choice of 
sites available for such use”. At paragraph 5.56, it is identified that when 
considering proposals for the alternative use of office accommodation, a series 
of issues will be considered including whether and for how long the premises 
have been vacant and actively marketed for office use. It goes on to state at 
paragraphs 5.59 and 5.60 that “office premises that, despite active marketing, 
have remained unoccupied for over two years will be considered more 
favourably for changes of use to other, appropriate uses” and that “mixed-use 
redevelopment proposals that retain a significant element of commercial office 
floorspace, or those that do not result in any net loss in the level or quality of 
office accommodation within the City Centre, are likely to be more favourably 
considered”. 
 

9.8 With regard to paragraph 5.56, the applicant has provided a marketing letter 
(prepared by Fletcher Morgan Chartered Surveyors, dated 22nd March 2023) 
which provides details of whether and for how long the premises have been 
vacant and actively marketed for office use. This notes that the office space 
(above the nightclub) at second floor level and above have been vacant since 
2021 and despite a full marketing campaign and some refurbishment by the 
landlords, there has been no serious interest shown in the office space since 
2021. This is a consideration in determining the acceptability of the proposal 
alongside the nature of the proposed change of use to student accommodation.  
 

9.9 Economic Development have confirmed that they accept the marketing 
information and have been aware of the efforts by the owner to refurbish the 
office space to attract interest. The scheme also includes 3,003sqft (279 sq.m) 
of commercial space (including B1 opportunities). It is also accepted that the 
office element of this building is at upper floors above commercial leisure uses.  
Notwithstanding this, due to the loss of 44,718sqft of office space, Economic 
Development are seeking a financial contribution of £85,945 in accordance with 
the Council's approved Supplementary Guidance on Planning Obligations 
(January 2017). This contribution will form a package of assistance that will help 
support and develop companies within the Cathays ward and provide further 
employment opportunities.  
 
Ground Floor Commercial Uses: 
 

9.10 At ground floor level the application proposes three commercial units (Use 
Classes A1, A2, A3, B1 and/or D1) with two at the front facing Greyfriars Road 
(96sqm and 97sm) and one to the rear on the corner of Greyfriars Place and 
Crockherbtown Lane (86sqm).  
 

9.11 The site is located outside of the Central Shopping Area (CSA) as defined by 
Policy R2 of the LDP. However, taking into consideration the relatively small 
scale of the ground floor commercial units and that convenience retail could 
serve the students associated with this proposed development, an element of 
Class A1 (shop) use is considered acceptable at this location.  

 



9.12 It is recognised that Class A3 uses, such as restaurants, cafes and snack bars 
that are open during normal shopping/business hours have the potential to 
contribute towards the range and choice of facilities available in the Central 
Business Area. In this regard and taking into consideration that the units are 
considered essential in ensuring that the ground floor incorporates active uses 
and active frontages, Class A3 uses are considered acceptable at this location, 
subject to amenity considerations. A condition has been imposed preventing 
takeaway sales to protect neighbouring amenity.  
 

9.13 With regard to LDP Policy KP10 (Central and Bay Business Areas), Class A2 
(Financial and Professional Services), B1 (Business) and D1 (Non-residential 
Institution) uses are be considered acceptable at this location, subject to 
amenity considerations. 
 

9.14 For the above reasons, the proposal is considered acceptable from a land use 
policy perspective. 

 
b. Impact on Historic Environment  

 
9.15 Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 requires that, when assessing development which affects a listed building 
or its setting, special regard shall be paid to the desirability of preserving the 
building or its setting or any special architectural or historic interest it 
possesses.   
 

9.16 This approach is supported by LDP Policy EN9 (Conservation of the Historic 
Environment) which requires any development relating to historic assets 
(including their settings) to demonstrate that it preserves or enhances that 
asset’s architectural quality, historic and cultural significance, character, 
integrity and/or setting. 
 

9.17 LDP Policy EN9 also states that development relating to any of the heritage 
assets listed below (or their settings) will only be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that it preserves or enhances that asset’s architectural quality, 
historic and cultural significance, character, integrity and/or setting. 
 
i.  Scheduled Ancient Monuments 
ii. Listed Buildings and their curtilage structures 
iii.  Conservation Areas 
iv.  Archaeologically Sensitive Areas 
v.  Registered Historic Landscapes, Parks and Gardens; or 
vi.  Locally Listed Buildings of Merit and other historic features of interest 

that positively contribute to the distinctiveness of the city. 
 

9.18 The supporting text to Policy EN9 at para. 5.145 notes that considerable 
damage can be done to the architectural or historic interest of the listed building 
if the development is insensitive in design, scale or positioning. The setting of 
a listed building is often an essential feature of its character. The setting may 
be limited to the immediate surroundings, but it can extend for a considerable 
distance. A proposed development might affect the gardens or parkland of a 



major house, the rural characteristics of a farmstead or the street setting of an 
urban building that forms an important visual element of that street. Policy EN9 
requires that development proposals take full account of the setting of any listed 
building in the vicinity and that developers demonstrate that the setting will not 
be harmed. 
 

9.19 LDP Policy KP17 (Built Heritage) states that Cardiff’s distinctive heritage assets 
will be protected, managed and enhanced, in particular the character and 
setting of its Scheduled Ancient Monuments; Listed Buildings; Registered 
Historic Landscapes, Parks and Gardens; Conservation Areas; Locally Listed 
Buildings and other features of local interest that positively contribute to the 
distinctiveness of the city.  
 

9.20 Para 4.184 states that in seeking to respond to the presence of heritage 
assets, developers are encouraged to follow a sequence of investigation and 
assessment to identify the cultural and historic significance of a place before 
developing proposals for change or alteration. In this way appropriate 
approaches can be developed to preserve and enhance the historic 
environment through proposals that respond to and complement their context. 
The process is commended within Circular 61/96 and advice within BS 
Standard 7913, 2013. 
 

9.21 The Tall Buildings SPG states that “all tall building proposals must 
demonstrate that...the character or setting of heritage assets is not harmed.” 
It goes on to state that at paragraph 4.2 that “The skyline of Cardiff is typically 
made up of a number of tall buildings, in addition to other notable architectural 
features in the roofscape. It is considered important to retain key views to 
strategic architectural features and buildings in the skyline from both long 
range and intermediate range views because they create an image for the city 
of Cardiff as well as aiding legibility when walking through the city. Examples 
of notable features in the city centre and bay include: the Millennium Stadium 
masts, the Millennium Centre bronze-coloured domed roof, the Pierhead 
building, church steeples, Cardiff Castle clock tower, City Hall clocktower and 
the Norwegian Church.” 
 

9.22 Paragraph 4.3 of the Tall Building SPG states that “Buildings of character 
should be given sufficient breathing space to preserve their setting. 
Consideration should be given to how a tall building may impact on smaller 
buildings of character within a view corridor. The proposal should show how 
the building complements those character buildings, possibly framing them, 
but not distract from them.”  
 

9.23 At paragraph 5.3, the SPG notes that “the area surrounding Cardiff Castle 
along Castle Street is especially sensitive to any buildings which break the 
height of the walls of the castle. Any proposals that can be viewed in the vicinity 
of Cardiff Castle and the Civic Centre need careful attention. In this area of 
very high sensitivity, it is unlikely that proposed buildings significantly taller 
than the prevailing townscape will be supported.” Appendix A of the SPG 
identifies an approximate area of very high sensitivity covering the Civic 



Centre, Cardiff Castle and their immediate settings, with the application site on 
the edge/partially within such a zone (see Figure 7 below).  

 

 
Figure 7: Area of Very High Sensitivity (Tall Buildings SPG). 

 

Skyline and Key Views: 
 

9.24 In addition to the Tall Buildings SPG, further national policy guidance is 
provided in TAN12, which also highlights the importance of identifying 
distinctive views, key skylines and vistas.  
 

9.25 The visual impact has been tested in the supporting Heritage, Townscape and 
Visual Impact Assessment (HTVIA), which was prepared by Montagu Evans 
(dated December 2023) by means of a series of key views from agreed 
locations, which are assessed below. The key views comprise: 
 
- View 1: Facing north-east from Castle Street; 
- View 2: Facing west from the Cardiff Castle keep; 
- View 3: Facing south from outside of the Cardiff University Bute Building;  
- View 4: Facing south outside of City Hall; 
- Views 5 and 6: Facing South from Two Viewpoints within Alexandra 

Gardens; 
- View 7: Facing west along Greyfriars Road from Park Place;  
- View 8: Facing south-east from Greyfriars Road; 
- View 9: Facing south from the City Hall Lawn.  

 
9.26 The respective consultation roles of Cadw and the Local Planning Authority 

should be made clear. Within their consultation response, Cadw have agreed 
with the conclusions reached by the supplied HTVIA, stating that "...there may 
be slight visual changes in the views from scheduled monuments GM173 
Dominican Friary and GM171 Cardiff Castle and Roman Fort and registered 
parks and gardens PGW(Gm)21(CDF) Sophia Gardens, PGW (Gm) 22(CDF) 



Cardiff Castle and Bute Park and PGW(Gm)26(CDF) - Cathays Park but this 
will not have any effect on the way that they are experienced, understood and 
appreciated and therefore the proposed development will have no impact on 
the settings of these designated historic assets. We concur with this 
conclusion." 
 

9.27 However, Cadw were neither consulted nor commenting upon setting impact 
in relation to listed buildings or conservation areas. Their purview extends to 
the assessment of impact upon Scheduled Monuments and Registered Parks 
and Gardens only. Therefore, whilst officers have no reason to fundamentally 
disagree with the conclusions drawn by Cadw, the following observations have 
particular regard for the following:  
 
- The settings of both the Grade I Listed status of Cardiff Castle (as opposed 

to its Scheduled status) and City Hall;  
- The settings of both the Grade II Listed Brannigan's (including forecourt 

walls and railings) and the New Theatre; 
- St Mary Street, Cathays Park, Queen Street and Windsor Place 

Conservation Areas. 
 
9.28 It should be noted that the supporting HTVIA makes no reference to the 

adopted Cardiff LDP Policy EN9. The following observations are primarily 
assessed against the requirements of this policy. Though PPW provides no 
terminology with which to identify levels of impact (only ‘harm’), the below 
observations utilise the terminology already established by the HTVIA which 
accompanies this application.  
 
View 1: Facing North-East from Castle Street: 
 

 
 
9.29 The Conservation Officer considers that the Grade I listed asset of Cardiff 

Castle forms a particularly striking landmark within the centre of the city and, 
most significantly for this application, it is the principal elevation and gateway 



entrance to the asset which dominate easterly views along Castle Street, 
where it occupies a whole stretch of the northern side of the road. This setting 
makes a strong contribution to its significance. This is reinforced within the Tall 
Buildings SPG (para 5.3 and quoted above), noting the sensitivity of the asset 
to any proposals which break the height of the walls within these views.  
 

9.30 With regard to the easterly view along Castle Street view, the supplied HTVIA 
states that "The upper elements of the Proposed Development are visible, 
appearing above the exterior outer wall of the Castle. Where visible, the light 
materiality of the Proposed Development would soften its appearance against 
the skyline and the Grade I listed Cardiff Castle in the foreground. The 
perception of mass is further reduced by the vertical placement of fenestration 
which enhances the slender linearity of the proposals.” It then states that 
“There is no material change to how one would experience the historic and 
architectural significance of the Castle.” And finally “…the magnitude of impact 
of the Proposed Development is Low, resulting in a Minor Likely Effect. The 
Nature of Effect is Beneficial.” 
 

9.31 On the other hand, whilst acknowledging the assessment within the HTVIA, 
the Conservation Officer considers that the height and bulk of the tower will 
rise above the existing elevation of the Castle walls and the tower will compete 
with and distract from a key view of this Grade I Listed asset from Castle Street. 
In particular, the tower intrudes into the backdrop of the gatehouse and 
overshadows its turret. As a result, the Conservation Officer disagrees with the 
beneficial impact concluded within the HTVIA. It is considered that the 
development will result in cumulative harm, by adding to the negative impact 
which the adjacent Capital Tower already has upon the setting of the Grade I 
asset. However, considering that this is not a framed or designed view, rather 
it is a transient view as one progresses along the street, the identified harm 
upon the setting (and significance) of Cardiff Castle will be somewhat lessened 
to a moderate adverse impact. 
 



View 2: Facing West from the Cardiff Castle Keep: 
 

 
 

9.32 The Conservation Officer agrees that views of the proposed tower from within 
the castle will be read as part of the modern developing city “as part of the 
ongoing story of the growth of the city of Cardiff as seen from the castle 
bounds". It is therefore considered that this incremental skyline change beyond 
the castle walls will have a negligible material impact upon how the asset 
would be experienced from within. 
 
View 3: Facing South from Outside of the Cardiff University Bute Building: 

 

 
 

9.33 Though the proposed development will be prominent within views from the 
centre of the road when one passes south-east along King Edward VII Avenue, 
the extensive tree-cover to the avenue breaks-up and obscures views of the 
proposed tower from the pavements to either side. This is demonstrated within 



the above view which, it should be noted, is in fact considerably further up the 
road to the north-west than shown within the view location plan provided within 
the HTVIA.  

 
View 4: Facing South from Outside of City Hall: 
 

 
 

9.34 Here, the tower will sit alongside Capital Tower, between the prominent clock 
tower of City Hall to the east and the Law Courts to the west, with its prominent 
Cupolas. Though the proposal does not sit directly behind or intrude directly 
into the views of these Grade I Listed assets from this location, there is low 
cumulative impact resulting from reinforcing the massing of the already 
distracting Capital Tower which sits prominent upon the skyline.   
 



View 5 and 6: Facing South from Two Viewpoints within Alexandra Gardens: 
 

 
 

 
 

9.35 The Conservation Officer notes that the principal views of City Hall are its 
grand south-eastern elevation and entrance, and its relationship with the open 
space of City Hall Lawn to the fore. However, there are also significant views 
available of all sides of the building. In particular, its finely composed rear 
(north-western) elevation should be noted, where the building and its tall and 
ornate clock tower define and enclose the south-eastern edge of Alexandra 
Gardens. This fine, designed setting contributes considerably to the 
significance of the asset.  
 

9.36 It should also be highlighted that the clock tower to City Hall is identified within 
the Tall Buildings SPG (para 4.2.) as a notable architectural feature in the 
roofscape of Cardiff, for which "…it is considered important to retain key views 



to strategic architectural features and buildings in the skyline from both long 
range and intermediate range views because they create an image for the city 
of Cardiff as well as aiding legibility when walking through the city."  
 

9.37 With regard to views from Alexandra Gardens, the HTVIA states at paragraph 
11.39 that “The Proposed Development sits below the horizontal details on the 
clock tower and is not in competition with the tower despite its visibility. The 
visual amenity would remain intact from Alexandra Park, and the Proposed 
would be a slender and complementary addition to the skyline adjacent to 
Capital Tower. Where seen from the eastern side of the park the slender profile 
of the tower would be seen in relation to Capital Tower and City Hall clock 
tower, forming a staggered composition with even spacing between each 
building”. Then at para. 11.40 it concludes by stating that “Given the reasons 
above, the magnitude of impact of the Proposed Development is Low, resulting 
in a Minor Likely effect. The nature of effect is Beneficial.” 
 

9.38 The Conservation Officer has a taken a differing view to the HTVIA. They note 
that within key views from Alexandra Gardens, the proposed development is 
shown to be standing immediately adjacent to the City Hall ornate clock tower 
and clearly visible above the roof line of the Grade I Listed Law Courts building. 
Though it is acknowledged that these key views have already been blemished 
by the Capital Tower, and that the proposal will sit below the horizontal details 
on the clock tower (view 6), the proposal is still considered to be visually 
intrusive and distracting, appearing in direct competition with the asset (and its 
clock tower) and intruding above the roofline of the building (view 5), resulting 
in a harmful impact upon its prominent and finely composed setting. Though 
principal views from the pathways within the park have been identified, visitors 
are free to roam across the park and its lawns which includes the Welsh 
National War Memorial, meaning that views of this secondary (rear) elevation 
to the Grade I listed asset are transitory. Therefore, the identified harmful 
impact upon setting of the asset is tempered. Overall, harm to the setting of 
City Hall is considered moderate adverse.  

 



View 7: Facing West Along Greyfriars Road from Park Place: 
 

 
 

9.39 The above view considers the impact on Brannigan's (latterly Steinbeck & 
Shaw and Pryzm) and the New Theatre. Built on Park Place in 1893 as the 
South Wales Institute of Engineers, the Grade II Listed Brannigan's also has a 
large library extension of 1907 which fronts onto Greyfriars Road. This ornate 
terracotta building occupies a prominent corner plot. In combination with the 
richly decorated Grade II Listed New Theatre (to the opposite corner), they 
create a visually striking pair of prominently located buildings which, together 
with the listed row of houses along Park Place, form an attractive composition 
of high quality buildings. This setting is somewhat tempered by the modern 
buildings to its background within westerly views along Greyfriars Road, 
including Capital Tower which in some aspects intrudes partially into the 
backdrop of Brannigan's. However, overall, its setting makes a positive 
contribution to its significance. 
 

9.40 The HTVIA states at para. 11.45 that “The Proposed Development will 
introduce new built form on the existing Site. View 7 of the visual impact 
assessment illustrates how the Proposed Development is seen in views 
looking west along Greyfriars Road. It introduces a tower at the scale of which 
complements the existing Capital Tower and creates a staggered effect, 
forming a transitional, step up to Capital Tower which terminates the lower 
scale terrace development along the southern side of Greyfriars Road. The 
front section, fronting Greyfriars Road, will be significantly lower, adding a 
human scale to the street scene. The reduction in height along Greyfriars 
Road, as established in the determination period, creates a better sense of 
rhythm along Greyfriars Road which is abetted by the architectural moves 
through the addition of a concrete frame to the frontage. 
 

9.41 The HTVIA also states that “The sculpted approach to massing divides the 
tower into two slender, linear blocks”.  The perception of mass is mitigated by 
the light metallic, panelling on the exterior which softens the appearance of the 



proposals against the skyline and aids in contrasting with the light buff brick of 
the lower scale development along Greyfriars Road. 
 

9.42 Para 11.48 of the HTVIA states that “Further design measures including the 
vertical fenestration, helps to enhance the linearity and slenderness of the 
proposals.” Para. 11.49 states “The Proposed Development would enhance 
visual amenity to Greyfriars Road at the western end through its improved 
frontage (in contrast to the existing condition) and considered materiality. The 
recessed, double storey entrance contributes to a sense of human scale in the 
exterior and reduces the sense of mass above the pedestrian moving through 
the area. The location of the tower towards the southern side of the Site 
reduces this effect, also.” 
 

9.43 Para 11.50 of the HTVIA states that: “The frontages along Greyfriars Place are 
improved, in contrast to the existing condition, whereby the Proposed 
Development provides new commercial uses at ground, with a colonnaded 
frontage, which assists in drawing people down towards Dominions Arcade.” 
 

9.44 Para 11.51 of the HTVIA states that: “A contrasting light, buff brick has been 
used at the ground and first floor level of the building, giving it a distinct 
hierarchy of form, with a distinct base, middle and top. This distinction is further 
articulated through window groupings and structural components of the 
architecture, which is bettered visually through the addition of different textures 
in the provision of GRC panels, perforated metal cladding and solid metal 
cladding.” 
 

9.45 Para 11.52 of the HTVIA states that: “Given the reasons above, the magnitude 
of impact of the Proposed Development is Low, resulting in a Minor Likely 
Effect. This is due to the specific locations the Proposed Development is visible 
from, from over a wide ranging area. The Nature of Effect is Beneficial.” 
 

9.46 However, the Conservation Officer expresses concern that within the key 
westerly view down Greyfriars Road, the proposed will not bring a particularly 
visually unified frontage to Greyfriars Road by virtue of its scale, the ‘relatively 
featureless’ articulation of its eastern elevation at lower levels and its 
prominent positioning where it breaks above and beyond the existing 
frontages. They thus disagree that this proposal improves the appearance 
compared to the existing backdrop to these listed buildings, given that it is 
currently, for the most part, low rise and set some 100m away from the 
presented viewpoints.  
 

9.47 The tower element of the proposed is also shown to rise directly behind Grade 
II Brannigan's building. Though it is agreed that the available westerly views 
are transitory, the impact of the proposed is again considered to be visually 
intrusive and to distract from the asset; an intrusion exacerbated by the form 
and design of the proposed which is a large and obvious tower block, with 
additional shouldered mass to its lower levels. As a consequence, the impact 
upon the setting of Brannigan's is considered moderate adverse. Due to the 
scale and positioning of New Theatre within the street scene, impact upon its 
setting would be minor adverse. 



 
View 8: Facing South-East from Greyfriars Road (existing and proposed): 
 

  
  
9.48 Officers welcome that through negotiation the scale has been reduced to the 

front to better integrate with its surrounding built form and street context, with 
the proposed 8-storey height now reflecting the 8-storey height on the opposite 
side of the road. Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposed development will 
extend outwards on to the street appearing significantly more dominant than 
the existing building, the proposed elevational treatment is considered to be of 
a high quality to enliven the corner. By introducing mass, fenestration and 
detailing of significance at the corner point, along with the location of the 
residential entrance towards the southern end of Greyfriars Place, there is 
significant enticement to enliven and activate the streetscape. The building can 
then become a catalyst for further development and regeneration within the 
local area and reinvigoration of the surrounding buildings. This area will also 
be enhanced by the public realm works which will be delivered through a 
Section 278, which will also include soft landscaping in the form of trees and 
rain gardens, which will soften the appearance. As such, it is considered that 
the scale and siting of the scheme will be acceptable from this identified view.  
 
View 9: Facing South from City Hall Lawn: 

 

 
 



9.49 As the viewer passes south, beyond the Grade I Listed assets which line 
Gorsedd Gardens Road, there will be clear views of the proposed tower over 
the City Hall lawn. Considering the nature of the existing view from this location 
(where all key conservation area views are towards the grand buildings and 
their associated avenues), the Conservation Officer considers that the 
increased cumulative massing of the proposed tower will impact little upon this 
view.  
 

9.50 It should however be cautioned that the submitted views are unlikely to be an 
exhaustive summary of potential impacts, particularly considering the height 
of the proposed tower. For example, the open and publicly accessible nature 
of Alexandria Gardens already identified above means that there will be other 
and views and glimpses of the tower above the roofline of City Hall which have 
not been quantified. Similarly, during the winter months (when there are no 
leaves upon the trees), it can be gauged from the existing Capital Tower that 
the proposed height and positioning of the tower will be visible from the 
western end of Cowbridge Road East/eastern end of Castle Street, where it 
will also intrude into views of the eastern elevations of the asset, and likely 
distract further from its distinctive skyline. The precise extent of these 
intrusions currently remains unclear.  
 
The Setting of Conservation Areas: 
 

9.51 Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
sets out the requirement. In discharging functions relating to planning, that 
special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of conservation areas.  This is reflected in Policy 
KP17 (Built Heritage) which should be read in conjunction with the adopted 
Conservation Area Appraisal prepared for each area, including the 
enhancement proposals included within them. 

 
9.52 The Cathays Park Conservation Area (CA) is located to the north of the 

application site, encompassing the grand buildings of the civic centre 
(including the Grade I Listed Law Courts) and Cardiff Castle, both of which are 
identified as a landmark building of the highest architectural quality by the 
Conservation Area Appraisal (CAA).  
 

9.53 Most significant to this application are available views from within the CA; 
Alexandra Gardens (discussed above) and the views along the tree lined 
boulevard of King Edward VII Avenue, which is identified as an “important view 
or vista” within the CAA. The latter is shown within Views 3 and 4 of the HTVIA. 
It is agreed that, within views along King Edward VII Avenue, the proposed 
development is an incremental addition. Though, it forms a cumulative impact 
upon this long and clearly defined view (View 3), this is tempered by the 
available views from the roadside being obscured by the relatively dense 
coverage of mature trees that line the avenue. With regards to Views 5 and 6, 
the negative impacts upon views of the Grade I Listed Law Courts identified 
above extend into the harm to the setting of the CA, by virtue of the landmark 
status of the building and the significance of the views available from 
Alexandra Gardens, located at the civic heart of the area. 



 
9.54 The most significant view of the proposed development available from outside 

the CA is that of Cardiff Castle from Castle Street (identified above). However, 
those negative impacts upon views of Grade I Listed Cardiff Castle extend into 
some harm to the setting of the conservation area, by virtue of the landmark 
status of the building and the significance of those views available from Castle 
Street. Overall, the setting impact upon Cathays Park CA is considered to be 
moderate/minor adverse. 

 
9.55 The St Mary Street Conservation Area directly abuts Cathays Park CA to the 

south, their shared boundary being the centre of Castle Street. As a result, 
Cardiff Castle forms a strong visual boundary to the north in much the same 
way it does for this location within Cathays Park CA. Within views from the 
western end of Castle Street, the proposed will therefore have much the same 
impact upon the setting of the area, intruding above views of the castle. Further 
to the east, at the head of St Mary Street and beyond, the proposed (if at all 
appreciable) will fall beyond the castle and form backdrop to the modern 
developments upon the corner of Duke Street.  
 

9.56 Views of the proposed development have also been identified from the eastern 
end of Church Street, within the context of Grade I Listed St Johns Church. 
The tower will be visible above the buildings which line the western side of St 
John Street. These are considered to be peripheral to the church which 
dominates the easterly aspect from this position, resulting in little impact upon 
the setting of this highly significant building, the tallest within the immediate 
area. Overall, the harmful setting impact upon St Mary Street CA is considered 
to be minor adverse. 

 
9.57 A number of incidental views of the proposed development have been 

identified from the Queen Street Conservation Area which runs from east to 
west, to the south of the site. However, it is agreed that due to the scale and 
tight grain of the street which creates a strong sense of enclosure, there will 
be incidental visibility of the proposed from the principal areas of the asset as 
it forms a backdrop to the clearly defined principal portion of the area. It will 
therefore be read as part of the modern backdrop to the developing city and 
have a negligible impact upon the setting of the area.  
 

9.58 With regard to the Windsor Place Conservation Area, the proposed 
development will be seen, layered with Capital Tower, from the Windsor Place 
Conservation Area, most notably at the junction of Greyfriars Road. 
 

9.59 The HTVIA states that “The Proposed Development would be seen in 
conjunction with Capital Tower from the Windsor Place Conservation Area, 
specifically at the junction of Greyfriars Road. Due to the scale of the Capital 
Tower, the Proposed Development would form part of a layer of contemporary 
development with the older Capital Tower in the backdrop. 
 

9.60 Capital Tower is constructed in dark, visually heavy materials. The tower of the 
Proposed Development will be constructed from light materials that will help to 
break up the massing and make it subordinate to Capital Tower. The condition 



of the townscape along Greyfriars Road does not contribute to the setting of 
the conservation area. The addition of the Proposed Development, visually, 
makes a slight change to this condition. By removing the poorly designed 
buildings on the Site as existing (which do not contribute to significance of the 
conservation area through its setting), the uniformity provided by the Proposed 
Development is a clear visual improvement.” 
 

9.61 Though it is agreed that the proposed will form part of the existing backdrop of 
contemporary development to the setting of the CA, as noted above, the 
proposal will not bring a particularly visually unified frontage to Greyfriars 
Road. Those harmful impacts previously identified for the setting of the listed 
buildings in this location will, by extension, impact upon the setting of the CA 
of which they form a part. However, this westerly aspect is not considered to 
form a key view within the area. Impact upon the setting of Windsor Place is 
be considered moderate adverse.  
 
Archaeology: 
 

9.62 As noted by the Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust (GGAT) in their 
consultation response the site is located within the Cardiff City Centre 
Archaeologically Sensitive Area (ASA), defined for the concentration of 
evidence of activity from the Roman period onwards.  This is one of four ASAs 
identified in Cardiff, with the purpose of this non-statutory designation being to 
assist those who are planning development in areas where there is a known 
archaeological resource or where it is likely that remains may be sensitive to 
development pressures. The Council’s SPG on Archaeologically Sensitive 
Areas provides further guidance.  
 

9.63 GGAT has further advised that landscaping and later 20th century development 
has likely altered the nature of any archaeological deposits, such that it is 
unlikely that significant archaeological deposits that would require mitigation 
remain.  As such, there is no archaeological objection to the determination of 
the application. 
 

c. Design  
 
9.64 LDP Policy KP5 (Good Quality and Sustainable Design) contains criteria for 

assessment of new development proposals to ensure that high quality, 
sustainable designs occur which positively contribute to the creation of 
distinctive communities, places and spaces. A criterion includes, for example, 
the influence of the proposal on the local character and context. Other criteria 
include creating legible development, providing a diversity of land uses, 
creating distinctive places and providing a healthy environment.  

 



Scale and Massing: 
 

9.65 The proposed development incorporates high density development including 
the development of a 28-storey tower. Accordingly, the Tall Buildings 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) (January 2017) is a material 
consideration in determining this application. 
 

9.66 Para. 1.5 states that “well-designed tall buildings in appropriate locations have 
the potential to add significant value to Cardiff. They can enhance skylines and 
provide recognisable landmarks that can serve to promote the city on a 
national and international stage”. Para. 1.7 states that “Cardiff seeks to be the 
most liveable capital city in Europe and to create an inclusive, vibrant, thriving, 
sustainable and attractive city in which to live and work. Proposals for tall 
buildings need to demonstrate an exceptional standard of design together with 
appropriate land uses and public realm through careful planning and design 
so that they knit well into the existing fabric of the city”. 
 

9.67 Further, para 2.1 of the Tall Buildings SPG states that “attractive tall buildings 
in clusters can help to signify the core areas of the city, particularly areas within 
the city centre”, and states that “the areas that tend to lend themselves to tall 
buildings are often along railway corridors, urban corner sites in the core of the 
city centre, sites that form part of existing clusters of tall buildings and 
waterfronts”.  

 
9.68 Tall buildings are therefore assessed having regard to locational criteria, 

specifically that they will only be acceptable where (para. 2.2):  
 

• There would be no negative impacts on important views or vistas 

• The character or setting of heritage assets is not harmed  

• The proposal will be a positive feature in skyline and streetscape, either by 
complementing a cluster of tall buildings or forming a strategic landmark 

• No material harm is caused by overshadowing or overlooking 

• There will be walking and cycling accessibility to sustainable transport and 
local facilities 
 

9.69 The above criteria are considered in detail later in the analysis.  
 

9.70 Whilst officers have sought to negotiate changes to the proposals including a 
reduction in the height and width of the tower, the site is considered, on 
balance, to be one which can accommodate a sensitively designed building of 
significant height, which accords with the wording of para. 2.1. This is due to 
the site being located in the city centre and adjacent to the existing Capital 
Tower (92m high) and in close proximity to the Vita student accommodation 
tower at Bradley Court (55m high), with the latter demonstrating that tall 
buildings can be developed in this location, potentially providing the 
opportunity to create a city-centre cluster of tall buildings. The Capital Tower 
is an of-its-time architectural icon within the Cardiff cityscape, and it is 
considered that the proposal will create another landmark building through the 
alternative form and high quality elevational treatment. The tallest part of the 



tower has been positioned away from the Capital Tower to ensure there is no 
convoluting mass when viewed from the north.  
 

9.71 Officers consider that the form and silhouette of the tower will deliver a design 
which will be instantly recognisable and stand out from the typically rectangular 
towers seen elsewhere in the city centre skyline. This has been delivered 
through the proposed tall, elegant tower with the lower ‘shoulder’ element 
which will create a distinctive silhouette within longer views. The addition of 
separate blocks also helps break the mass up appropriately. It is therefore 
considered that the proportions of the elevations when viewed from the north 
and south of the city (from where the site is predominantly visible) are slender 
and graceful, especially in comparison to the adjacent Capital Tower. 
 

9.72 While local concerns have been raised about the proposed density of 
development on the site, it is noted that Planning Policy Wales emphasises 
the need to maximise the efficient use of land in highly sustainable locations 
(such as this city centre location). The creation of such high density new 
development in the city centre is thus fully supported, subject to all schemes 
ensuring that there will be no unacceptable impacts arising from such a scale 
of development. 

 
Elevational Treatment:  

 
9.73 Given the aforementioned analysis on the impact on the surrounding heritage 

assets, there has been an expectation that the scheme fully demonstrate 
excellence in terms of architectural detailing and quality of materials necessary 
to justify the scale of the development proposed.  

 
9.74 The lower block of the proposed building is considered an improvement in 

contrast to the existing building. The use of brick with the deep depth of reveals 
provides a textural link to the nearby historical assets and creates a robust and 
long-lasting façade. The application proposes a greater sense of rhythm 
afforded along the Greyfriars Road and Greyfriars Place frontage, as seen 
through the addition of the light coloured buff brick, which works well visually 
with the metallic panels of varying textures added across the scheme. Further 
details on the materiality and depths of reveals are required by condition, to 
ensure the highest specification and design of the proposed building.  
 

9.75 The corner of Greyfriars Road and Greyfriars Place of the existing building is 
underwhelming and provides no inducement to enter Greyfriars Place and the 
northern end of Dominions Arcade beyond. The proposed corner of Greyfriars 
Road and Greyfriars Place provides an important transition between these two 
streets and creates a point of interest with additional glazing at this primary 
node. Officers also welcome the addition of the colonnade to the front of the 
double height glazed commercial spaces and the residential entrance, which 
will create an active frontage to the street adding vibrancy at street level. A 
condition has been imposed to ensure the glazing at ground floor level retains 
the active frontage. This will also complement the required public realm 
improvements (which will be delivered through a separate Section 278 



Highways Agreement) to provide more focus to the rear entrance of the 
Dominions Arcade and the southern commercial unit.  
 

9.76 The taller elements are to be finished in a metallic cladding with a 
‘basketweave’ façade which creates a checkerboard aesthetic, which then 
becomes more regularised at the top of the tower. This is considered a high 
quality elevational treatment which will alter in appearance with the movement 
of the sun and will create a distinguishable and recognisable design which will 
be appreciated from across the city. Notwithstanding the proposed lighting at 
the base of the building, a lighting strategy condition has been imposed to 
ensure that the lighting does not detract upon the character and appearance 
of the surrounding heritage assets.  
 

9.77 As such the proposed elevational treatment of the proposed building is 
considered to be of a high quality, which will provide a landmark building within 
the city centre.  

 
Layout: 
 

9.78 Pedestrian access to the development will be provided from Greyfriars Road 
and Greyfriars Place, with separate entrances for the commercial/retail and 
student accommodation elements of the proposals. The provision of the three 
double height commercial units at ground floor level as well as the residential 
entrance along Greyfriars Place with active frontages is supported to ensure 
an appropriate activity is delivered at street level. This is considered a 
significant enhancement to the existing building. The plant rooms have been 
appropriately positioned to the rear along Crockherbtown Lane which is an 
existing servicing lane. All accesses will provide a level threshold from the 
street for inclusivity reasons.  

 
9.79 Officers welcome the extent of the internal communal amenity spaces which 

proposes 654sq.m of floorspace. This comprises 155sq.m at ground floor level 
(the reception and management rooms have been excluded as these are basic 
requirements for the running of the building) in the form of lounge areas and 
359sq.m at level 1 in the form of co-working, lounges, a cinema, karaoke rooms, 
games rooms and an entertainment room. 40sq.m amenity spaces are then 
proposed at levels 2, 3 and 4 and a 20sqm space is proposed at level 11. On 
this basis, the communal floorspace per student is 1.1sqm which is supported. 
There is also a 111sq.m roof terrace proposed to the north on level 11 which 
will provide additional space for the residents to enjoy. A condition has been 
imposed to ensure that appropriate landscaping is provided and ensure that the 
microclimatic effects are designed to be within reasonable limits.  
 

9.80 The size of the cluster bedrooms and studio units comply with the space 
standards outlined in para. 6.2 of the Student Accommodation SPG (2019). The 
application also proposes an accessible unit at level 1 which is welcomed.  
 

9.81 The application has not been accompanied by an internal Daylight and Sunlight 
Report, so officers are unable to determine whether the bedrooms will benefit 
from sufficient ambient light levels. Whilst this is regrettable, given the transient 



nature of the student accommodation use, officers consider this to be 
acceptable in this instance.  
 

9.82 The Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 
(2017) states that a minimum of 21 metres will be required between facing 
windows to habitable rooms on the private side of a development. The proposal 
will be positioned directly to the north of the 5 storey high commercial ancillary 
storage building with a separation distance of just 9.2m. A condition has 
therefore been imposed to ensure that the southern facing PBSA units opposite 
this building (levels 2 to 4) shall have obscurely glazed to overcome the loss of 
privacy.  
 

9.83 The proposed building will have a 20m separation distance from the front 8 
storey block to the Park Plaza hotel and Park View apartments. The proposal 
is also to the east of the 9 storey high Principality Building Society building with 
the tower shoulder element having a 17m separation distance. There will also 
be a 19.9m separation distance between facing units within the courtyard of the 
proposed development, with some units being closer but with a 90 degree 
angle. These separation distances in terms of privacy for the future student 
occupants is considered acceptable as they will occupy the units on a short 
term basis. The 90 degree angle between closer looks is also considered 
sufficient.  

 
9.84 In addition, as the scheme has been submitted and assessed as purpose-built 

student accommodation, and without a detailed understanding of ambient light 
levels, a condition has been proposed to ensure that the development is only 
used for student accommodation, thus ensuring it does not benefit from 
Permitted Development rights allowing a change of use to a Co-Living scheme 
which would require further assessment.  

 
d. Impact on Neighbouring Amenity  

 
9.85 LDP Policy KP5 contains criteria for assessment of new development 

proposals to ensure that no undue effect on the amenity of neighbouring 
occupiers occurs. The scheme has been carefully assessed against the 
Council’s SPG guidance on sunlight/daylight, overlooking and privacy. 
 
Sunlight, Daylight and Overshadowing: 

 

Impact on Residential Uses:  

 
9.86 Following amended plans being received, the applicant has provided an 

updated Daylight and Sunlight Report (DSR) (prepared by Rapleys, dated 
March 2024, ref 21-02005) which considers the impact of the development on 
the adjacent residential units (Use Class C3) and the Park Plaza hotel (C1). 
These comprise the Park View residential apartments to the north which form 
three storeys starting from level 5 above the Park Plaza hotel and Greyfriars 
House with private balconies facing north and south.  



 
Figure 8 shows the proposed development in green with the Park View apartments 

and Park Plaza hotel to the north in red.  

 
9.87 The Building Research Establishment (BRE) guide ‘Site Layout Planning for 

Daylight and Sunlight: A Guide to Good Practice (2022)’ states that when 
“assessing the loss of light to an existing building, the VSC is generally 
recommended as the appropriate parameter to use. This is because the VSC 
depends only on obstruction, and is therefore a measure of the daylit 
environment as a whole”. As such, officers have primarily considered the 
Vertical Sky Component (VSC) instead of the Daylight Distribution results. 
 

9.88 Although the submitted DSR assesses the impact on 155 windows in the whole 
building (hotel and residential) the main area of assessment has focussed on 
the impact on existing residential units. In this regard, a VSC of 27 is 
considered satisfactory, while a 20% reduction (0.8) on existing levels is 
considered to accord with BRE guidance.  
 

9.89 The DSR states that, following scrutiny, the assessment confirms “isolated 
areas of moderate impact bordering on severe”, albeit tempering this with an 
associated conclusion that the Daylight Distribution (DD) results show the 
amount of light received by the occupiers of the building will be satisfactory to 
94% of the property. 
 

9.90 The DSR concludes that the results should be regarded as “positive and not 
out of the ordinary given the context of the dense urban / city centre location 
and the desire to construct a tall building in this location” and that “whilst there 
will inevitably be some degree of impact … our analysis confirms this to be 
small and reasonable. Having due regard to relevant planning policy, it is our 
opinion that the proposal is acceptable from a Daylight and Sunlight 
perspective”. 
 

9.91 Interrogating the data in more detail, there are 60 windows in the Park View 
apartments (serving 21 apartments) and a further 30 windows for the Park 
View apartments (rear).  



 
9.92 Taking the impact on the Park View apartments (rear) first, although 

regrettably no specific details are provided in the DSR about the number of 
units or rooms they serve, of the 30 windows identified, 8 will see their VSC 
reduced by >20%.  However, all of these windows are already compromised 
in terms of the amount of daylight entering the rooms they serve, and would 
already be largely reliant on internal lighting, such that it is not considered 
possible to sustain an objection on such grounds, noting also in particular the 
high density city centre environment.  
 

9.93 Of the 21 Park View apartments, 5 will see their living rooms have a reduction 
in light of >20%, with all of these on the 5th floor. Each of these apartments 
already has a VSC below 27, with the reductions in light for 3 being 2% and 
two much lower at 31%. While a number of other windows serving living rooms 
will fall below 20%, these are served by 2 (or in one case 3) windows which 
remain at acceptable levels, such that these dual aspect apartments will not 
be unacceptably affected by the development. 

 
9.94 As such, a number of the residential Park View units will experience a 

reduction in natural daylight, making them gloomier in aspect. Whilst this will 
create poorer quality living conditions as a result, the site is located in a city 
centre location, where exercising a degree of flexibility as recommended by 
the BRE Report, is considered reasonable in this instance. Within this context, 
the DSR impacts are considered, on balance, to be within reasonable limits. 
 

9.95 In addition, the application has provided an overshadowing analysis which has 
considered the overshadowing impact on the balconies at Park View (north 
and south) in hourly intervals during 21st March. Whilst it is acknowledged that 
there will be some form of overshadowing, the results demonstrate that the 
balconies will continue to enjoy at least 2 hours of direct sunlight between the 
equinoxes, in line with the BRE guidance. In addition, the results highlight that 
overshadowing is already being caused from the adjacent Capital Tower. As 
such, officers consider the overshadowing impact upon the Park View 
balconies to be within reasonable limits.  

 
Impact on Office, Hotel and Commercial Uses:  

 

9.96 Directly adjacent to the site to the west are two office buildings; the 25-storey 
Capital Tower and the 9 storey Principality Building Society building. Both 
buildings have windows on all four elevations including facing the application 
site.  

 
9.97 The applicant has provided a Sun Path Analysis (prepared by Rapleys, dated 

26th March 2024) which has considered the overshadowing impact upon the 
surrounding neighbouring buildings. Officers acknowledge the objection letters 
correctly point out that the in-depth Daylight and Sunlight Report only 
considers the neighbouring residential uses, with only the sun path 
analysis/overshadowing assessment considering the office/hotel uses.  On 
this point, with regard to safeguarding the daylight of nearby buildings, para. 
2.2.2, the Building Research Establishment (BRE) guide ‘Site Layout Planning 



for Daylight and Sunlight: A Guide to Good Practice (2022)’ states that “The 
guidelines given here are intended for use for rooms in adjoining dwellings 
where daylight is required, including living rooms, kitchens, and bedrooms. 
Windows to bathrooms, toilets, storerooms, circulation areas, and garages 
need not be analysed. The guidelines may also be applied to any existing non-
domestic building where the occupants have a reasonable expectation of 
daylight; this would normally include schools, hospitals, hotels and hostels, 
small workshops, and some offices.”  
 

9.98 However, para. 1.6 of the BRE Guidance emphasises that “the guide should 
be interpreted flexibly since natural lighting is only one of many factors in site 
layout design. In special circumstances the developer or planning authority 
may wish to use different target values. For example, in a historic city centre, 
or in an area with modern high-rise buildings, a higher degree of obstruction 
may be unavoidable if new developments are to match the height and 
proportions of existing buildings.” 

 
9.99 Given the objections raised, the case officer undertook a site visit to the 

Principality Building Society and noted that the building benefits from glazing 
from the north, east, south and western elevations and whilst the proposed 
tower will overshadow the eastern elevation, the building will continue to 
benefit from light from the remaining sides. For the side windows closest to 
Greyfriars Place, the majority of the natural light these windows currently 
receive is to the north-east, directly over the proposed development site. As 
these windows are restricted in the existing scenario with Capital Tower, the 
proposal will likely make a noticeable difference to the light received. However, 
having regard to the city centre context, officers have taken the stance that it 
is reasonable to assume that a degree of obstruction is unavoidable. The BRE 
guidance also infers that applying such guidance to offices would be the 
exception (i.e. ‘some’) than the rule. The same approach has been considered 
for the Capital Tower which also benefits from quadruple aspect but will also 
experience overshadowing.  
 

9.100 The submissions do indicate that there will be an impact on light levels 
achieved at the Principality Building Society and Capital Tower, but within the 
above context it is considered that the degree of impact is acceptable insofar 
as the impact relates to commercial offices as opposed to residential 
accommodation. The same applies to the overshadowing impact on the Park 
Plaza Hotel, whereby it is considered that the impact on the hotel use is 
acceptable given the transient nature of the use. The overshadowing of the 
ancillary storage building for the commercial units along Queen Street is also 
considered acceptable in this instance.  
 

9.101 Whilst officers have noted the objections on the basis of a claimed right to light, 
this is a civil matter and so is not a planning consideration.  

 
Overbearing and Overlooking: 
 

9.102 The proposed building will have a 20m separation distance from the front 8 
storey block to the Park Plaza hotel and Park View apartments, which then 



increases to 29.9m to the middle block and 51.1m to the tower element. These 
distances are considered sufficient to ensure there will be no overbearing 
impact or undue sense of enclosure upon the residents of the apartments and 
hotel.  
 

9.103 In addition, paragraph 4.9 of the Infill Sites Supplementary Planning Guidance 
(SPG) (2017) states that a minimum of 21 metres will be required between 
facing windows to habitable rooms on the private side of a development. Whilst 
officers note that the 20m separation distance of facing windows falls 
marginally short of the SPG guidance, this is considered acceptable in this 
urban context, whereby this is a normal street arrangement, so the relationship 
with facing windows is unavoidable. 
 

9.104 The proposal will be positioned directly to the east of the 9 storey high 
Principality Building Society building with the tower shoulder element having a 
17m separation distance from the Principality building. The separation 
distance to the Capital Tower is 22m. Whilst it is acknowledged that the 
proposed building is significantly taller than the existing building, officers 
consider the overbearing impact to be acceptable within this city centre 
context, especially considering it is an office use rather than a residential use. 
The same approach has been considered in relation to the overlooking impact 
into an office use. 
 

9.105 Finally, the proposed building will have a 9.2m separation distance to the 
commercial storage building to the south. The overbearing impact is 
considered acceptable given the nature of the use within the city centre 
context. There will also be no overlooking due to the aforementioned condition 
to obscure the southern elevation windows of levels 2 to 4 of the proposed 
development.  

 
Noise and the Agent of Change Principle: 

 
9.106 The application site is considered a noise-sensitive location as it is within the 

city centre with Cardiff Castle lying in close proximity to the west which hosts 
large scale music events. There are also a number of nightclubs on Greyfriars 
Road, with the associated noise from people queuing and revellers leaving at 
night from taxis (with their door banging). Paragraph 4.3.44 of Planning Policy 
Wales (Edition 12) states that where residential development is proposed next 
to or near existing evening and night-time uses, it will be necessary to consider 
the compatibility of uses and to incorporate mitigation measures to minimise 
any impact on the amenity of any future residents. The agent of change 
principle says that a business or person responsible for introducing a change 
is responsible for managing that change. 
 

9.107 The applicant has provided a Noise Impact Assessment (NIA) (prepared by 
Parker Jones Acoustics, dated 11th May 2023). This has determined ambient 
noise levels affecting the proposed development and background sound levels 
at existing noise sensitive receptors. The Noise Officer however notes that the 
Assessment has not covered all noise sources, such as from early morning 



deliveries, street noise, or live music break-out from the nearby entertainment 
venues. 
 

9.108 Officers seek to promote good acoustic design at the early stages of the 
planning process and do not wish the default position to be ‘double-glazed and 
fitted with mechanical ventilation’ in all schemes. Noting that not all noise 
sources have been considered within the NIA, officers have requested a 
condition for event monitoring to take place. A detailed scheme of noise 
mitigation measures will be provided prior to commencement of development 
(excluding demolition), which will need to be fully informed by the results of a 
representative assessment of the music noise levels from Cardiff Castle during 
two events and at District nightclub. The monitoring will be in accordance with 
a methodology that shall first have been agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, and will set maximum internal noise levels that must be 
achieved when exposed to the music levels during these future events. An 
additional condition is also recommended that will seek to secure a post-
construction assessment to demonstrate that the internal noise limits approved 
under the previous condition are achieved. Finally, a further condition has been 
imposed to demonstrate compliance with the noise mitigation measures and 
results outlined in the Noise Impact Assessment (prepared by Parker Jones 
Acoustics, dated 11th May 2023).   
 

9.109 Vortex shedding (wind noise) has also been considered, whereby the issue of 
‘whistling’ is generally caused by facades which contain gaps or porous 
elements, especially at high levels where they are more exposed to the wind. 
The natural frequency of these less rigid elements can sometimes fall within the 
range of expected vortex shedding frequencies, and when it does this will cause 
whistling or humming. The applicant has stated that the proposed façade is 
designed to not to include any such items, however, if the design changes this 
needs to be taken into account and a qualitative review should be undertaken 
on the final detailed façade design prior to construction of the relevant part. This 
will ensure that the design does not deviate from the current low risk situation. 
As such, a condition has been imposed.  
 

9.110 The Noise Officer has requested operational hour conditions for the proposed 
commercial units to be between 07:00 and 23:00 on any given day. These 
operational hours are not considered to be unreasonable and will not result in 
an unacceptable level of noise disturbance in this location. Servicing hours 
have been restricted to 07:00 to 22:00 on any day to ensure that the amenity 
of future occupiers are protected. Additional conditions imposed relate to plant 
noise, sound insulation for the commercial units and kitchen extraction details.  
 

9.111 Officers have considered the representation raised with regard to the impact 
that the construction side of the development will have on the amenity of local 
occupiers. To ensure the impact of construction is minimised on the 
surrounding area, a Demolition and Construction Environmental Management 
Plan (DCEMP) (which could comprise a separate DEMP and CEMP if 
undertaken as separate operations) has been requested by condition. This will 
address aspects such as general site management, access and traffic 
management, the control of nuisance (noise and vibration etc), dust, dirt and 



air quality management measures, resource management, pollution 
prevention, soil management, biodiversity management and details of persons 
dealing with complaints. An informative has also been applied to remind the 
applicant of the provisions of Section 60 of the Control of Pollution Act 1974 in 
relation to the control of noise from demolition and construction activities. 

 
9.112 In light of the above, subject to the aforementioned conditions, it is considered 

that the amenity of the future occupiers and any neighbouring occupiers within 
the vicinity, will be sufficiently protected. 
 
Other Matters Impacting Upon Amenity: 
 

9.113 Finally, officers have noted the objections raised regarding the potential for anti-
social behaviour relating to the student accommodation use. A condition has 
therefore been imposed for a Residential Management Scheme which will 
include all aspects associated with the management of the occupiers, a method 
of dealing with complaints, and appropriate controls put in place to react and 
respond to any issues that may arise. This shall also include the management 
of the communal amenity terrace. Such a condition will therefore ensure that 
any potential impacts arising from the nature of occupancy can be controlled. 
 

e. Transportation, Servicing and Waste 
 
Public Realm Works: 
 

9.114 This is a large-scale proposal, where the introduction of 585 bedspaces will 
place increased pressure on the surrounding pedestrian environment. Planning 
Policy Wales, paragraph 4.1.19 states that “Well-designed, people orientated 
streets are fundamental to creating sustainable places and increasing walking, 
cycling and use of public transport. New development should improve the 
quality of place and create safe, social, attractive streets where people want to 
walk, cycle and enjoy”. LDP Policy KP6 (New Infrastructure) seeks that new 
developments make appropriate provision for, or contribute towards, necessary 
infrastructure required as a consequence of proposed development, including 
public realm improvements. 
 

9.115 Work is currently being undertaken to upgrade the public realm throughout the 
city centre in order to provide an improved pedestrian environment. A condition 
has therefore been imposed to ensure a scheme of public realm improvement 
works are proposed to the footways and carriageway abutting the site on 
Greyfriars Road and Greyfriars Place, providing a more desirable pedestrian 
connection to the Dominions Arcade rear entrance. The works will include 
surfacing, kerbs, edging, drainage, lighting, lining, signing, telematics, traffic 
orders, trees, soft landscaping and street furniture as required as a 
consequence of the scheme. The scheme will be delivered to ensure that a 
number of the existing disabled parking spaces will be retained and will 
consider the existing servicing arrangements to the surrounding buildings. The 
works will be delivered through a Section 278 and have been calculated to cost 
approximately £490,000.  
 



9.116 In addition, a Section 106 contribution of £204,761 has also been sought for 
highway improvement works to Greyfriars Road which is part of the Councils 
Northern Bus Corridor. This contribution will help to enhance this street by 
providing much needed improvements to the bus infrastructure.  
 
Car Parking: 
 

9.117 The proposed development is car free and as such does not include any on-
site resident or employee car parking. Policy T5 of the adopted LDP requires 
development to accord with the council parking standards, as outlined in the 
approved SPG. Paragraph 6.1 of the approved Managing Transportation 
Impacts SPG states that “the availability of parking spaces and their location 
can influence travel choices. Excessive provision can serve to stimulate 
demand for car travel and perpetuate reliance on the car. The application of 
parking standards to new developments is therefore an important tool in 
managing demand for travel by car and encouraging a shift to sustainable 
transport modes”. The aforementioned SPG uses maximum parking standards 
(as required by Planning Policy Wales), and there is no minimum amount of 
car parking that has to be provided. 
 

9.118 The absence of any car parking proposed is therefore considered to be policy 
compliant and welcomed. This is also due to the sustainable location within an 
easy level walk of Queen Street railway station (circa 440m south-east), and 
on the doorstep of extensive bus services on Greyfriars Road and Churchill 
Way. Car share is also available on Churchill Way and there is extensive taxi 
rank provision alongside and nearby the site. There is also walkable access to 
all the service, amenities, employment, university, and leisure facilities that 
such a central location affords. The site is therefore considered to be extremely 
sustainably located in transport terms and somewhere where walking, cycling, 
and public transport offer viable alternatives to the ownership and use of 
private cars. 
 
Cycle Parking:  
 

9.119 Cycle parking is proposed on the ground floor in a segregated secure cycle 
store with a separate access directly to/from Greyfriars Road. The store 
proposes 212 cycle parking spaces in what are two-tier bike racks. Officers 
require the inclusion of a proportion of Sheffield/ground based stands for 
inclusivity reasons to ensure people with a physical impairment or an electric 
cycle can push their cycle in and out of a horizontal cycle parking space rather 
than lifting a cycle on and off a cycle rack. As such, further details will be 
required by condition to ensure that there is a minimum of 20% accessible 
stands with appropriate manoeuvring distances. The submitted plans also show 
external Sheffield cycle stands, in the form of two groups of four stands 
(providing a total 16 cycle spaces), located on the Greyfriars Road and 
Greyfriars Place frontage of the building. While the number of proposed internal 
cycle parking spaces for the student accommodation use is slightly below the 
usual standard applied to this form of development, the proposal is nonetheless 



considered acceptable given the sustainable, walkable location of the 
development.  

 
Servicing and Waste:  

 
9.120 Servicing will be provided from the street, in a similar way to the site was 

previously managed and as is currently the case for the majority of the city 
centre. Separate secure refuse and cycle store provision and entrances are 
also provided on the ground floor level, to the south and north of the building 
respectively. The principle of servicing from street is well established in the city 
and it is noted that Crockherbtown Lane is utilised for servicing by businesses 
adjacent to the site, helping to keep service vehicles away from established 
pedestrian areas.  
 

9.121 The applicant has confirmed that refuse collections will be through a private 
licensed contractor with bi-weekly collections for food containers and weekly 
collections for the larger waste. Given that the waste will be managed by a 
private contractor, the Waste Officer has raised no objection. Notwithstanding 
this, a Servicing and Waste Management Plan has been imposed as a condition 
to ensure that the servicing and waste protocols, procedures and facilities will 
allow for the minimal potential for pedestrian and vehicular conflict.  

 
9.122 As such, the proposals are considered to be appropriate for the location and 

acceptable in transport and servicing terms. Officers are satisfied that the 
proposed development can be accommodated without causing detriment to the 
surrounding highway network, subject to both a Demolition and Construction 
Environmental Management Plan and is well placed to take advantage of 
sustainable travel choices. A Resident Management and Travel Plan has been 
requested through a condition.  

 
f. Microclimate  

 
9.123 The application is supported by a Wind Microclimate Assessment (prepared by 

Wardell Armstrong, dated December 2023).  Officers note that this assessment 
states that the amended scheme has not been remodelled to determine 
accurate wind impacts. Instead, the variations to the wind have been assumed 
based on the experience of the authors.  
 

9.124 An area that was previously considered unsafe is the mid-section of the roof 
terrace on level 11.  Wind mitigation measures have therefore been included in 
the form of a 1.65m high glass balustrade and landscaping features.  The 
authors of the Assessment have noted that mitigation has therefore been 
‘quantified’ through the submitted roof terrace landscape plan. As such, it has 
been confirmed that it is not anticipated that there will be any necessity for 
closure of the roof terrace due to unsafe conditions. Notwithstanding this, a 
wind mitigation scheme has been conditioned, to ensure appropriate revised 
wind modelling is undertaken to ensure that the terrace is safe to be open at all 
times.  
 

9.125 It has been identified that Greyfriars Place is already affected by its 



neighbouring built form and with the proposal included, the environment will be 
remain an area which is negatively impacted by wind with regards to being 
comfortable for pedestrians. Paragraph 4.2.21 of the supporting Assessment 
also determines that the area which is currently used for disabled and 
ambulance parking will be impacted by wind, making the street uncomfortable. 
The most recent changes to the building relating to its revised scale and mass 
however has improved some areas which had been previously identified as 
being unsafe. Nonetheless, areas within the southwest corner of the building 
and within an area next to Crockherbtown Lane appear to be the most affected 
where the design of the building and position to the back of pavement fails to 
provide areas of shelter, unlike what is proposed facing the remainder of 
Greyfriars Place.  

 
9.126 The report summary states that the changes to the design proposed in 

December 2023 are not expected to worsen and that the updated design is 
expected to improve conditions or be neutral in respect of the previous 
results.  Whilst it is regrettable that updated wind modelling has not been 
provided to reflect the amended scheme, officers are satisfied that sufficient 
wind mitigation measures can be delivered through a condition.    
 

g. Biodiversity  
 
9.41 Future Wales Policy 9 Resilient Ecological Networks and Green Infrastructure 

requires developers to ensure the enhancement of biodiversity, the resilience 
of ecosystems and provision of green infrastructure. In all cases, action towards 
securing the maintenance and enhancement of biodiversity (to provide a net-
benefit), the resilience of ecosystems and green infrastructure should be 
demonstrated as part of development proposals. 
 

9.42 The conservation of native wildlife habitats and the safeguarding of protected 
species is discussed in Planning Policy Wales (PPW) (Edition 12). New 
development opportunities have an important part to play in creating new 
opportunities to enhance biodiversity, prevent biodiversity losses, or 
compensate for losses where damage is unavoidable. Improving habitat 
connectivity through promoting wildlife corridors, whilst ensuring development 
minimises species and habitat impact, are also important considerations.  
 

9.43 Paragraph 6.4.5 of PPW (2021) states that “Planning authorities must seek to 
maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of their functions. This means 
development should not cause any significant loss of habitats or populations of 
species, locally or nationally and must provide a net benefit for biodiversity”. 
 

9.44 The application is supported by an Ecological Assessment (prepared by 
Wessex Ecological Consultancy, dated January 2024) which notes that the 
existing site is composed of built land of limited ecological value. A Preliminary 
Roost Assessment is required by condition to ensure that the favourable 
conservation status of bats is maintained. Noting the Planning Policy Wales 
extract above, the proposals have sought to provide a net benefit for 
biodiversity by providing a green roof, new trees and associated soft 
landscaping at street level and on the communal amenity terrace. Full 



landscaping proposals are to be delivered through a condition to ensure the 
proposal delivers this net gain in biodiversity.  
 

h. Sustainability / Energy 
 

9.45 Future Wales Policy 16 emphasises that large scale mixed-use development 
should, where feasible, have a heat network with a renewable / low carbon or 
waste heat energy source. Policy 17 (Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and 
Associated Infrastructure) outlines support for developing renewable and low 
carbon energy at all scales. 
 

9.46 PPW (para 5.8.1) states that “the planning system should support new 
development that achieves high energy performance, supports 
decarbonisation, tackles the causes of the climate emergency and adapts to 
the current and future effects of climate change through the incorporation of 
effective mitigation and adaptation measures”. 
 

9.47 LDP Policy EN12 (Renewable Energy and Low Carbon Technologies) requires 
major development to maximise the potential for renewable energy. The council 
will encourage developers to incorporate schemes which generate energy from 
renewable and low Carbon technologies. 
 

9.48 The application is supported by an Energy Statement Report (prepared by 
Hydrock, dated May 2023, ref FRY-HYD-XX-XX-RP-MEP-0004) in relation to 
energy efficiency. This seeks to design an efficient building using a fabric first 
approach and the energy shall be supply by an appropriate low carbon 
technology.  
 

9.49 The report states that “the recommended approach is to adopt a largely passive 
design (fabric-first approach) which involves designing to reduce the need for 
energy consumption from the outset. This includes aspects such as improved 
insulation and air permeability standards to reduce the need for heating and 
cooling and the use of natural ventilation where possible in place of fans”. 
 

9.50 “The second step is to deliver the building’s energy as efficiently as possible, 
providing efficient building services and high-performance appliances, such as 
high-efficiency lighting, demand-controlled ventilation, and ventilation heat 
recovery strategies. The final step is to generate energy from low or zero-
carbon technologies. This should only be considered as a final measure 
following the ‘insulate then generate’ philosophy due to capital cost and the 
complexity of technology.” 
 

9.51 The report has considered the most appropriate solutions in terms of technical, 
functional, and economic viability. Photovoltaic panels and Air Source Heat 
Pumps have been considered viable options. Officers would support these 
measures being implemented and have therefore imposed a condition to 
ensure an appropriate energy strategy is provided detailing the final options 
proposed.  

 



10 PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 
 
10.1 Policy KP7 (Planning Obligations) states that “planning obligations will be 

sought to mitigate any impacts directly related to the development and will be 
assessed on a case by case basis in line with Planning Policy Guidance”. 
 

10.2 The supporting text emphasises that new development often generates 
additional demands upon existing services, facilities, infrastructure and the 
environment, with planning obligations being a means of seeking contributions 
from developers towards these demands, as well as negotiating benefits that 
improve the standard of development proposals by providing necessary 
infrastructure and community benefits. 
 

10.3 The Planning Obligations SPG sets out the Council’s approach to planning 
obligations when considering applications for development in Cardiff, providing 
further guidance on how the policies set out in the LDP are to be implemented. 
 

10.4 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 came into force on 6th 
April 2010 in England and Wales. They introduced limitations on the use of 
planning obligations (Reg. 122 refers), and state that a planning obligation may 
only legally constitute a reason for granting planning permission if it is: (a) 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; (b) directly 
related to the development; and (c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind to the development. 
 

10.5 In view of the type and form of development proposed, having regard to local 
circumstances and needs arising from the development, the need for planning 
obligations which are considered necessary to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms and to meet the policy and legislative tests for 
planning obligations are considered below. 
 

10.6 The following planning obligations has been requested to mitigate any 
significant adverse impacts of the proposed development and to provide 
essential, enabling and necessary infrastructure as defined within LDP policies 
KP6 (New Infrastructure) and KP7 (Planning Obligations): 
 

CONTRIBUTION REQUEST (£) 

Public Open Space 319,719 

Community Facilities 274,230.40 

Economic Development 85,945 

Off-Site Public Realm 

Improvements 
204,761 

TOTAL 884,655.40 



S278 Works Est 490,000 

 
10.7 The applicant has confirmed their acceptance of the obligations. 

 

10.8 Having regard to the legal and policy test outlined above, it is clear that the 
requested monies are necessary and reasonable to mitigate the impacts of the 
proposed development and thus ensure that the proposal accords with planning 
policy.   

 

11 OVERALL ASSESSMENT – ‘THE PLANNING BALANCE’  
 

11.1 PPW11 refers to the need to assess the Sustainable Benefits of Development 
and (at 2.27) emphasises that Planning authorities should ensure that social, 
economic, environmental and cultural benefits are considered in the decision-
making process and assessed in accordance with the five ways of working to 
ensure a balanced assessment is carried out to implement the Well-being of 
Future Generations Act and the Sustainable Development Principle. 
 

11.2 There may be occasions when one benefit of a development proposal 
outweighs others, and in such cases robust evidence should be presented to 
support these decisions, whilst seeking to maximise contributions against all 
the well-being goals. 
 

11.3 Key factors in the assessment process include: 
 

• Social Considerations, including: - who are the interested and affected 
people and communities; who will benefit and suffer any impacts from the 
proposal; 

• what are the short and long-term consequences of the proposal on a 
community; 

• Economic Considerations including: - the numbers and types of long term 
jobs expected to be created or retained; whether, and how far, the 
development will help redress economic disadvantage or support 
regeneration priorities, for example by enhancing local employment 
opportunities; 

• Cultural Considerations including: - how far the proposal supports the 
conditions that allow for the use of the Welsh language; whether or not the 
development protects areas and assets of cultural and historic significance; 
have cultural considerations and their relationships with the tourism industry 
been appropriately maximised; and 

• Environmental Considerations including: - will important features of the 
natural and built environment be protected and enhanced; are the 
environmental impacts of development on health and amenity limited to 
acceptable levels and the resilience of ecosystems improved. 

 
11.4 At 2.29 it further refers to the need to have an integrated approach to balancing 

priorities against policy on an individual basis, which enables the full range of 



costs and benefits over the lifetime of development to be taken into account. 
 

11.5 Section 5 of PPW11 provides further emphasis on the need to develop 
‘Productive and Enterprising Places’ which promote our economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being by providing well-connected employment 
and sustainable economic development. 
 

11.6 The role of the Local Planning Authority is therefore to balance the weight to be 
attributed to each of the positive and negative impacts of the development and 
come to a balanced conclusion as to whether the development is acceptable or 
not. 
 

11.7 The application has been subject to extensive negotiations between the 
developer and Council Officers throughout. However, the final scheme is 
brought forward by the applicant as a viable and deliverable investment in the 
city centre.   
 

11.8 As identified within the assessment above, it is accepted that a tall building 
within this city centre location will inevitably have impacts upon the setting of 
heritage assets.  In this instance, the report acknowledges a moderate adverse 
impact on the setting of Cardiff Castle from Castle Street, City Hall (both Grade 
I listed) and Brannigans (Grade II listed) and a minor adverse impact on the 
setting of the New Theatre (Grade II listed). There is also considered to be a 
moderate adverse impact upon the setting of the Windsor Place Conservation 
Area (CA), a moderate/minor adverse impact on the setting on the Cathays 
Park CA and a minor adverse impact on the St Mary St CA from certain 
viewpoints.  The report also acknowledges the need to pay special regard to 
the importance of protecting such assets and their settings. 
 

11.9 Furthermore, the impact on daylight to the residential apartments at Park View 
directly to the north of the site is also acknowledged.  All of the above matters 
have been carefully considered against the positive aspects of the 
development.  

 
11.10 In recommending that the application be approved, the following matters have 

been considered:  
 

• The development of high quality, high rise, purpose built student 
accommodation will include a significant amount of new occupants that will 
contribute positively to the vitality, attractiveness and viability of the city 
centre, increasing footfall in the area and supporting businesses by serving 
the daytime and nighttime economy.  
 

• The development also introduces commercial units at ground floor which 
has the potential to animate what is currently a poor quality environment 
and will create a stronger and much needed improvement to the 
streetscene, through delivery of public realm / wider environmental 
improvements around the site, connecting to Dominions Arcade.  

 

• Bringing back into beneficial use a brownfield site has positive benefits in 



terms of sustainability as well as meeting national and local policies in 
terms of land use, biodiversity, and active travel. 

 

• The scheme is also policy compliant in delivering the required financial and 
other contributions towards community infrastructure as well as supporting 
economic development initiatives through the Section 106 obligations 
identified above. 

 
11.11 These matters have all been considered in the wider planning balance, and for 

all of the above reasons, and subject to conditions and the legal agreement, the 
application is considered to be policy compliant, and its benefits are considered 
to outweigh the identified impacts outlined within the report. 

 
12 CONCLUSION 

 
12.1 The decision to recommend planning permission has been taken in accordance 

with Section 38 of The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which 
requires that, in determining a planning application the determination must be 
in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. The Development Plan comprises the Cardiff Local 
Development Plan (2006–2026) adopted January 2016.  
 

12.2 The application proposes a high quality building with associated regeneration 
benefits, which promotes the efficient use of land on a highly sustainable site 
and makes a positive contribution to student accommodation supply. The site 
is considered, on balance, to be one which can accommodate a sensitively 
designed building of significant height. The elevational treatment of the tower is 
considered to be of a high quality which will provide the site with its own 
distinctive character. Finally, the proposed commercial units will help create 
vibrancy and activity at street level and the public realm improvements will 
provide substantial public benefits.  
 

12.3 The proposals have been assessed against local and national policies and 
guidance. Whilst not all the identified concerns could be resolved, there are 
clear benefits of the scheme which are considered to outweigh the concerns. It 
is therefore recommended that planning permission be granted, subject to the 
recommended conditions and relevant parties entering into a Section 106 
Agreement. Accordingly, the proposed development is considered, on balance, 
to be acceptable and in accordance with local and national policies. 
 

13 LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS  
 

13.1  Crime and Disorder Act 1998: Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
imposes a duty on the Local Authority to exercise its various functions with due 
regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the need to 
do all that it reasonably can to prevent, crime and disorder in its area. This duty 
has been considered in the evaluation of this application. It is considered that 
there would be no significant or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as 



a result of the proposed decision. 
 

13.2 The Equality Act 2010 identifies a number of ‘protected characteristics’, namely 
age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or 
belief; sex; sexual orientation; marriage and civil partnership. The Council’s 
duty under the above Act has been given due consideration in the determination 
of this application. It is considered that the proposed development does not 
have any significant implications for, or effect on, persons who share a 
protected characteristic. 
 

13.3 Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2016: Section 3 of this Act 
imposes a duty on public bodies to carry out sustainable development in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle to act in a manner which 
seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising 
the ability of future generations to meet their own needs (Section 5). This duty 
has been considered in the evaluation of this application. It is considered that 
there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of 
wellbeing objectives as a result of the recommended decision.  
 

13.4 Statutory pre-application public consultation: The statutory pre-application       
public consultation was carried out in accordance with legislation and is 
considered acceptable. 

 
14. RECOMMENDATION 
 

RECOMMENDATION 1: That, subject to relevant parties entering into a binding 
legal agreement with the Council under the provisions of a SECTION 106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990, within 6 months of the date of this 
Resolution unless otherwise agreed by the Council in writing, in respect of 
matters detailed in Section 10 of this report, planning permission be GRANTED 
subject to the conditions listed below. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 2: That delegated authority is given to the Head of 
Planning &/or Operational Manager: Strategic Development & Placemaking, to 
make changes to the conditions and/or Heads of Terms of the required legal 
agreement, subject to consultation with the Chair of Planning, up to the point 
where the legal agreement is signed and planning permission issued.  

 
 CONDITIONS 
  

1. The development shall begin no later than five years from the date of this 
decision.  

 
Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans and documents:  
 



Proposed Basement Plan W0677_0149 Rev C 

Ground Floor Plan with Survey 
Information 

W0677_0178 Rev C 

Ground Floor Layout W0677_0220 Rev A 

Site Layout Plan_Proposed W0677_1002 Rev A 

Layout_Proposed_Level 01 W0677_0221 Rev A  

Layout_Proposed_Level 02 W0677_0222 

Layout_Proposed_Level 03 W0677_0223 

Layout_Proposed_Level 04 W0677_0224 

Layout_Proposed_Level 05 W0677_0225 

Layout_Proposed_Level 06 W0677_0226 

Layout_Proposed_Level 07 W0677_0227 

Layout_Proposed_Level 08 W0677_0228 

Layout_Proposed_Level 09 W0677_0229 

Layout_Proposed_Level 10 W0677_0230 

Layout_Proposed_Level 11 W0677_0231 Rev A 

Layout_Proposed_Level 12 W0677_0232 

Layout_Proposed_Level 13 W0677_0233 

Layout_Proposed_Level 14 W0677_0234 

Layout_Proposed_Level 15 W0677_0235 

Layout_Proposed_Level 16 W0677_0236 

Layout_Proposed_Level 17 W0677_0237 

Layout_Proposed_Level 18 W0677_0238 

Layout_Proposed_Level 19 W0677_0239 

Layout_Proposed_Level 20 W0677_0240 

Layout_Proposed_Level 21 W0677_0241 

Layout_Proposed_Level 22 W0677_0242 

Layout_Proposed_Level 23 W0677_0243 

Layout_Proposed_Level 24 W0677_0244 

Layout_Proposed_Level 25_Roof  



Layout_Proposed_Level 25 W0677_0245 

Layout_Proposed_Level 26 W0677_0246 

Layout_Proposed_Level 27 W0677_0247 

Layout_Proposed_Level 28_Roof W0677_0248 

Elevations_Proposed_North W0677_0320 

Elevations_Proposed_East W0677_0321 

Elevations_Proposed_South W0677_0322 

Elevations_Proposed_West W0677_0323 

Elevations_Proposed_North_Internal W0677_0326 

Elevations_Proposed_South_Internal W0677_0327 

Lighting_Proposed_North Elevation W0677_0350 Rev A 

Lighting_Proposed_East Elevation W0677_0351 Rev A 

Lighting_Proposed_South Elevation W0677_0352 Rev A 

Lighting_Proposed_West Elevation W0677_0353 Rev A 

Layout_Proposed_Level 00_Inc 
Survey Information 

W0677_0178_B 

Topographical Survey  

Adaptability Statement W0677_0270 

 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory completion of the development and for the 
avoidance of doubt in line with the aims of Planning Policy Wales to promote 
an efficient planning system. 
 
Pre-Commencement Conditions: 
 

3. Demolition Environmental Management Plan: No development shall 
commence until such time as a Demolition Environmental Management Plan 
(DEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The DEMP shall include as a minimum the following details: 
 
- General Site Management: hours of work on site; hours for deliveries, 

loading and unloading; construction compounds, temporary facilities for 
construction / sales staff; site hoardings and means of enclosure to prevent 
unauthorised access; 

- Access and Traffic Management: site access and manoeuvring; vehicle and 
cycle parking for site operatives and visitors, site deliveries, loading and 
unloading of plant and materials, wheel wash facilities, measures to ensure 
that pedestrian access past the site on public footpaths is safe and not 
obstructed during construction works or details of any safe temporary 



pedestrian routes; advisory access routes to the site; 
- A construction Site Management and Access plan detailing construction 

compounds and storage, site hoardings and means of enclosure, site 
access, parking and materials storage; 

- Control of Nuisances: identification of construction and demolition noise and 
vibration sources; details of restrictions to be applied during construction 
and demolition to minimise noise and vibration emissions, for example 
timing, duration and frequency of works; 

- Details of dust, dirt and air quality management measures (including dust 
suppression measures and methods to monitor emissions of dust); 

- Resource Management: details of materials (including oil, fuel, cementitious 
materials and chemicals) storage, containment, bunding and/or appropriate 
buffer zones; details of waste generation and its management/ recycling/ 
disposal; 

- Pollution Prevention: demonstrate how relevant Guidelines for Pollution 
Prevention and best practice will be implemented, including details of 
emergency spill procedures and incident response plan; 

- Construction Drainage Scheme, indicating how surface water and land 
drainage flows will be controlled during the construction period and this will 
include preventing surface water/contamination entering drains, any 
filtering/trapping and de-watering devices; 

- Methods of dealing with complaints; 
- Details of the persons and bodies responsible for activities associated with 

the DEMP and emergency contact details; 
- The location of a large notice board on the site that clearly identifies the 

name and contact details of the site manager; 
- Soil management: Details of topsoil strip and storage. Amelioration for re-

use; 
- A risk assessment of potentially environmental harmful activities/operations 

which includes on Green/Blue Infrastructure; 
- The procedure for incidental finds (noting that works would require a licence 

if a European Protected Species is identified). 
 

The DEMP shall be implemented as approved during the site preparation, 
demolition and construction phases of the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure necessary management measures are agreed prior to 
commencement of the development and implemented for the protection of the 
environment, biodiversity and amenity of the area and adjoining neighbours 
during construction, in accordance with Policies T1, T5, EN5, EN6, EN7, EN8 
and EN13 of the adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-2026) 
 

4. Preliminary Roost Assessment: No development shall commence (including 
any works of demolition) until such time as a Preliminary Roost Assessment 
(PRA) (together with the results of any additional recommended surveys) has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (see 
informative 6).  

If the PRA or subsequent surveys identify the presence of bats, immediately 
prior to the commencement of works, a toolbox talk shall be given to operatives 



to ensure they are aware of the legislation and procedures during inspections 
and if a bat is located. All documents relating to surveys, inspections and 
toolbox talks shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority within one month 
of such request being made in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
 
Reason: To ensure surveys are undertaken when safe to do so and to ensure 
the favourable conservation status of bats is maintained, in accordance with the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and 
Policies EN5, EN6, EN7 and KP16 of the adopted Cardiff Local Development 
Plan (2006-2026). 
 
Action Conditions: 
 

5. Construction Environmental Management Plan: No development shall 
commence (other than works involved in the demolition of the existing building) 
until such time as a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
CEMP shall include as a minimum the following details: - 
 
- General Site Management: hours of work on site; hours for deliveries, 

loading and unloading; construction compounds, temporary facilities for 
construction / sales staff; site hoardings and means of enclosure to prevent 
unauthorised access; 

- Access and Traffic Management: site access and manoeuvring; vehicle and 
cycle parking for site operatives and visitors, site deliveries, loading and 
unloading of plant and materials, wheel wash facilities, measures to ensure 
that pedestrian access past the site on public footpaths is safe and not 
obstructed during construction works or details of any safe temporary 
pedestrian routes; advisory access routes to the site; 

- A construction Site Management and Access plan detailing construction 
compounds and storage, site hoardings and means of enclosure, site 
access, parking and materials storage; 

- Control of Nuisances: identification of construction and demolition noise and 
vibration sources; details of restrictions to be applied during construction 
and demolition to minimise noise and vibration emissions, for example 
timing, duration and frequency of works;  

- Details of dust, dirt and air quality management measures (including dust 
suppression measures and methods to monitor emissions of dust); 

- A specific Piling Methodology Statement highlighting the chosen 
methodology and mitigation and to limit such operations to agreed hours;  

- Resource Management: details of materials (including oil, fuel, cementitious 
materials and chemicals) storage, containment, bunding and/or appropriate 
buffer zones; details of waste generation and its management/ recycling/ 
disposal; 

- Pollution Prevention: demonstrate how relevant Guidelines for Pollution 
Prevention and best practice will be implemented, including details of 
emergency spill procedures and incident response plan; 

- Construction Drainage Scheme, indicating how surface water and land 
drainage flows will be controlled during the construction period and this will 
include preventing surface water/contamination entering drains, any 



filtering/trapping and de-watering devices; 
- Methods of dealing with complaints; 
- Details of the persons and bodies responsible for activities associated with 

the CEMP and emergency contact details; 
- The location of a large notice board on the site that clearly identifies the 

name and contact details of the site manager; 
- Soil management: Details of topsoil strip and storage. Amelioration for re-

use; 
- A risk assessment of potentially environmental harmful activities/operations 

which includes on Green/Blue Infrastructure; 
- The procedure for incidental finds (noting that works would require a licence 

if a European Protected Species is identified). 
 

The CEMP shall be implemented as approved during the site preparation, 
demolition and construction phases of the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure necessary management measures are agreed prior to 
commencement of the development and implemented for the protection of the 
environment, biodiversity and amenity of the area and adjoining neighbours 
during construction, in accordance with Policies T1, T5, EN5, EN6, EN7, EN8 
and EN13 of the adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-2026). 
 

6. Material Samples: Notwithstanding the submitted details (condition 2), prior to 
their use on site samples of all external finishing materials (to include, where 
requested, construction of a sample panel on site) shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory finished appearance to the development, in 
accordance with Policy KP5 of the adopted City of Cardiff Local Development 
Plan (2006-2026). 
 

7. Architectural Detailing: Notwithstanding the submitted details (condition 2), 
prior to commencement of work on the external elevations, drawings showing 
the architectural detailing of the elevations and the depths of the reveals shall 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall be implemented in full accordance with the agreed 
architectural details. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory finished appearance to the development, in 
accordance with Policy KP5 of the adopted City of Cardiff Local Development 
Plan (2006-2026). 
 

8. Lighting Strategy: Notwithstanding the submitted details (condition 2), prior to 
commencement of work on the external elevations, details of a lighting strategy 
shall have been submitted and approved in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved details shall be implemented on site before the 
occupation of the units hereby approved and shall thereafter be retained.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory finished appearance to the development, in 



accordance with Policy KP5 of the adopted City of Cardiff Local Development 
Plan (2006-2026). 
 

9. Student Traffic Management and Active Travel Plan: Notwithstanding the 
submitted documents, no part of the student accommodation hereby permitted 
shall be occupied until a Student Traffic Management and Active Travel Plan, 
to include but not limited to, the management of student arrival and departure 
at the start and end of term(s), restriction on students bringing and using cars 
while tenants, and the promotion of walking, cycling, public transport and other 
alternatives to the ownership and use of private cars has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In the interest of sustainability and to limit the impact of the 
development on use of the adjacent highway, in accordance with Policy T1 of 
the adopted City of Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-2026). 
 

10. Cycle Parking: No development shall take place (other than works involved in 
the demolition of the existing building) until such time as details showing the 
provision of the proposed 212 space cycle parking facility (to include a minimum 
of 20% accessible stands), including the layout, dimensions and spacing of the 
proposed stands, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved details shall be implemented prior to the 
development being put into beneficial use. Thereafter the cycle parking spaces 
shall be maintained and shall not be used for any other purpose.  

 
Reason: To ensure that adequate provision is made for the sheltered and 
secure parking of cycles, in accordance with Policy T5 of the adopted City of 
Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-2026). 
 

11. Highway Public Realm Works: Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no later 
than six months following the commencement of the development hereby 
authorised, a final scheme of public realm improvement works to the footways 
and carriageway abutting the site on Greyfriars Road, Greyfriars Place and 
Crockherbtown Lane (to be delivered under section 278), shall be submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority for its approval in writing. The scheme shall include 
a timetable for implementation, and include details of surfacing, kerbs, edging, 
drainage, lighting, lining, signing, telematics, Traffic Orders, trees, soft 
landscaping and street furniture as required as a consequence of the scheme.  
 
The building hereby approved shall not be brought into beneficial use until such 
time as the scheme of public realm improvement works has been approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, and the agreed scheme shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved timescales.  
 
Reason: To ensure the reinstatement of the public highway and provide an 
improved public realm environment to facilitate safe commodious access to and 
use of the proposed development, in accordance with Policies KP5, T1 and T5 
of the adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-2026). 
 



12. Servicing and Waste Management Plan: Prior to the beneficial use of the 
building, a Servicing and Waste Management Plan shall have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall 
identify all servicing protocols, procedures, and related facilities and equipment, 
for all types of delivery and collection services and for the collection and 
disposal of all residential and commercial waste for the building, and the 
building shall thereafter be serviced in accordance with the approved plan.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the servicing protocols, procedures and facilities will 
allow for the minimal potential for pedestrian and vehicular conflict, in 
accordance with Policies W1 and T5 of the adopted Cardiff Local Development 
Plan (2006-2026). 

13. Soft Landscaping: Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no later than six 
months following the commencement of the development hereby authorised, 
full details of soft landscaping, including rooftop landscaping, shall be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. These details shall 
include: 

• A soft landscaping implementation programme. 

• Scaled planting plans prepared by a qualified landscape architect, 
horticulturist or garden designer (details of tree, shrub, hedge and woody 
climber planting may be provided by an arboriculturist). 

• Evidence to demonstrate that existing and proposed services, lighting, 
CCTV, drainage and visibility splays will not conflict with proposed 
planting. 

• Schedules of plant species, sizes, numbers and densities prepared by a 
qualified landscape architect, horticulturist or garden designer (details of 
trees, shrubs, hedging and woody climbers may be provided by an 
arboriculturist). 

• Scaled tree pit and rooftop planter sectional and plan drawings prepared 
by a qualified arboriculturist, landscape architect, horticulturist, or garden 
designer, that show the Root Available Soil Volume (RASV) as per the 
Cardiff Council Green Infrastructure Supplementary Planning Guidance, 
for each tree/shrub and expressed in cubic metres. 

• Topsoil and subsoil specification for all planting types, including full 
details of soil assessment in accordance with the Cardiff Council Soils 
and Development Technical Guidance Note (Soil Resource Survey and 
Plan), soil protection, soil stripping, soil storage, soil handling, soil 
amelioration, soil remediation and soil placement to ensure it is fit for 
purpose. Where imported planting soils are proposed, full specification 
details shall be provided including the parameters for all imported 
planting soils to demonstrate they are suitable for the specific landscape 
type(s) proposed. Parameters shall include profile depths, textural 
range, nutrient status, pH on placement, drainage performance and 
other factors relevant to their functionality in supporting the landscape 
type.  



• Planting methodology and minimum 10-year post-planting aftercare 
methodology prepared by a qualified landscape architect, horticulturist 
or garden designer (details on tree, shrub, hedge and woody climber 
planting may be provided by an arboriculturist) including full details of 
how they will oversee landscaping implementation and report to the 
Local Planning Authority to confirm compliance with the approved plans 
and specifications. 

• The technical specification for the proposed biodiverse green roof (as 
identified on LA2 Rev A Landscape Plan Floor 11 Roof terrace) as 
prepared by a qualified landscape architect, horticulturist or garden 
designer.  

The submitted details shall be consistent with the approved plans and the 
landscaping shall be carried out in accordance with the approved design and 
implementation programme.  
 
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to determine that the proposals 
will maintain and improve the amenity and environmental value of the area, and 
to monitor compliance, in accordance with Policies EN8 and KP5 of the adopted 
Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-2026). 
 

14. Data Shelf Life: If site clearance in respect of the development hereby approved 
does not commence (or, having commenced, is suspended for more than 12 
months) within 2 years from the date of the planning consent, all the approved 
ecological measures and those secured through other planning conditions and 
ecological reports, shall be reviewed and, where necessary, amended and 
updated, with careful consideration of new ecological receptors. The review 
shall be informed by update or full further ecological surveys commissioned to 
i) establish if there have been any changes in the presence and/or abundance 
of habitats and species (ii) identify any likely new ecological impacts that might 
arise from any changes and (iii) and identify any changes to legislation, policy 
or best practice that may alter the conclusions of the assessment.  
 
Where the survey results/desk study indicate that changes have occurred that 
will result in ecological impacts, having not been previously addressed in the 
approved scheme, the original approved ecological measures will be revised. 
New or amended measures and a timetable for their implementation, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
commencement of development. Works shall then be carried out in accordance 
with the new approved ecological measures and timetable. If a current 
ecological report suggests the reassessment of a particular feature before 2 
years, that recommendation takes precedence.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the assessment of the impacts of the development 
upon the species concerned, and any measures to mitigate those impacts, are 
informed by up-to-date information, in accordance with Policies KP16, EN4 and 
EN8 of the adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-2026). 
 

15. Ecological Enhancement: No part of the development hereby approved shall 
be brought into beneficial use until a scheme of ecological enhancement 



measures covering green infrastructure to individual ecological receptors have 
been implemented, in accordance with details which shall first have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  A drawing 
indicating the location of the enhancements and photographic evidence they 
have been installed, both close up and at a distance, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority no later than one month 
after the buildings first beneficial use. 
 
Reason: To comply with the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, to maintain and 
enhance biodiversity and promote the resilience of ecosystems, the Section 6 
duty. Future Wales – The National Plan 2040 - Policy 9, Planning Policy Wales 
Chapter 6 and Policies KP16, and EN4 to EN8 of the adopted Cardiff Local 
Development Plan (2006-2026) and the Cardiff Green Infrastructure SPG 
Ecology and Biodiversity Technical Guidance Note (2017). 
 

16. Potable Water Scheme: No development shall take place (other than works 
involved in the demolition of the existing building) until such time as a potable 
water scheme to serve the site has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall demonstrate that the existing 
water supply network can suitably accommodate the proposed development 
site. If necessary, a scheme to reinforce the existing public water supply 
network in order to accommodate the site shall be delivered prior to the 
occupation of any building. Thereafter, the agreed scheme shall be constructed 
in full and remain in perpetuity. 
 
Reason: To ensure the site is served by a suitable potable water supply, in 
accordance with Policy EN10 of the adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan 
(2006-2026). 
 

17. Energy Strategy: No development shall take place (other than works involved 
in the demolition of the existing building) until such time as an amended Energy 
Strategy has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Energy Strategy shall outline how the development will 
incorporate renewable and low carbon technology and reduce electric and heat 
consumption.  

 
Thereafter, the development shall accord with the approved details or any 
modifications as may be approved through subsequent discharge of condition 
applications.  
 
Reason: To promote energy efficient and sustainable development in 
accordance with Future Wales, Planning Policy Wales and Policy EN12 of the 
adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-2026). 
 

18. Ground Gas Protection: Prior to the commencement of any development works 
(other than works involved in the demolition of the existing building), a scheme 
to investigate and monitor the site for the presence of gases* being generated 
at the site or land adjoining thereto, including a plan of the area to be monitored, 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for its approval. 
 



Following completion of the approved monitoring scheme, the proposed details 
of appropriate gas protection measures to ensure the safe and inoffensive 
dispersal or management of gases and to prevent lateral migration of gases 
into or from land surrounding the application site shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing to the Local Planning Authority.  If no protection measures 
are required than no further actions will be required. 
 
All required gas protection measures shall be installed and a verification report 
that demonstrates the effectiveness of the measures carried out must be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before 
occupation of any part of the development.  The approved protection measures 
shall be retained and maintained until such time as the Local Planning Authority 
agrees in writing that the measures are no longer required. 
 
‘Gases’ include landfill gases, vapours from contaminated land sites, and 
naturally occurring methane and carbon dioxide, but does not include radon 
gas.  Gas Monitoring programmes should be designed in line with current best 
practice as detailed in CIRIA 665 and BS 8485:2015+A1:2019  Code of practice 
for the design of protective measures for methane and carbon dioxide ground 
gases for new buildings. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the safety of future occupiers is not prejudiced, in 
accordance with Policy EN13 of the adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan 
(2006-2026). 

 
19. Contaminated Land Measures – Unforeseen Contamination: In the event that 

contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing 
within 2 days to the Local Planning Authority, all associated works must stop, 
and no further development shall take place unless otherwise agreed in writing 
until a scheme to deal with the contamination found has been approved.  An 
investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken and where remediation 
is necessary a remediation scheme and verification plan must be prepared and 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Following 
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a 
verification report must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The timescale for the above actions shall be agreed with 
the Local Planning Authority within 2 weeks of the discovery of any 
unsuspected contamination.  
 
Reason: To ensure that any unacceptable risks from land contamination to the 
future users of the land, neighbouring land, controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems are minimised, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
offsite receptors in accordance with Policy EN13 of the adopted Cardiff Local 
Development Plan (2006-2026). 
 

20. Imported Aggregates: Any aggregate (other than virgin quarry stone) or 
recycled aggregate material to be imported shall be assessed for chemical or 
other potential contaminants in accordance with a scheme of investigation 



which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority in advance of its importation. Only material approved by the Local 
Planning Authority shall be imported. All measures specified in the approved 
scheme shall be undertaken in accordance with the relevant Code of Practice 
and Guidance Notes.  
 
Subject to approval of the above, sampling of the material received at the 
development site to verify that the imported material is free from contamination 
shall be undertaken in accordance with a scheme and timescale to be agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the safety of future occupiers is not prejudiced in 
accordance with Policy EN13 of the adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan 
(2006-2026). 
 

21. Use of Site Won Materials: Any site won material including soils, aggregates, 
recycled materials shall be assessed for chemical or other potential 
contaminants in accordance with a sampling scheme which shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in advance of the 
reuse of site won materials. Only material which meets site specific target 
values approved by the Local Planning Authority shall be reused.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the safety of future occupiers is not prejudiced in 
accordance with Policy EN13 of the adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan 
(2006-2026). 
 

22. Piling: No piling or excavation works on building foundations shall commence 
until details of piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods 
sufficient to demonstrate that there is no unacceptable risk to groundwater have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
piling/foundation designs shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details.  
 
Reason: Piling/foundation details should be submitted to ensure there is no 
unacceptable risk to groundwater during construction and methods/design are 
agreed prior to the commencement of development, in accordance with Policy 
EN13 of the adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-2026). 
 

23. Music Noise Levels Assessment: No development shall commence (other than 
works involved in the demolition of the existing building) until such time as a 
detailed scheme of noise mitigation measures to ensure that Music Noise 
Levels from Cardiff Castle and District nightclub do not cause unreasonable 
impact on the amenity of future residents at all levels of the development, shall 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
As a minimum the scheme shall:  
 
i) be fully informed by the results of representative assessments of Music 

Noise Levels from Cardiff Castle during two events (a DJ event and a 
band event) and an event at District nightclub that must have been 



undertaken in accordance with a methodology that shall first have been 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority; and 

ii) Shall set agreed maximum internal noise levels that must be achieved 
when exposed to Music Noise Levels at the façade of the development 
during future events at Cardiff Castle and District nightclub. 
 

All measures outlined in the detailed scheme of noise mitigation shall be 
implemented in full accordance with the approved details, and thereafter 
retained at all times. 
 
Reason: To ensure the amenity of future occupiers is protected, and (having 
regard to the ‘agent of change’ principle) that the development will incorporate 
sufficient noise mitigation measures to ensure there will no unacceptable 
impact on the pre-existing hospitality operations at Cardiff Castle and District 
nightclub, in accordance with Policies EN13 and KP5 of the adopted Cardiff 
Local Development Plan (2006-2026). 
 

24. Post-Construction Noise Assessment: No later than three months following 
occupation of any residential unit (or other such timescale that might be agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority) a post-construction assessment to 
demonstrate compliance with the maximum internal noise levels set by 
condition 23, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for its approval 
in writing. 
 
Reason: To ensure the amenity of future occupiers is protected, and (having 
regard to the ‘agent of change’ principle) that the development will incorporate 
sufficient noise mitigation measures to ensure there will no unacceptable 
impact on the pre-existing hospitality operations at Cardiff Castle and District 
nightclub, in accordance with Policies EN13 and KP5 of the adopted Cardiff 
Local Development Plan (2006-2026). 
 

25. Internal Noise: Prior to the beneficial occupation of the units, a post-build 
Acoustics Report shall be conducted in order to demonstrate compliance with 
the noise mitigation measures and results outlined in the Noise Impact 
Assessment (prepared by Parker Jones Acoustics, dated 11th May 2023) using 
a full representative data set.  The report shall be submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate that this has been achieved, 
specifically: 
 

• BS8233:2014; 

• 35dB LAeq, 16hour; 

• 30dB LAeq,8hour; 

• 45dB LAFmax not to be exceeded more than 10-15 times per night. 

• 55dB LAeq, 16hour in external amenity space Details of the Mechanical 
Ventilation with Heat Recovery system or other system depending on the 
findings of the AVO survey. 

 
In addition to the above, the report should demonstrate compliance with 
NANR45+NR30 in living areas and NANR45+NR20 in bedrooms. Using 
modified curves by combining the low frequency content between 31.5 Hz and 



160 Hz from NAN45 with NR20 and NR30 between 200 Hz and 8 kHz (refer to 
informative 14). 

 
Reason: To protect the amenity of future occupiers, in accordance with 
Policies EN13 and KP5 of the adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-
2026). 
 

26. Vortex Shedding (Wind Noise): In the event that the elevational design 
treatment is sought to be amended through submission of details under 
conditions (or subsequent applications), a qualitative review shall be 
undertaken by an approved acoustic assessor with a validated certificate of 
compliance, to ensure that the altered design does not deviate from the current 
low risk situation for creating a whistling noise, and such review shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter, the development shall be implemented in full accordance with the 
agreed architectural details. 
 
Reason: To protect the amenity of future occupiers, in accordance with Policies 
EN13 and KP5 of the adopted City of Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-
2026). 
 

27. Sound Insulation: No part of the development hereby approved shall be brought 
into beneficial use until sound insulation works to the floor/ceiling/party wall 
structure between commercial and residential uses and between the plant have 
been implemented, in accordance with a scheme which shall first have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that noise generated from the use of the ground floor 
commercial businesses does not cause a nuisance to the above domestic 
dwellings via sound transfer, in accordance with Policies EN13 and KP5 of the 
adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-2026). 
 

28. Future Gymnasium: Should any gymnasium (ancillary to the primary use) be 
proposed within any part of the building, such a gymnasium shall not be brought 
into beneficial use until such time as a Noise Management Plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The gym 
shall thereafter be operated in full accordance with such approved Noise 
Management Plan. 
 
Reason: To ensure that noise generated from any ancillary gymnasium does 
not cause a nuisance to nearby noise sensitive receptors, in accordance with 
Policies EN13 and KP5 of the adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-
2026). 

 
29. Wind Mitigation Measures: No part of the development hereby approved shall 

be brought into beneficial use until all necessary wind mitigation measures for 
the level 11 roof terrace and the surrounding highways have been implemented, 
in full accordance with a Wind Mitigation Scheme which shall first have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
scheme shall include full details of the size, design and materials (including 



samples where applicable) or species of trees with appropriate Root Available 
Soil Volumes, and shall be informed by additional wind tunnel testing. All 
approved mitigation measures shall thereafter be retained as approved.  
 
Reason: To ensure the amenities of the area are protected in accordance with 
Policy KP5, KP13 and C3 of the Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026. 
 

30. Kitchen Extraction: If at any time the use of the ground floor commercial units 
are to involve the preparation and cooking of hot food, the extraction of all fumes 
from the food preparation areas shall be mechanically extracted to a point to be 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and the extraction system 
shall be provided with a de-odorising filter. Details of the above equipment shall 
be submitted to, and approved by, the Local Planning Authority in writing and 
the equipment installed prior to the commencement of use for the cooking of 
food. The equipment shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the 
manufacturers' guidelines, such guidelines having previously been agreed by 
the Local Planning Authority in writing.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the amenities of occupiers of other premises in the 
vicinity are protected, in accordance with Policy KP5 of the Cardiff Local 
Development Plan (2006-2026). 
 

31. Student Accommodation Management Scheme: Prior to occupation of the 
student accommodation units, a Student Accommodation Management 
Scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. This will include all aspects associated with the management of the 
occupiers, a method of dealing with complaints, and appropriate controls put in 
place to react and respond to any issues that may arise. This shall also include 
the management of the communal amenity terrace.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the amenities of occupiers of other premises in the 
vicinity are protected, in accordance with Policies KP5 and EN13, of the 
adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-2026). 
 
Regulatory Conditions: 
 

32. The residential accommodation hereby approved shall only be occupied by 
students (as part of managed student accommodation) and for no other form of 
residential use, including co-living or serviced accommodation. 
 
Reason: Since any other form of residential occupation, including co-living or 
serviced accommodation, would have different impacts that have not been 
assessed, and/or might require additional mitigation including delivery of 
affordable housing, in accordance with Policies KP5 and H3, of the adopted 
Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-2026). 
 

33. Landscaping Maintenance: Any new planting, seeding or turf laying which 
within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development dies, is 
removed, becomes seriously damaged or diseased, or in the opinion of the 
Local Planning Authority otherwise defective, shall be replaced. 



Replacement planting, seeding or turf laying shall take place during the first 
available planting/seeding season, to the same specification approved in 
discharge of condition 14, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written 
consent to any variation. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area, enhancing 
biodiversity and mitigating the effects of climate change in accordance with 
Policy KP5, KP15 and KP16 of the adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan 
(2006-2026). 
 

34. Servicing Hours for Commercial Units: There shall be no arrival, departure, 
loading or unloading of Heavy and Light Good Vehicles associated with 
operations on the premises outside of the hours of 07:00 and 22:00 from 
Monday to Saturdays and no deliveries on Sundays or public holidays.   
  
Reason: To protect the amenity of future occupiers, in accordance with Policies 
EN13 and KP5 of the adopted City of Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-
2026). 
 

35. Operation Hours for Ground Floor Commercial Units: No member of the public 
shall be admitted to or allowed to remain on the premises outside the hours of 
07:00 and 23:00 from Monday to Sunday. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the amenities of existing and future occupiers are 
protected, in accordance with Policies EN13 and KP5 of the adopted City of 
Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-2026).  
 

36. Plant Noise: The rating level of the noise emitted from fixed plant and 
equipment on the site shall not exceed the existing background noise level at 
any time by more than -10dB(A) at any residential property when measured 
and corrected in accordance with BS 4142: 2014+A1 2019 (or any British 
Standard amending or superseding that standard).  

Reason: To ensure that the amenities of occupiers of other premises in the 
vicinity are protected, in accordance with Policies EN13 and KP5 of the adopted 
City of Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-2026). 
 

37. Takeaway Sales: No takeaway sales shall be permitted in any A3 Use Class 
occupied within the ground floor commercial units.  

Reason: To protect the amenities of adjacent occupiers, in accordance with 
Policy KP5 of the adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-2026). 
 

38. Active Frontages: All glazing installed at ground level fronting Greyfriars Road 
and Greyfriars Place shall at all times retain an active frontage with no 
application of any stickers, vinyl or advertisements within the windows which 
prevent views into the building. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the windows allow for an active frontage for enhanced 
animation at street level, in accordance with Policy KP5 of the adopted Cardiff 
Local Development Plan (2006-2026).  



 
39. Obscure Glazing: Prior to beneficial use of the development hereby approved, 

the windows on the southern elevation from levels 2 to 4 shall be obscurely 
glazed and thereafter so maintained.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the privacy of neighbouring occupiers in accordance 
with Policy KP5 of the adopted Cardiff Local Development Plan (2006-2026).  
 

Informative 1: The applicant is advised that section 3.25 of Planning Policy Wales 
states that the land use planning system should take account of the conditions which 
are essential to the Welsh language and in so doing contribute to its use and the 
Thriving Welsh Language well-being goal. In this context and with regard to the Welsh 
Language (Wales) Measure 2011, it is recommended that: (1) developments adopt a 
Welsh name that is consistent with the local heritage and history of the area, (2) during 
the construction phase, on site marketing information (i.e. text on construction 
hoardings / flags / banners - as consented) be provided bilingually and (3) for 
commercial developments, shopfront / premises signage be provided in Welsh or 
bilingually. Where bilingual signage is provided, Welsh text must not be treated less 
favourably in terms of size, colour, font, prominence, position or location (it is 
recognised that Welsh translation does not extend to company / business names). 
Cardiff Council's Bilingual Cardiff team (BilingualCardiff@cardiff.gov.uk) can provide 
advice on unique and locally appropriate Welsh names for developments, bilingual 
marketing / branding and bilingual signage. 
 
Informative 2: The Public Realm works, along with any other works to the existing 
public highway, are to be subject to S278 Highways Act 1980 agreements between 
the developer and Council. All works to be completed in accordance with the approved 
plans and to the satisfaction of the Council. 
 
Informative 3: The applicant is advised to liaise with South Wales Police and contact 
Mike Harvey (Michael.Harvey2@south-wales.pnn.police.uk). 
 
Informative 4: Should bats be identified in trees/a buildings, a European protected 
species (EPS) licence would be required for this development. This development 
approval does not provide consent to undertake works that require an EPS licence. It 
is an offence to deliberately capture, kill or disturb EPS or to damage or destroy their 
breeding sites or resting places. If found guilty of any offences, you could be sent to 
prison for up to 6 months and/or receive an unlimited fine. To undertake the works 
within the law, you would first need to obtain an EPS licence from Natural Resources 
Wales (NRW), and no work can be undertaken until this is received. You can obtain 
further information on the need for a licence and how to apply from NRW on 0300 065 
3000 or at https://naturalresources.wales/permits-andpermissions/species-
licensing/when-you-need-to-apply-for-a-protected-species-licence/?lang=en. You will 
need the services from an NRW bat licenced ecologist to produce the licence and 
subsequently supervise the works. The licence holder is usually the developer, who 
will hold legal responsibility for undertaking the works as agreed in documents with 
NRW.  
 
Informative 5: Should birds be found nesting on the roof of this building or in the 
internal structure where works are required that could cause direct harm or 

mailto:Michael.Harvey2@south-wales.pnn.police.uk
https://naturalresources.wales/permits-andpermissions/species-licensing/when-you-need-to-apply-for-a-protected-species-licence/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/permits-andpermissions/species-licensing/when-you-need-to-apply-for-a-protected-species-licence/?lang=en


disturbance, all work must cease until the nesting attempt is complete. All birds are 
protected under Section 1, Paragraph 1 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended). This makes it an offence amongst other things to intentionally kill a wild 
bird, destroy a nest (including when being built) or the eggs of a wild bird. Therefore, 
if works to the roof/building are required during March to September inclusive, you 
must be sure that works will not impact upon nesting birds, otherwise a survey/or 
watching brief should be undertaken by a suitably experienced ecologist prior to the 
works. 
 
Informative 6: When undertaking the Preliminary Roost Assessment, where the 
potential is low, it may be considered appropriate to undertake an up close visual 
inspection of these features instead, immediately prior to the works, which is most 
likely to be the parapet capping, as undertaken by an NRW bat licenced Ecologist. 
Immediately prior to works commencing, a toolbox talk shall also be given to 
operatives to ensure they are aware of the legislation and procedures during 
inspections and if a bat is located. If features of higher potential are found, emergence 
surveys for bats following Bat Surveys for Professional Ecologists: Good Practice 
Guidelines (4th Edition), shall be undertaken as required.  
 
Informative 7: The contamination assessments and the effects of unstable land are 
considered on the basis of the best information available to the Planning Authority and 
are not necessarily exhaustive.  The Authority takes due diligence when assessing 
these impacts, however you are minded that the responsibility for:  
(i) determining the extent and effects of such constraints; 
(ii) ensuring that any imported materials (including, topsoils, subsoils, aggregates and 
recycled or manufactured aggregates/ soils) are chemically suitable for the proposed 
end use.  Under no circumstances should controlled waste be imported. It is an offence 
under Section 33 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 to deposit controlled waste 
on a site which does not benefit from an appropriate waste management license.  The 
following must not be imported to a development site; 
-    Unprocessed / unsorted demolition wastes. 
-    Any materials originating from a site confirmed as being contaminated or  
      potentially contaminated by chemical or radioactive substances.   
Japanese Knotweed stems, leaves and rhizome infested soils.  In addition to section 
33 above, it is also an offence under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to spread 
this invasive weed; and  
(iii) the safe development and secure occupancy of the site rests with the developer. 
 
Proposals for areas of possible land instability should take due account of the physical 
and chemical constraints and may include action on land reclamation or other remedial 
action to enable beneficial use of unstable land. 
 
The Local Planning Authority has determined the application on the basis of the 
information available to it, but this does not mean that the land can be considered free 
from contamination. 
 
Informative 8: In accordance with Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) and Technical 
Advice Note 12 (Design), the applicant is advised to take a sustainable approach in 
considering water supply in new development proposals, including utilising 
approaches that improve water efficiency and reduce water consumption. We would 



recommend that the applicant liaises with the relevant Local Authority Building Control 
department to discuss their water efficiency requirements. 
The applicant may need to apply to Dwr Cymru / Welsh Water for any connection to 
the public sewer under S106 of the Water industry Act 1991. If the connection to the 
public sewer network is either via a lateral drain (i.e. a drain which extends beyond the 
connecting property boundary) or via a new sewer (i.e. serves more than one 
property), it is now a mandatory requirement to first enter into a Section 104 Adoption 
Agreement (Water Industry Act 1991). The design of the sewers and lateral drains 
must also conform to the Welsh Ministers Standards for Gravity Foul Sewers and 
Lateral Drains, and conform with the publication "Sewers for Adoption"- 7th Edition. 
Further information can be obtained via the Developer Services pages of 
www.dwrcymru.com. 
 
Informative 9: The proposed development is in an area where there are water supply 
problems for which there are no improvements planned within our current Capital 
Investment Programme AMP5 (years 2010 to 2015).  In order to establish what would 
be required to serve the site with an adequate water supply, it will be necessary for 
the developer to fund the undertaking of a hydraulic modelling assessment on the 
water supply network.  For the developer to obtain a quotation for the hydraulic 
modelling assessment, Dwr Cymru Welsh Water will require a fee of £250 + VAT. 
The applicant is also advised that some public sewers and lateral drains may not be 
recorded on our maps of public sewers because they were originally privately owned 
and were transferred into public ownership by nature of the Water Industry (Schemes 
for Adoption of Private Sewers) Regulations 2011.  The presence of such assets may 
affect the proposal.  In order to assist us in dealing with the proposal the applicant may 
contact Dwr Cymru Welsh Water on 0800 085 3968 to establish the location and status 
of the apparatus. Under the Water Industry Act 1991 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water has 
rights of access to its apparatus at all times. 
 
Informative 10: To protect the amenities of occupiers of other premises in the vicinity 
attention is drawn to the provisions of Section 60 of the Control of Pollution Act 1974 
in relation to the control of noise from demolition and construction activities. Further to 
this the applicant is advised that no noise audible outside the site boundary adjacent 
to the curtilage of residential property shall be created by construction activities in 
respect of the implementation of this consent outside the hours of 0800-1800 hours 
Mondays to Fridays and 0800 - 1300 hours on Saturdays or at any time on Sunday or 
public holidays. The applicant is also advised to seek approval for any proposed piling 
operations. 
 
Informative 11: The applicant should note that the structure [insert identifying details 
here if required] may be considered “enclosed” or “substantially enclosed” premises 
as defined within the Smoke-free Premises etc. (Wales) Regulations 2007 and 
therefore smoking would not be permitted within that structure/section of premises. 
  
The regulations as define enclosed and substantially enclosed premises as follows: 
  
- Enclosed premises: premises are considered to be enclosed if they have a ceiling or 
roof, and except for doors, windows and passageways, are wholly enclosed, whether 
on a permanent or temporary basis. 
  

http://www.dwrcymru.com/


- Substantially enclosed premises: premises are considered to be substantially 
enclosed if they have a ceiling or roof, but there are openings in the walls which are 
less than half of the total area of walls (including other structures which serve the 
purpose of walls and constitute the perimeter of the premises). When determining the 
area of an opening, no account can be taken of openings in which doors, windows or 
other fittings can be opened or shut. 
  
- Roof includes any fixed or movable structure or device which is capable of covering 
all or part of premises as a roof – this would include retractable canvas awnings. 
  
Further advice on the ban on smoking in public places and the Smoke-free Premises 
etc. (Wales) Regulations 2007 can be obtained from the Health Improvement Team 
on 029 2087 1840. The applicant may also wish to seek legal advice on the likely 
compliance of the structure with the requirements of this legislation. 
 
Informative 12: Should archaeological remains be encountered, the applicant is 
required to notify the Gwent-Glamorgan Archaeological Trust in the first instance as 
mitigation will likely be required.  
 
Informative 13: The developer should consider the need for the provision of:- 
 
a. adequate water supplies on the site for firefighting purposes; and 
b. access for emergency firefighting appliances 
 
Should the applicant require further information in relation to these matters they 
should contact D. Thomas at firesafety@southwales-fire.gov.uk.  
 
Informative 14: The post-build Acoustics Report as requested by condition shall be 
conducted in accordance with: 
 
• British Standards Institution (2014). BS 8223:2014, Guidance on sound insulation 

and noise reduction on buildings. BSI: London, UK 

• University of Salford, 2011. Proposed criteria for the assessment of low 
frequency nose disturbance. December 2011. 

 
 
 

mailto:firesafety@southwales-fire.gov.uk


Cardiff Council:  Development Control : Applications Decided between 04/03/2024 and 29/03/2024

Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

ADAMSDOWN

Land Adjacent To 82 
Diamond Street
Adamsdown
Cardiff
CF24 1NR

Mr Simon Davis To Construct a new lock up 
storage units (retaining existing 
car park space) to land 
adjacent to 82 Diamond Street 
Adamsdown Cardiff

04/03/202423/02420/FUL 17/10/2023 FUL Refuse Minor - Other 
Principal Uses

Proposed 
Development Site 
Agate Street
Adamsdown
Cardiff
CF24 1PF

Tristan Hobbs Discharge of Conditions 11 
(Bird Nesting), 12 (Bat and Bird 
Boxes) and 13 (Reptile 
Mitigation Strategy) of 
21/01595/MJR

19/03/202423/01018/DOC 05/07/2023 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

33 System Street
Adamsdown
Cardiff
CF24 0JG

Mr Douglas White Change of use from a 3 
bedroom dwelling (C3 use) to a 
5 bedroom House in Multiple 
Occupation (C4 use) with 
associated works.

13/03/202424/00029/FUL 05/01/2024 FUL Refuse Minor - Other 
Principal Uses

BUTETOWN

Merchant Place And 
Corys Building
3 Bute Place And 57 
Bute Street
Butetown
Cardiff
CF10 5AD

Cardiff Sixth Form 
Dukes Eduction

Discharge of Condition 20 
(Roof Insulation) of 
22/02204/LBC

05/03/202424/00276/DOC 08/02/2024 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

The Big Windsor 
Stuart Place
Butetown
Cardiff
CF10 5BU

Malik Kay Painted lettering signs to 
ground floor elevations

28/03/202424/00146/ADV 23/01/2024 ADV Permission 
Granted

Advertisements A
genda Item

 6



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

Phase 2
Plot 2
Central Quay At 
Former Brewery Site
Crawshay Street
Butetown
Cardiff

Mr Barney 
Dawson

Proposed Non-Material 
Amendment to Planning 
Permission 21/02884/MJR to 
amend the wording of condition 
4 (public realm works) to allow 
the wider construction works to 
commence prior to the 
discharge of the condition and 
for alterations to the obscurely 
glazed panels and minor layout 
changes

06/03/202423/00837/NMA 20/04/2023 NMA Permission 
Granted

Non Material 
Amendment

Phase 2
Plot 1
Central Quay At 
Former Brewery Site
Crawshay Street
Butetown

Mr Barney 
Dawson

Proposed Non-Material 
Amendment to Planning 
Permission 21/02883/MJR to 
amend the wording of condition 
4 (public realm works) to allow 
the wider construction works to 
commence prior to the 
discharge of the condition and 
for alterations to the obscurely 
glazed panels and minor layout 
changes

06/03/202423/00838/NMA 20/04/2023 NMA Permission 
Granted

Non Material 
Amendment

Railway Overbridge
Bute Street
Butetown
Cardiff

Dr Sarwan Sumon Part Discharge of Condition 4 
(Repairs to the Brickwork from 
the Temporary Works) of 
23/00878/LBC - Bullet Point 2 
(Mortor Specification).

06/03/202424/00469/DOC 29/02/2024 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

Techniquest 
Stuart Street
Butetown
Cardiff
CF10 5BW

Lesley Kirkpatrick Extension to existing building on 
the west terrace.

11/03/202424/00086/FUL 15/01/2024 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - Other 
Principal Uses



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

Former Site Of Anchor 
Industrial Estate
Dumballs Road
Butetown
Cardiff
CF10 5FF

Martin Pollett Discharge of Condition 8 
(Residential Travel Plan) of 
21/02462/MJR

19/03/202423/02945/DOC 19/12/2023 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

Phase 2
Plot 2
Central Quay At 
Former Brewery Site
Crawshay Street
Butetown

Mr Barney 
Dawson

Discharge of Condition 14 
(Cycle Parking) of 
21/02884/MJR.

19/03/202423/02757/DOC 27/11/2023 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

Central Quay (Former 
Brains Brewery Site) 
Crawshay Street
Cardiff
CF10 5DS

Mr Barney 
Dawson

Discharge of Condition 14 
(Cycle Storage) of 
21/02883/MJR

19/03/202423/02718/DOC 27/11/2023 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

13 Windsor Esplanade
Cardiff Bay
Cardiff
CF10 5BG

Cox SINGLE STOREY REAR 
GROUND FLOOR 
EXTENSION

27/03/202419/00992/DCH 25/03/2019 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

13 Windsor Esplanade
Cardiff Bay
Cardiff
CF10 5BG

Cox SINGLE STOREY REAR 
GROUND FLOOR 
EXTENSION

27/03/202419/00993/DCH 22/03/2019 LBC Permission 
Granted

Listed Buildings

Merchant Place And 
Corys Building
3 Bute Place And 57 
Bute Street
Butetown
Cardiff
CF10 5AD

Cardiff Sixth Form 
Dukes Education

Discharge of Condition 24 
(Windows) of 22/02204/LBC.

27/03/202423/02853/DOC 06/12/2023 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

Red Dragon Centre 
And County Hall

Atlantic Wharf

Cardiff

Discharge of Condition 9 (Soil 
Resource Plan) of 
23/01705/VAR

27/03/202424/00185/DOC 26/01/2024 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions from 
EIA Case

Cardiff Coastal Flood 
Defences. The Severn 
Estuary Coastline And 
East And West Banks 
Of The River Rhymney
Cardiff

Mr Simon Dooley Discharge of Condition 10 
(Biosecurity Risk Assessment) 
of 21/02138/MJR

27/03/202423/02609/DOC 02/11/2023 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

General 
Regulations

Merchant Place And 
Corys Buildings
3 Bute Place And 57 
Bute Street
Butetown
Cardiff
CF10 5AD

Cardiff Sixth Form 
Dukes Education

Discharge of Condition 6 (Foul 
Drainage) of 22/02201/FUL.

05/03/202424/00148/DOC 23/01/2024 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

CAERAU

17 Brundall Crescent
Caerau
Cardiff
CF5 4RU

Mr Lee Andrews Retention of new single storey 
extension as built to rear of 
property

05/03/202423/00639/HSE 04/05/2023 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

17 Brundall Crescent
Caerau
Cardiff
CF5 4RU

Me Lee Andrews Retention of decked rear 
platform and glazed screen to 
rear of new lean to extension

05/03/202423/02179/HSE 21/09/2023 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

CANTON



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

327B Cowbridge Road 
East And Land 
Adjacent
Canton
Cardiff
CF5 1JD

Mr Rhodri Evans Change of use from A1 to A3 
at 327B Cowbridge Road East 
and change of use of land 
adjacent to A3 with retention of 
semi temporary wooden 
covered customer area

26/03/202423/02852/FUL 14/12/2023 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - Retail 
(A1-A3)

10 Thompson Avenue
Canton
Cardiff
CF5 1EX

Mr Jones Take down existing 
conservatory roof structure and 
replace with proposed flat roof 
structure with insertion of flat 
roof windows, with all 
associated external works.

08/03/202424/00179/HSE 30/01/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

31 Bartley Wilson Way
Canton
Cardiff
CF11 8EN

Mr Erdal Kaya Retention of Porch and Front 
Boundary Wall

20/03/202423/02514/HSE 27/10/2023 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

17 Pen-y-peel Road
Canton
Cardiff
CF5 1QX

Ferguson Proposed hip to gable roof with 
a rear dormer and external 
alterations.

08/03/202423/02992/HSE 04/01/2024 HSE Refuse Householder

40 Lansdowne Avenue 
West
Canton
Cardiff
CF11 8FS

Mr Phil Dooley Demolition of existing Rear 
Lean-To Extension and Porch 
and construction of Single 
Storey Rear Extension and 
new single Storey Porch and 
external alterations.

04/03/202424/00159/HSE 08/02/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

31 York Street
Canton
Cardiff
CF5 1ND

Steve Bond Construction of outbuilding 
following demolition of existing 
garage with external and 
internal alterations.

22/03/202424/00158/HSE 24/01/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

CATHAYS



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

Rear Of 33-34 Park 
Place
Cathays Park
Cardiff
CF10 3TN

Russel DEMOLITION OF BOUNDARY 
WALL AND CONSTRUCTION 
OF A RESIDENTIAL BUILDING 
WITH A3 USE AT GROUND 
LEVEL WITH 10 FLATS AND A 
ROOFTOP PENTHOUSE 
APARTMENT

12/03/202422/00990/MJR 18/05/2022 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - 
Dwellings (C3)

56 May Street
Cathays
Cardiff
CF24 4EY

Mr D Jeffreys Ground floor rear extension, 
rear dormer and Velux. Change 
of Use to Sui Generis large 
HMO

14/03/202423/02056/FUL 05/09/2023 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - 
Dwellings (C3)

18 The Hayes
Cathays
Cardiff
CF10 1AH

Various Eateries 
Trading Ltd

Discharge of Conditions 5 
(Photographic Sample of the 
Proposed Fluted Glass 
Window Film), 7 (Details of the 
Applied Glazing Beads) and 8 
(Details of the Glazed Timber 
Door) of 22/02443/LBC.

14/03/202424/00546/DOC 08/03/2024 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

72 - 76 Queen Street
Cathays
Cardiff
CF10 2XG

Burlington Ltd Proposed Non - Material 
Amendment to Planning 
Permission 23/02426/FUL - 
Re-positioning of plant due to 
structural issues with approved 
location.

08/03/202424/00530/NMA 05/03/2024 NMA Permission 
Granted

Non Material 
Amendment

6 Pentyrch Street
Cathays
Cardiff
CF24 4JX

Mr Rupert James Proposed Single Storey Rear 
Extension, Rear Dormer Loft 
Conversion/ extension and 
internal alteration works.

08/03/202424/00101/HSE 16/01/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

Cardiff School Of 
Bioscences
Cardiff University
Park Place
Cathays
Cardiff
CF10 3NU

McLean The installation of a 
replacement flue on the Sir 
Martin Evans Building.

05/03/202424/00198/FUL 01/02/2024 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - Other 
Principal Uses

Barcelo Angel Hotel 
Castle Street
Cathays
Cardiff
CF10 1SZ

Minhoco 35 Ltd Discharge of Conditions 4 
(Ground Gas Protection), 5 
(Contamination Land Measures 
- Assessment), 6 
(Contamination Land Measures 
- Remediation and Verification 
Plan), 11 (Noise Assessment), 
12 (Sound Insulation), 13 
(Archaeology - Written Scheme 
of Investigation) and 14 
(Drainage Details) of 
18/01877/MJR

28/03/202423/01110/DOC 25/05/2023 DOC Partial 
Discharge of 
Condition (s)

Discharge of 
Conditions

21-22 Park Place
Cathays Park
Cardiff
CF10 3DQ

James DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 
4 (MATERIAL SAMPLES) OF 
18/03009/MJR

05/03/202421/01714/MJR 15/07/2021 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

Hodge House 
Guildhall Place
Cathays
Cardiff
CF10 1EB

Temporary advert to rear of 
building to advertise office 
space to let.

27/03/202424/00537/ADV 06/03/2024 ADV Permission 
Granted

Advertisements

National Museum And 
Gallery Of Wales 
Gorsedd Gardens 
Road
Cathays
Cardiff
CF10 3NP

Mr Paul Morgan Recladding of North elevation 
of East Stair Tower using terne 
coated steel cladding with 
welted joints in place of flat 
TCS cover strips.

27/03/202423/00038/LBC 06/01/2023 LBC Permission 
Granted

Listed Buildings



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

80 Flora Street
Cathays
Cardiff
CF24 4EQ

Mr T Flanagan Change of use of dwelling (C3) 
to House in Multiple Occupation 
(C4), with rear ground and first 
floor extensions and rear 
dormer

25/03/202423/02939/FUL 18/12/2023 FUL Refuse Minor - Other 
Principal Uses

92 Maindy Road
Cathays
Cardiff
CF24 4HQ

Mr Lawrence 
Cosgrove

Retention of change of use 
from class C4 HMO to large 
sui generis HMO.

25/03/202424/00272/FUL 22/02/2024 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - 
Dwellings (C3)

Harlech Court 
Bute Terrace
Cathays
Cardiff
CF10 2FE

Proposed demolition of Harlech 
Court office block, restaurant, 
ramp and podium.

20/03/202424/00400/PRNO 21/02/2024 PRNO Permission 
required

Other Consent 
Types

25 Grand Arcade
St David's Dewi Sant 
Cathays
Cardiff
CF10 2ER

Mr Mike Freeman New Fascia Sign for Shopfront. 15/03/202424/00466/ADV 29/02/2024 ADV Permission 
Granted

Advertisements

CREIGIAU AND ST FAGANS

Plasdwr Parcel 2E/2F 
Of Phase 1
North West Cardiff

Taylor Wimpey Plc DISCHARGE OF 
CONDITIONS 63 (DETAILED 
SURFACE WATER DRAINAGE 
SCHEME) AND 64 (DETAILED 
FOUL DRAINAGE SCHEME) 
OF OUTLINE PERMISSION 
14/02733/MJR IN RESPECT 
OF AREA COVERED BY 
RESERVED MATTERS 
APPLICATION 21/00826/MJR 
(PARCEL 2E/2F OF PHASE 1)

20/03/202421/02111/MJR 16/09/2021 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

Phase 2E/2F
North West Cardiff

Taylor Wimpey Plc DISCHARGE OF 
CONDITIONS 46 (ENERGY 
STRATEGY), 48 (TREE 
ASSESSMENT), 49 (SOIL 
RESOURCE SURVEY), 59 ( 
TRAFFIC NOISE), 62 
(ARCHAEOLOGY) AND 65 
(DETAILED POTABLE WATER 
SCHEME) OF OUTLINE 
PERMISSION 14/02733/MJR 
IN RESPECT OF THE AREA 
COVERED BY RESERVED 
MATTER APPLICATION 
21/00826/MJR (PARCEL 2E/F 
OF PHASE 1)

15/03/202421/01762/MJR 16/07/2021 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

CYNCOED

209 Cyncoed Road
Cyncoed
Cardiff
CF23 6AJ

Mr Ray Lawrence Pruning of English Oak- crown 
lift over Rannoch Drive to a 
height of 5.2m, reduce crown 
to obtain 1-2m separation from 
lamp column located within 
footway of Rannoch Drive, 
crown lift to 3.5m over private 
vehicular acess from Rannoch 
Drive to 209 Cyncoed Road 
and remove ivy and any 
deadwood over 50mm in 
diameter

13/03/202424/00522/WTTPP 29/02/2024 WTTPP GRANT - 
Works to 
Trees

Other Consent 
Types

53 Rhyd Y Penau 
Road
Cyncoed
Cardiff
CF23 6PY

Marcel Baybus Hip to gable loft conversion 
with dormer extensions and 
rear facing balcony, demolish 
and rebuild rear extension and 
conservatory, and demolish 
and rebuild garage as new 
habitable annexe with garden 
store

05/03/202423/00712/HSE 31/03/2023 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

327 Cyncoed Road
Cyncoed
Cardiff
CF23 6PD

Mohammed 
Merzook

Ground floor rear extension 07/03/202424/00014/HSE 08/01/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

Clearwater Falls 
Clearwater Way
Cyncoed
Cardiff
CF23 6DL

Proposed Non-Material 
Amendment to Planning 
Permission 20/00153/MJR- 
The addition of a retractable 
canopy on half of unit 2, unit 
3-5, 7 and 8 and add a ramped 
access to the rear of units 8 & 
9.

14/03/202423/02933/NMA 17/01/2024 NMA Permission 
Granted

Non Material 
Amendment

13 Cyncoed Rise
Cyncoed
Cardiff
CF23 6SF

Mr Simon Gould To remove two Ash (Fraxinus 
excelsior), T7 and T8 as per 
report, due to poor condition, 
exhibiting early stage 
symptoms of Ash Dieback 
Disease

27/03/202424/00550/WTTPF 04/03/2024 WTTPF GRANT - 
Works to 
Trees

Other Consent 
Types

Cardiff Metropolitan 
University Cyncoed 
Campus 
Cyncoed Road
Cyncoed
Cardiff
CF23 6XD

Proposed Non-Material 
Amendment to Planning 
Permission 13/00897/DCO - 
Replacement of existing 
luminaires with LED luminaires.

15/03/202424/00318/NMA 14/02/2024 NMA Permission 
Granted

Non Material 
Amendment

21 Llandennis Road
Cyncoed
Cardiff
CF23 6EE

Mr Nesh Palmer Works to reduce the lower 
canopy on the NW side of an 
Alder tree by up to 2m, due to 
encroachment of proposed 
new build development works

11/03/202424/00554/WTTPP 27/02/2024 WTTPP GRANT - 
Works to 
Trees

Other Consent 
Types

40 Bryn-gwyn Road
Cyncoed
Cardiff
CF23 6PQ

Stephen and Jodie 
Jay

Front, side and rear infill 
extensions with re-modelled hip 
to gable roof, raised ridge and 
side dormers

11/03/202423/02176/HSE 21/09/2023 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

62 Bettws-y-coed 
Road
Cyncoed
Cardiff
CF23 6PN

Crown reduction of up to 2m on 
the west and south side of a 
Quercus robur and 3m on the 
north and east crown. To 
reduce wind loading and 
leverage.

27/03/202424/00585/WTTPP 11/03/2024 WTTPP GRANT - 
Works to 
Trees

Other Consent 
Types

21 Cyncoed Place
Cyncoed
Cardiff
CF23 6SG

Mr Balaz Altordai T1 oak crown reduction of 1.5 
to 2 meters. Oak tree suffers a 
degree of altered exposure, 
basal decay.

19/03/202424/00481/WTTPP 28/02/2024 WTTPP GRANT - 
Works to 
Trees

Other Consent 
Types

ELY

42 Fonmon Crescent
Ely
Cardiff
CF5 4HE

Mr Aleksander 
Orlov

Single storey side and rear 
extension, rear dormer roof 
extension and addition of 
rooflights to the front roof 
elevation

14/03/202424/00313/CLPUD 13/02/2024 CLPUD Permission 
Granted

Other Consent 
Types

Land Off Cherrydale 
Road
Ely
Cardiff

Mr Matthew 
Davies

Discharge of Conditions 6 
(Imported Topsoil and Subsoil), 
7 (Imported Aggregates), and 
8 (Site Won Materials) of 
21/01785/MNR.

28/03/202424/00444/DOC 05/03/2024 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

FAIRWATER

54 Elderberry Road
Fairwater
Cardiff
CF5 3RH

Miss Sarah 
Marinos And Mr 
Curtis McDonald

Two storey rear and side 
extension.

04/03/202423/02818/HSE 31/01/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

Goch House 
Waterhall Road
Fairwater
Cardiff
CF5 3LL

Rick Theaker Double storey rear extension 
with external and internal 
alterations.

08/03/202424/00196/HSE 29/01/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

59 St Fagans Road
Fairwater
Cardiff
CF5 3AE

Mr + Mrs Christian 
and Kelly Sylvester

Single storey rear extension. 13/03/202424/00236/HSE 05/02/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

17 Llangynidr Road
Fairwater
Cardiff
CF5 3BR

Mr + Mrs Matthew 
Read

Hip to gable roof extension, 
rear dormer roof extension and 
addition of rooflights to front 
roof elevation

13/03/202424/00267/CLPUD 07/02/2024 CLPUD Permission 
Granted

Other Consent 
Types

56B Plas Mawr Road
Fairwater
Cardiff
CF5 3JX

Mr Michael 
Costas-Michael

Subdivision of single 
hairdresser unit into two with 
new shop fronts and single 
storey side extension to 
provide toilet and storage.

14/03/202424/00060/FUL 11/01/2024 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - Retail 
(A1-A3)

Former Cantonian High 
School
Fairwater Road
Fairwater
Cardiff
CF5 3JR

Discharge of Condition 4 
(External Materials) of 
23/01501/FUL

27/03/202424/00410/DOC 22/02/2024 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

77 Ashcroft Crescent
Fairwater
Cardiff
CF5 3RL

Miss Emma 
Trotman - 
Dickenson

Outdoor wooden decking at the 
rear of the garden

25/03/202424/00213/HSE 31/01/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

71 Ferrier Avenue
Fairwater
Cardiff
CF5 3LA

MR & MRS 
ABDOOLLA

Proposed single storey front 
porch and office extension, 
double storey side extension 
and single storey rear 
extension.

25/03/202424/00216/HSE 06/02/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

74 Pwllmelin Road
Fairwater
Cardiff
CF5 2NH

Mr Ryan 
James-Williams

Single storey rear infill 
extension with rear and front 
covered canopies. First floor 
partial front extension.

25/03/202423/02986/FUL 29/12/2023 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - Other 
Principal Uses

GABALFA

161 North Road
Mynachdy
Cardiff
CF14 3AG

Mr Akbar 
Mookhtiar

Conversion of property into 
four self-contained flats. Single 
storey rear and two storey rear 
and side extensions, rear 
dormers, increased width of 
drive way and external 
alterations.

21/03/202424/00005/FUL 10/01/2024 FUL Refuse Minor - 
Dwellings (C3)

90 - 92 Whitchurch 
Road
Gabalfa
Cardiff
CF14 3LY

MR ANAND 
VENGACHERIL

Retain single storey cold room 
built in rear yard.

28/03/202423/02448/FUL 23/10/2023 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - 
Industry/Storag
e/Distribution

117 Clodien Avenue
Gabalfa
Cardiff
CF14 3NN

MR MOHAMMED 
NISAR

Ground floor rear extension 05/03/202424/00141/HSE 01/02/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

GRANGETOWN

Service Station
235 Corporation Road
Grangetown
Cardiff
CF11 7AS

The demolition of existing jet 
wash machines and the 
creation of charging zone, 
erection of EV chargers, 
erection of canopy, one jet 
wash bays, LV panel enclosure 
and associated forecourt 
works.

11/03/202423/01020/FUL 04/05/2023 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - Other 
Principal Uses



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

Former Track 2000 
Site
54B Penarth Road
Grangetown
Cardiff
CF11 6NG

C/O Agent Proposed Non-Material 
Amendment to Planning 
Permission 18/02622/MJR- 
Balconies amended to be 
supported structures with 
structure posts, Smoke Shaft 
raised by 500mm, opening size 
of Automatic Opening Vents 
increased while glazing element 
of aperture reduced, 4no. rear 
bedroom windows reduced, 
AVO at the end of the corridor 
(northern elevation) changed to 
a glazed door, and door into 
the communal terrace changed 
to single leaf opening.

05/03/202423/02942/NMA 19/12/2023 NMA Permission 
Granted

Non Material 
Amendment

Victoria Wharf
Ferry Road
Grangetown
Cardiff

P. Makwana Proposed Non-Material 
Amendment to Planning 
Permission 01/01784/R - 
Facade Changes.

05/03/202424/00175/NMA 25/01/2024 NMA Permission 
Granted

Non Material 
Amendment

24 Llanbradach Street
Grangetown
Cardiff
CF11 7AD

Mr Charles 
Prothero

Conversion of existing property 
to form 3 self-contained duplex 
apartments with on-site cycle 
and refuse storage facilities 
with external alterations.

13/03/202423/02826/FUL 03/01/2024 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - 
Dwellings (C3)

HEATH

78 Manor Way
Whitchurch
Cardiff
CF14 1RJ

Mr & Mrs Stuart 
Scammell

Proposed demolition of existing 
storage shed and single storey 
side extension in its place 
together with internal and 
external alterations.

04/03/202424/00245/HSE 02/02/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

30 Tair Erw Road
Heath
Cardiff
CF14 4QZ

Mr & Mrs Mark 
Bodger

Construction of new single 
storey lean-to side extension 
and associated alterations.

08/03/202424/00085/HSE 22/01/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

2 St Angela Road
Heath
Cardiff
CF14 4DN

Mr Adam Fairman Side apex dormer and hip to 
gable roof to rear

20/03/202424/00211/HSE 08/02/2024 HSE Refuse Householder

3 St Brioc Road
Heath
Cardiff
CF14 4HJ

Mr Chris Gould Demolition of existing garage 
and construction of single story 
side extension.

13/03/202423/02908/HSE 04/01/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

LISVANE AND THORNHILL

Woodlands 
Lisvane Road
Lisvane
Cardiff
CF14 0SG

Mr Gavin Jones T1: Alder, remove hanging 
branch and minor pruning of 
newly exposed branches over 
patio, pruning to natural points 
and removing no more than 1m 
growth.
T2: Oak; remove hanging top, 
leave torn section on main 
stem, reduce remaining crown 
by 2-3m to suitable growth 
points to protect against further 
damage.
G3: 4x Ash, fell/ coppice at 
ground level.

05/03/202424/00242/WTTPFP 02/02/2024 WTTPFP GRANT - 
Works to 
Trees

Other Consent 
Types

22 Astoria Close
Thornhill
Cardiff
CF14 9DQ

Mrs Michelle 
Carwardine

Proposed ground floor front 
extension.

08/03/202424/00174/HSE 25/01/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

6 Crofta
Lisvane
Cardiff
CF14 0EW

Ms Helen 
McMaster

Ground floor side extension. 11/03/202423/02841/HSE 14/12/2023 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

Rear Of 35 Rowan 
Way
Lisvane
Cardiff
CF14 0TD

Mrs Mary Harvey Oak tree overhanging rear of 
35 Rowan Way - to crown lift 3 
lowest branches on the 35 
Rowan Way side to 
approximately 3 - 4.50m above 
ground level.

11/03/202424/00411/WTTPP 16/02/2024 WTTPP GRANT - 
Works to 
Trees

Other Consent 
Types

11 Blossom Drive
Lisvane
Cardiff
CF14 0BE

Mr Emmanouil 
Orfanoudakis

Single and double storey side 
extensions to dwelling, 
extension of garage. (Approved 
14 January 2022 - 
21/02043/DCH):-

Variation of Condition 2 
(Approved Plans and Details) 
of 21/02043/DCH to amend the 
approved scheme as follows: 
1) Change the approved 
drawings with revised drawings 
to replace the Garage door 
with a window and remove the 
two side windows.

13/03/202424/00071/VAR 18/01/2024 VAR Permission 
Granted

Renewals and 
Variation of 
Conditions

6 Gowan Court
Thornhill
Cardiff
CF14 9FL

Mr Dave Rose Requesting for a 20% crown 
reduction. Due to the size and 
lack of maintenance to the 
tree.

27/03/202424/00583/WTTPP 10/03/2024 WTTPP GRANT - 
Works to 
Trees

Other Consent 
Types

66 Clos Llysfaen
Lisvane
Cardiff
CF14 0UP

Mr Mohamed Renewal of application 
18/02607/DCH for the variation 
of Condition 2 (Approved 
Plans) of 17/02555/DCH

13/03/202423/02983/REN 08/01/2024 REN Permission 
Granted

Renewals and 
Variation of 
Conditions

Churchlands Land 
North And East Of 
Lisvane
Lisvane
Cardiff

Mrs Zoe Aubrey Partial Discharge of Condition 
7 (Public Art Strategy) of 
14/02891/MJR

27/03/202423/01533/DOC 27/07/2023 DOC Partial 
Discharge of 
Condition (s)

Discharge of 
Conditions



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

2 Ridgeway
Lisvane
Cardiff
CF14 0RR

Mr Rob Oyston Demolition of garage and 
construction of single storey 
side extension.

13/03/202424/00063/HSE 16/01/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

LLANDAFF

Former Clarke's Yard
306 Western Avenue
Llandaff
Cardiff
CF5 2BG

Mr Tom Young Demolition of existing workshop 
building and erection of 3no. 
dwellings with associated site 
works, including gardens and 
parking

08/03/202423/01130/FUL 19/05/2023 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - 
Dwellings (C3)

12 Palace Road
Llandaff
Cardiff
CF5 2AF

Mr Richard Sibbick Proposed Non-Material 
Amendment to Planning 
Permission 21/01496/DCH- 
design improvements to 
replacement storm door

11/03/202424/00448/NMA 27/02/2024 NMA Permission 
Granted

Non Material 
Householder

Wayside 
22 Llantrisant Road
Llandaff
Cardiff
CF5 2PX

Mr Cooper The demolition of the existing 
vacant dwelling and the 
erection of a part 3-storey, 
part 2-storey building to 
provide 4 flats, parking, 
landscaping and ancillary 
works.

13/03/202423/01772/FUL 02/08/2023 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - 
Dwellings (C3)

Pentir 
71 Cardiff Road
Llandaff
Cardiff
CF5 2AA

Mr Danny 
Hargreaves

Proposed Non-Material 
Amendment to Planning 
Permission 23/02770/HSE- to 
extend the single storey side 
extension and remove the 
single storey glass lean-to 
extension.

18/03/202424/00427/NMA 27/02/2024 NMA Permission 
Granted

Non Material 
Householder



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

32 Blethin Close
Llandaff
Cardiff
CF5 2RR

Ms Gloria Alldridge 
MBE

Loft conversion with raised 
ridge and side dormers.

25/03/202424/00177/HSE 26/01/2024 HSE Refuse Householder

27 Buckley Close
Llandaff
Cardiff
CF5 2DF

Mr Gareth Thomas Proposed single storey rear 
extension and garage 
conversion to craft room with 
external alterations.

28/03/202424/00486/HSE 01/03/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

LLANISHEN

8 White Barn Road
Llanishen
Cardiff
CF14 5HA

Mr Matthew 
Wheeler

Demolition of single storey 
attached outbuilding and 
construct single attached 
garage to side of property 
including entrance and cloak 
room.

04/03/202424/00181/HSE 29/01/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

Llys Pegasus
Ty Glas Road
Llanishen
Cardiff
CF14 5ER

Mr Jan Zalis T1 Elm (�Salix) tree stream 
bank, suppressed specimen 
leaning - to coppice at 0.75m
T2 Alder stream bank, non 
tensile secondary steam union 
at 1m with associated reaction 
regrowth - pollard subordinate 
secondary stem at 7m
G1 Alder stream bank, steams 
leaning over adjacent land - 
pollard tree tag 5017 at 7m to 
reduce weight/wind loading and 
foliage top reduction of 
secondary stem up to 2.5m to 
reduce weight.

20/03/202424/00484/WTTPFP 28/02/2024 WTTPFP GRANT - 
Works to 
Trees

Other Consent 
Types

PENTYRCH AND ST FAGANS



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

St Catwg Church
Church Road
Pentyrch
Cardiff
CF15 9QF

Mrs Ruth Davies Two Ash trees - one has 
evidence of ash die back, 
second is uplifting tombs and 
stones in a conservation area. 
One needs to be felled and the 
other needs to be severely 
pruned

11/03/202424/00552/WTCA 27/02/2024 WTCA GRANT - 
Works to 
Trees

Other Consent 
Types

Phase 3
Land To The North Of 
M4 Junction 33
Creigiau
Cardiff

Darryl Rowlands Proposed Non-Material 
Amendment to Planning 
Permission 22/02014/VAR to 
(a) alter approved engineering 
plan in respect of cycle path, 
retaining walls, step and 
level/under build alterations, 
and (b) alter approved soil type 
for rain gardens

13/03/202423/01394/NMA 22/06/2023 NMA Permission 
Granted

Non Material 
Amendment

Land West Of 
Gateway Linear Park
Plasdwr
South Of Llantrisant 
Road
Radyr
CF5 3RD

. Discharge of Conditions 45 
(Power Lines and Pylons and 
High Pressure Gas Pipes), 48 
(Trees), 49 (Soils), 51 (Ground 
Gas Assessment and 
Mitigation Measures), 52 (Land 
Contamination A: Risk 
Assesment), 62 (Archaeology), 
64 (Detailed Foul Drainage 
Scheme), and 65 (Detailed 
Potable Water Scheme) of 
outline application 
14/02733/MJR in respect of 
the area covered by reserved 
matters application 
23/00053/RES.

08/03/202423/00270/DOC 06/02/2023 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

Land To South Of 
Llantrisant Road 
Parcel 2D Within 
Phase 1 At Plasdwr

Mrs ZOE AUBREY Discharge of Condition 64 
(Detailed Foul Water Drainage 
Scheme) of Outline Planning 
Permission 14/02733/MJR in 
respect of area covered by 
reserved matters application 
23/02365/RES (Parcel 2D of 
Phase 1, Plasdwr).

05/03/202423/02701/DOC 17/11/2023 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

Ynys Bridge Court 
3 Gwaelod-Y-Garth
Cardiff
CF15 9SS

Mallorie New advertisement signage. 20/03/202424/00389/ADV 20/02/2024 ADV Permission 
Granted

Advertisements

Land At Ty Clyd
Heol Goch
Pentyrch
Cardiff
CF15 9PN

Mr Chris Stokes Discharge of Condition 15 
(Details of the Driveway 
Junctions with the Public 
Highway) of 20/00075/MNR

04/03/202423/01577/DOC 17/07/2023 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

Land South Of 
Llantrisant Road
Radyr
Cardiff
CF5 6FR

Discharge of Conditions 45 
(Power lines, pylons and 
high-pressure gas mains), 48 
(Tree Assessment), 62 
(Archaeology), 64 (Detailed 
Foul Drainage Scheme) and 65 
(Detailed Potable Water 
Scheme) of outline planning 
permission 14/02733/MJR in 
respect of area covered by 
reserved matters application 
24/00256/RES (Rhodfa J2-J3, 
Plasdwr).

20/03/202424/00257/DOC 20/02/2024 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

Coed Y Glyn 
Nant Y Ffynnon
St Fagans
Cardiff
CF5 6JB

Mrs Marie Hurley Change of use from land for 
the keeping of horses to dog 
day care

13/03/202423/02068/FUL 08/09/2023 FUL Refuse Minor - Other 
Principal Uses



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

57 Llewelyn Goch
St Fagans
Cardiff
CF5 6HR

Saif Conversion of ground floor 
garage and construction of 
single storey side and rear 
extensions and first floor side 
extension

21/03/202422/02085/HSE 18/01/2023 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

34 Llewelyn Goch
St Fagans
Cardiff
CF5 6HR

Mr James Holland Single storey rear extension. 25/03/202424/00416/HSE 29/02/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

PENYLAN

15 Earl's Court Road
Penylan
Cardiff
CF23 9DD

Mr John Szulik Discharge of Condition 3 
(Biodiversity Enhancement 
Scheme) of 22/02403/HSE.

07/03/202424/00059/DOC 11/01/2024 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

8 Carisbrooke Way
Penylan
Cardiff
CF23 9HS

MRS HUAN DANG Proposed Non-Material 
Amendment to Planning 
Permission 23/02955/HSE- To 
change rear bedroom window 
to a Juliet balcony

05/03/202424/00425/NMA 23/02/2024 NMA Permission 
Granted

Non Material 
Householder

374 Newport Road
Penylan
Cardiff
CF23 9AE

James . Proposed Non-Material 
Amendment to Planning 
Permission 23/00299/FUL- 
Relocation of entrance doors 
and glazing/cladding materials. 
Adjustment of signage features 
cladding materials and fire 
exit/service doors.

05/03/202424/00454/NMA 28/02/2024 NMA Permission 
Granted

Non Material 
Amendment



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

22 Brandreth Road
Penylan
Cardiff
CF23 5NW

Ms Judith 
Petersen

Discharge of Conditions 3 
(External Finishes), 4 (Site 
Enclosure), 5 (Hard and Soft 
Landscaping), 8 (Drainage 
Scheme) and 12 (Cycle 
Parking Facilities) of 
18/01432/MNR

13/03/202423/02427/DOC 19/10/2023 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

Ferny Court
Penylan
Cardiff
CF23 9BU 

Mrs Louise To remove epicormic growth 
through the crowns and stems 
of a row of Lime Trees

27/03/202424/00686/WTTPP 20/03/2024 WTTPP GRANT - 
Works to 
Trees

Other Consent 
Types

32 Ty-draw Road
Penylan
Cardiff
CF23 5HB

Mrs Catherine 
Price

Removal of a leaking chimney 
set into the roof at the side and 
to the rear of the property

27/03/202424/00070/HSE 05/02/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg 
Bro Edern 
Llanedeyrn Road
Penylan
Cardiff
CF23 9DT

Mr Dafydd Brown Installation of a first floor 
extension for three years to an 
existing Portakabin Ltd building 
(approved on 23/00206/FUL) 
and retention of the existing 
ground floor building for a 
period of 3 years.

25/03/202423/01467/FUL 13/07/2023 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - Other 
Principal Uses

29 Mafeking Road
Penylan
Cardiff
CF23 5DQ

Mr Sion Coulman Loft conversion with rear 
dormers

22/03/202423/03002/HSE 04/01/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

13 Southminster Road
Roath
Cardiff
CF23 5AT

Ms Ling Reed Single-storey rear extension. 22/03/202423/02865/HSE 06/12/2023 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

26 Alma Road
Roath
Cardiff
CF23 5BD

Mr � Mrs Peter & 
Catrin Macdonald

Redevelopment of the rear 
aspect of the property to 
square off the building line. 
Alteration of fenestration 
design and replacement flat 
roof.

20/03/202424/00152/CLPUD 13/02/2024 CLPUD Refuse Householder

10 Carisbrooke Way
Penylan
Cardiff
CF23 9HS

Mr Munayum 
Mustafa

Proposed non-material 
amendment to Planning 
Permission 23/02082/HSE to 
slightly increase the width of 
the approved single storey rear 
extension to bring the side wall 
up to the common boundary 
with No. 8 Carisbrooke Way.

13/03/202424/00065/NMA 12/01/2024 NMA Permission 
Granted

Non Material 
Householder

PLASNEWYDD

Crofts Street 
Warehouse Ltd
23A Crofts Street
Roath
Cardiff
CF24 3DZ

Mr K Harris Demolition of existing 
warehouse structures.

22/03/202424/00422/PRNO 26/02/2024 PRNO Prior 
Approval 
Required

Other Consent 
Types

The Royal George
1 - 5 Mackintosh Place
Roath
Cardiff
CF24 4RJ

Punch 
Partnerships 
(PML) Limited

Discharge of Conditions 3 
(Cycle Storage Details) and 4 
(Nesting Box Details) of 
22/01412/MNR

12/03/202423/02152/DOC 18/09/2023 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

114 Inverness Place
Roath
Cardiff
CF24 4SA

MR EMMANUAL 
OGBONNA

Rear dormer extension 11/03/202424/00424/CLEUD 29/02/2024 CLEUD Permission 
Granted

Householder



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

Kings Monkton School 
West Grove
Roath
Cardiff
CF24 3XL

Mr Paul Richard 
Norton

Retention of 2 single storey 
Portakabin buildings being used 
as classroom facilities for a 
further period of 260 weeks.

19/03/202423/02876/FUL 12/12/2023 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - Other 
Principal Uses

59 Albany Road
Roath
Cardiff
CF24 3LL

Mr Jonathon Hardy Installation of AC condensers. 06/03/202423/02869/FUL 07/02/2024 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - Retail 
(A1-A3)

12 Bedford Street
Roath
Cardiff
CF24 3BZ

James Keeping Property registered as a HMO 
with sufficient license since 
2016. Property and owner has 
maintained appropriate license 
to the present date.

20/03/202424/00633/CLEUD 15/03/2024 CLEUD Permission 
Granted

Other Consent 
Types

Land At Former Youth 
Hostel
2 Wedal Road
Roath
Cardiff
CF14 3QX

Mr Harvey Development of up to 5 Storey 
Building to Accommodate 23 
no. Affordable Apartments Plus 
Associated Works

28/03/202422/00820/MJR 22/04/2022 FUL Permission 
Granted

Major - 
Dwellings (C3)

3 Kincraig Street
Roath
Cardiff
CF24 3HW

Mr Sadi Elhaloul Conversion into four 
self-contained flats with single 
storey rear and side extensions 
and rear dormer extension 
along with external alterations.

25/03/202424/00154/FUL 23/01/2024 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - 
Dwellings (C3)

42 City Road
Roath
Cardiff
CF24 3DL

Mr Mohamed 
Rafiq

Second and third floor 
extensions to house creating 
four self-contained flats with 
external alterations.

21/03/202423/02961/FUL 03/01/2024 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - 
Dwellings (C3)

PONTPRENNAU AND OLD ST MELLONS



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

The Heathers 
Ty'r Winch Road
Old St Mellons
Cardiff
CF3 5UX

ASSAKAF Ground floor porch extension 
and second storey front and 
side extension and raise ridge 
of existing main house.

11/03/202423/02950/HSE 09/01/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

Land On Parkstone 
Avenue
Old St Mellons
Cardiff

Mr A Mohammad Proposed erection of 3 
garages

25/03/202423/02806/FUL 29/11/2023 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - 
Industry/Storag
e/Distribution

Phase 1
Land East Of Church 
Road And North And 
South Of
Bridge Road
Old St Mellons

Mr Morgan 
Williams

Proposed Non-Material 
Amendment to Planning 
Permission 14/02556/MJR - 
Revision to the location of the 
allotment plots and building

04/03/202423/01284/NMA 20/06/2023 NMA Permission 
Granted

Non Material 
Amendment

Land South Of Bridge 
Road 
St Mellons
Cardiff
CF3 6YJ

Mr R Mason Proposed Non-Material 
Amendment to Planning 
Permission 22/00608/MNR- 
Amendments to Conditions 12 
(Submission of a grassland 
habitat
management plan) and 15 
(submission of Habitat 
Management and Monitoring 
plan) to amend date for 
compliance to within 3 months 
of approval of this NMA.

05/03/202424/00184/NMA 26/01/2024 NMA Permission 
Granted

Non Material 
Amendment



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

Land On South Side Of 
Bridge Road 
Old St Mellons
Cardiff
CF3 6YJ

Mr R Mason Proposed Non-Material 
Amendment to Planning 
Permission 22/00192/MNR- 
Amendments to Conditions 13 
(Submission of a grassland 
habitat
management plan) and 16 
(submission of a Habitat 
Management and Monitoring 
Plan) to amend date for 
compliance to within 3 months 
of approval of this NMA.

05/03/202424/00183/NMA 26/01/2024 NMA Permission 
Granted

Non Material 
Amendment

Cardiff Gate Motorway 
Services Area 
Juction 30, M4
Cardiff 
CF23 8RA

NSS IV (Real 
Estate) LLP

Erection of coffee shop 
drive-thru facility, electric 
vehicle charging, alterations to 
car park, hard landscaping, 
soft landscaping and 
associated works.

22/03/202423/02784/FUL 28/11/2023 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - Retail 
(A1-A3)

Mercedes-benz Cardiff
Cardiff Gate Business 
Park
Mulberry Drive
Pontprennau
Cardiff
CF23 8RX

Mr J Philips Installation of a new entrance 
lobby for sub-showroom.

21/03/202424/00108/FUL 17/01/2024 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - Other 
Principal Uses

Plot 8
Cardiff Gate Business 
Park
Malthouse Avenue
Pontprennau
Cardiff

James Player Discharge of Condition 3 
(Construction Environmental 
Management Plan) of 
21/01699/MJR

05/03/202423/01469/DOC 27/06/2023 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

RADYR AND MORGANSTOWN



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

Land Between The 
Lower Barn, Radyr 
Farm,
Radyr (CF15 8EL) And 
Llantarnam Drive 
Radyr.

Mr Ian Parfitt Change of Use of part of 
existing land between 3-5 and 
7-11 Llantarnam Drive to 
residential curtilage of The 
Lower Barn.

21/03/202423/01541/FUL 06/07/2023 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - Other 
Principal Uses

2 Woodfield Avenue
Radyr
Cardiff
CF15 8EF

MR TREFOR 
COLES

Proposed demolition of existing 
garage and outbuilding and 
erection of new build garage 
with home office over

15/03/202423/00796/HSE 11/04/2023 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

3 Windsor Grove
Radyr
Cardiff
CF15 8DA

Mr & Mrs James 
Armstrong

Single storey side extension. 20/03/202424/00212/HSE 30/01/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

Pavement O/S 
Carpark Radyr Station 
Overflow,
De Clare Drive
Radyr
Cardiff
CF15 8EJ

Alan Osborne Proposed Streetworks 
telecommunications installation. 
The proposal is the installation 
of a 20m M-Range V2 pole 
with 6nos antennas, 1no 
300mm transmission dish, 3nos 
equipment cabinets, 1no meter 
cabinet and ancillary 
development.

18/03/202424/00073/PRAP 24/01/2024 PRAP Requires 
Prior 
Approval

Other Consent 
Types

12 Clos Y Gwyddfid
Morganstown
Cardiff
CF15 8EX

Mr Tom Dale Loft and rear extension 21/03/202423/02960/HSE 19/12/2023 HSE Refuse Householder

3 Bryn Rhosyn
Radyr
Cardiff
CF15 8RN

Mr Kristiasn 
McCallum

Double story rear extension 
over existing ground floor 
footprint, with internal changes 
and garage converison into 
utility and gym room.

13/03/202423/01719/HSE 27/07/2023 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

3 Burges Close
Radyr
Cardiff
CF15 8GP

Mr Gokulchandran Convert Existing Garage to 
Living Accommodation.

13/03/202424/00157/HSE 23/01/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

RHIWBINA

19 Coed Y Wenallt
Rhiwbina
Cardiff
CF14 6TN

Mr Peter Williams Holly, within hedgerow left 
boundary - Reduce to level with 
garage roof apex, following lay 
of the land slope up into rear 
garden and down in front 
towards road. Reduce back 
front face to a uniform hedge.

14/03/202424/00593/WTTPFP WTTPFP Application 
Type Not 
required

Other Consent 
Types

12 Maes-y-deri
Rhiwbina
Cardiff
CF14 6JJ

Mr & Mrs S 
Cornish

Single-storey rear extension 
with external alterations.

05/03/202424/00099/FUL 16/01/2024 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - 
Dwellings (C3)

12 Lon Isa
Rhiwbina
Cardiff
CF14 6ED

Mr C Kirwan Single-storey lean-to rear 
extension. New side window.

28/03/202423/02750/LBC 20/11/2023 LBC Permission 
Granted

Listed Buildings

12 Lon Isa
Rhiwbina
Cardiff
CF14 6ED

Mr C Kirwan Single-storey lean-to rear 
extension. New side window.

28/03/202423/02749/HSE 21/11/2023 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

44 Heol-y-coed
Rhiwbina
Cardiff
CF14 6HT

Mr Ben Puttnam Construction of Cabin in garden 
containing Annex, Office and 
Store.

22/03/202424/00258/HSE 05/02/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

Ty Mawr
145A Heol-y-coed
Rhiwbina
Cardiff
CF14 6HS

Mr Richard 
Whiston

145A Heol y Coed - Option B 
to remove one large limb from 
the oak tree growing in 
Greenhill School over the 
property boundary, as per the 
submitted images and 
description.

20/03/202424/00532/WTTPP 01/03/2024 WTTPP GRANT - 
Works to 
Trees

Other Consent 
Types

145A Heol-y-coed
Rhiwbina
Cardiff
CF14 6HS

Mr Richard 
Whiston

145A Heol y Coed - Option A to 
remove two large low limbs 
from an oak tree growing in 
Greenhill School over the 
property boundary, as per 
submitted images and 
description

20/03/202424/00531/WTTPP 01/03/2024 WTTPP GRANT - 
Works to 
Trees

Other Consent 
Types

63 Beulah Road
Rhiwbina
Cardiff
CF14 6LW

Mr Gavin Moore The scots pine tree was 
damaged in the recent storms 
(next to front drive). It lost one 
of the 2 main branches which 
we have cleared away. We 
have had a tree specialist 
review the tree and 
recommend that the remainder 
of the damanged branch is cut 
back and there is some pruning 
to the rest of the tree - this is 
our preferred option and the 
application. Alternatively, it has 
been suggested the tree could 
be removed as it has lost its 
shape.

19/03/202424/00447/WTTPP 26/02/2024 WTTPP GRANT - 
Works to 
Trees

Other Consent 
Types

129 Pen-y-dre
Rhiwbina
Cardiff
CF14 6EL

Mr Craig Williams Two storey side extension and 
loft conversion with rear 
dormer.

15/03/202423/03006/HSE 02/02/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

RIVERSIDE



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

Clare House
68 Tudor Street
Riverside
Cardiff

Chandrika Patel Retention of change of use of 
former ground floor hairdresser 
to form part of ground floor 
class A3 use.

15/03/202424/00344/FUL 19/02/2024 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - Retail 
(A1-A3)

217 - 219 Cowbridge 
Road East
Riverside
Cardiff
CF11 9AL

Mrs Sara 
Humphries

Two fascia signs and one 
projecting sign.

15/03/202424/00192/ADV 19/02/2024 ADV Permission 
Granted

Advertisements

St Hilary Lodge 
150 Cathedral Road
Pontcanna
Cardiff
CF11 9JB

Mr Hugo Souto 400306DOCDischarge of 
Condition 5 (Window Details) 
of 23/02137/FUL.

15/03/202424/00360/DOC 22/02/2024 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

Ground Floor Flat
3 Dogo Street
Pontcanna
Cardiff
CF11 9JJ

Miss Kimberley 
Swallow

Replacement of back patio 
doors to bifold doors, 
replacement of current front 
bay window to sash PVC bay 
window (white) and 
replacement of back bedroom 
window with sash PVC Centre 
Bar windows (white).

18/03/202424/00253/FUL 09/02/2024 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - 
Dwellings (C3)

102 Severn Grove
Riverside
Cardiff
CF11 9EQ

Ms Cordelia 
Hebblethwaite

Demolition of outbuilding at the 
rear, Single storey side infill 
extension, along with external 
alterations.

28/03/202424/00288/HSE 27/02/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

73 Severn Road
Pontcanna
Cardiff
CF11 9EA

Mr Tom Young Discharge of Condition 3 (Soft 
Landscaping Details) of 
23/00638/FUL

13/03/202424/00109/DOC 17/01/2024 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

97 Romilly Crescent 
And 106 Llandaff Road
Pontcanna
Cardiff
CF11 9NN

Mr Charles 
Williams

Discharge of Condition 8 
(Details of the Proposed 
Windows) of 22/00927/DCH.

22/03/202424/00262/DOC 05/02/2024 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

RUMNEY

239 Greenway Road
Rumney
Cardiff
CF3 3PL

Nick Forder 2 storey rear extension. 11/03/202423/01852/HSE 11/08/2023 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

18 Tyr-y-sarn Road
Rumney
Cardiff
CF3 3BD

Mr Adam Lynch Proposed Single Storey Rear 
Extension.

22/03/202424/00094/HSE 16/01/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

Unit 3
Lamby Way 
Workshops
Lamby Way
Trowbridge
Cardiff
CF3 2EQ

Mr Cetin Kiral Change of use to class A1 Pet 
Food Shop

25/03/202423/02617/FUL 20/11/2023 FUL Permission 
Granted

General 
Regulations

Former Eastern High 
School
Newport Road
Rumney
Cardiff
CF3 3XG
CF3 3LH

N/A Discharge of Condition 29 
(Means of Enclosure) of 
18/02519/MJR

05/03/202423/02856/DOC 12/12/2023 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions

SPLOTT

Celsa Steel Uk 
Rover Way
Splott
Cardiff
CF24 2RX

Installation of two new surface 
water drainage tanks and 
associated drainage 
infrastructure work.

05/03/202423/02906/FUL 13/12/2023 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - 
Industry/Storag
e/Distribution



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

Moorland Primary 
School 
Moorland Road
Splott
Cardiff
CF24 2LJ

Laura Sampford Demolition of derelict Boxing 
club building, including removal 
of all hardstanding areas, and 
low level stone wall and fencing 
to site frontage.
Incorporation of land within the 
curtilage of the School site as a 
grassed area with new 
enclosure to frontage.

26/03/202423/02824/FUL 05/12/2023 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - Other 
Principal Uses

TROWBRIDGE

14 Hazelwood Drive
Trowbridge
Cardiff
CF3 0BS

Mr Kristian 
Fouracre

Proposed Non-material 
Amendment to Planning 
Permission 22/00647/DCH- 
Side extension to be 
constructed with smaller 
footprint and lower ridge. 
Increase in size of front porch.

07/03/202423/02840/NMA 04/12/2023 NMA Permission 
Granted

Non Material 
Householder

The Former St Mellons 
Youth And Community 
Centre
Crickhowell Road
Trowbridge
Cardiff
CF3 0EF

Mr Neil Thomas Proposed development of 
external generator compound.

20/03/202424/00200/FUL 01/02/2024 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - Other 
Principal Uses

Former St Mellons 
Youth And Community 
Centre
Crickhowell Road
St Mellons
Cardiff
CF3 0EF

Mr Neil Thomas Re-discharge of condition 10 
(CEMP) and discharge of 
conditions 3 (Unforeseen 
Contamination), 12 (Bicycle 
Scooter Parking) and 15 
(Boundary Treatment) of 
19/03320/MJR

19/03/202423/02676/DOC 13/11/2023 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

89 Matthysens Way
Trowbridge
Cardiff
CF3 0PL

Mr Leighton 
Davies

Proposed Rear Single Storey 
Extension.

15/03/202424/00364/HSE 16/02/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

WHITCHURCH AND TONGWYNLAIS

69 Velindre Road
Whitchurch
Cardiff
CF14 2TF

Mr Paul Burnell Demolish Existing Shed & Erect 
New Shed /Playroom to rear of 
Garden.

04/03/202424/00034/HSE 05/02/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

29 Woodland Road
Whitchurch
Cardiff
CF14 2BU

Miss Stephanie 
Saunder

Single storey front and side 
extension and two storey rear 
extension

08/03/202423/01273/HSE 05/06/2023 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

3 Merthyr Road
Tongwynlais
Cardiff
CF15 7LF

Gaudet New single storey extension 
and associated external works 
and new cross over to create 
parking space.

08/03/202423/02707/HSE 23/11/2023 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

Six Gables Dental 
Practice
27A Penlline Road
Whitchurch
Cardiff
CF14 2AA

Mr Huw Bowen Demolish existing rear 
annexes. Proposed single 
storey rear extension and 
internal alterations.

08/03/202423/01826/FUL 03/08/2023 FUL Permission 
Granted

Minor - Other 
Principal Uses

Holiday Inn
Merthyr Road
Tongwynlais
Cardiff
CF15 7LD

Discharge of Condition 5 
(Highway Improvements) of 
22/02633/FUL.

11/03/202424/00118/DOC 18/01/2024 DOC Full 
Discharge of 
Condition

Discharge of 
Conditions



Date Valid: Applicant Type: Address: Proposal: Decision Date Decision: Statutory Class:Application No.

Six Gables Dental 
Practice
27A Penlline Road
Whitchurch
Cardiff
CF14 2AA

Mr Huw Bowen Demolish existing rear 
annexes. Proposed single 
storey rear extension and 
internal alterations.

11/03/202423/01827/LBC 03/08/2023 LBC Permission 
Granted

Listed Buildings

8 Franklen Road
Whitchurch
Cardiff
CF14 1HR

Ms Najla Roberts Proposed hip to gable loft 
conversion with rear facing 
dormer

25/03/202424/00311/HSE 26/02/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

Land To The North 
West Of Whitchurch 
Hospital Playing Fields
Cardiff

Proposed Non-Material 
Amendment to Planning 
Permission 22/02231/RES - 
addition of TCAR2 emergency 
access route (to the SE of the 
site), removal of the Hollybush 
bridge, updates to the position 
of the intake room, and 
lowering of the basement level 
by 300mm.

14/03/202424/00050/NMA 10/01/2024 NMA Permission 
Granted

Non Material 
Amendment

11 Heol-y-forlan
Whitchurch
Cardiff
CF14 1AX

Mrs Jo Allsopp Proposed hip to gable roof 
extension and rear dormer loft 
conversion.

22/03/202424/00617/CLPUD 14/03/2024 CLPUD Permission 
Granted

Other Consent 
Types

29 Alfreda Road
Whitchurch
Cardiff
CF14 2EH

Mr Tom Lloyd Rear dormer roof extension. 
Installing of conservation style 
roof windows.

25/03/202423/01065/HSE 16/05/2023 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder

13 Ffordd Morgannwg
Whitchurch
Cardiff
CF14 7JS

Mr Gethin Liddell Single storey rear extension. 13/03/202424/00087/HSE 05/02/2024 HSE Permission 
Granted

Householder


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5a 23/01174/FUL - Friary House, Greyfriars Road, Cathays, Cardiff, CF10 3AE
	6 Applications decided by Delegated Powers

